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ABOUT US
B8 X 3% 1

China Chengtong Development Group Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (together with the Company, collectively the
"Group”) are principally engaged in leasing, property development
and investment, and marine recreation services and hotel business.

Since 2020, the Group has clearly identified leasing as the
main direction of its future business development, continuously
optimised resource allocation, focused on its core leasing business
and promoted the Company to achieve high-quality development.

The Group’s leasing business is mainly carried out through its
wholly-owned subsidiary, Chengtong Financial Leasing Company
Limited (“Chengtong Financial Leasing”), which was established
in 2010. Adhering to the principles of “Service Strategies, Synergy
Optimisation, Strict Risk Management Control and Creating
Uniqueness”, Chengtong Financial Leasing has continued to
give full play to the functions of financial leasing in optimising
resources allocation and structural adjustment, increase efforts
in serving the real economy and corporate collaboration, thereby
continuously enhancing its influence in the industry and building
its brand image. Chengtong Financial Leasing always adheres to
professional leased assets management model and outstanding risk
management and control capabilities to provide customers with
a full range of finance lease services which focus on five major
sectors, namely energy conservation and environmental protection,
logistics and warehousing, infrastructure projects, leasing services
and traditional manufacturing.
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Since 2020, Chengtong Financial Leasing has gone through three
development stages, including “foundation establishment, risk
control and brand building”, “scale expansion, cost reduction
and efficiency improvement” and “growth stabilisation,
professionalisation and internationalisation”. It has now secured
a position at the medium level among state-owned leasing
companies with a registered capital of RMB2,000 million, marking a
new level of its scale of core capital. In 2023, Chengtong Financial
Leasing was accredited with long-term credit rating at AA+ by
Lianhe Credit Rating and was recognised as an "AAA Credit
Rating Enterprise of Beijing”, laying a solid foundation for rapid
improvement of its refinancing capabilities and better performance
of its financial service functions.

Looking forward, Chengtong Financial Leasing will insist on
returning to the origin of leasing, closely follow the guidance
of industry regulatory policies, strive to achieve characteristic
operations in the market segments, actively explore and invest in
innovative product portfolios and service models, and forge ahead
to realise the corporate vision of “building an industry-leading
finance leasing company with capital operation characteristics”.

The Company is ultimately controlled by the State-owned Assets
Supervision and Administration Commission of the State Council.
The Group will fully leverage its resource advantages to create
greater value for its shareholders.
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SIGNIFICANT MOMENTS OF iHE GROUP’S LEASING BUSINESS &)EVELOPMENT

AEEAEXRBRENEERZ

Increased professional staff

BMEXEAE
Expanded operation scale

BAKERE

Segment assets and turnover
reached HK$2.47 billion and
HK$146 million respectively
PHEEREEE RIEBK 247
BEakBE146B T

Attained the highest

level “Green Enterprise”
qualification (G-AAA)
MEBEEERIEELEIER
(G-AAA)

Awarded with “China Financial
Leasing Ranking - Company of
the Year”

KEFEREHEE -FEQT]
#8218

Segment assets and turnover
reached HK$9.11 billion and
HK$415 million respectively
PREEREXEORIEBEEI
BAREHIIET
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Before 2020

Early stage of development

BEANS

Business scale increased gradually

EBREBRHFRA

Issued asset-backed securities (“ABS")
in May of HK$1.79 billion (RMB1.49
billion) for the first time
SAERBITEEXHRS ([ABS])  #HiE
BEI7TIE T (ARME14.98 )

Increased registered capital of principal
operating company (Chengtong
Financial Leasing) to RMB2 billion
EMEFELKELR(HEMEHRE)ZM
BEEXAZARB20ET

Awarded with “China Financial Leasing
Ranking - Company of the Year”
REMMERMEEEE-FELRIRIE
Segment assets and turnover reached
HK$7.15 billion and HK$315 million
respectively
PEHEEREXEIRERBMSBIR
BUIIET

Had issued a total of 5 ABS with total size
of HK$8 billion (RMB6.97 billion)
HEBIT5RABS  BBREREBMSE T
(ARM69.7 )

Attained credit rating of AA+ from
China Lianhe Credit Rating Co., Ltd.
WMEHSERTEERAAAAEATR
Awarded with “China Financial Leasing
Ranking - Company of the Year”
KETEREHEE -FEARRE
Segment assets and turnover reached
HK$9.67 billion and HK$604 million
respectively
THEEREXEIFERBICTERR
BHE6.04E T



FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Zhang Bin (Chairman)

Gu Honglin (Managing Director)
Independent Non-Executive Directors

Chang Qing
Lee Man Chun, Tony
He Jia

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Lee Man Chun, Tony (Chairman)
Chang Qing
He Jia

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

He Jia (Chairman)
Lee Man Chun, Tony
Zhang Bin

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Chang Qing (Chairman)
Lee Man Chun, Tony
Zhang Bin

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE

COMMITTEE

Gu Honglin (Chairman)

He Jia

Chang Qing

COMPANY SECRETARY

Poon Tsz Kin

AUDITOR

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor
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PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited

Bank of Communications Company Limited

China Merchants Bank Company, Limited

Chong Hing Bank Limited

Fubon Bank (China) Company, Limited

Hang Seng Bank (China) Limited

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited
Postal Savings Bank of China Company Limited
Shanghai Pudong Development Bank Company Limited

REGISTERED OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF
BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Suite 6406, 64/F,
Central Plaza,

18 Harbour Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong
Tel: (852) 2160-1600
Fax: (852) 2160-1608

WEBSITE AND E-MAIL ADDRESS

Website: www.hk217.com
E-mail:  public@hk217.com

SHARE REGISTRAR & TRANSFER OFFICE

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17/F., Hopewell Centre,

183 Queen’s Road East,

Wanchai, Hong Kong

Tel: (852) 2862-8555

Fax: (852) 2865-0990
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EFT Y

On behalf of the board (“Board”) of directors (“Directors”) of the
Company, | hereby present to all shareholders the annual report of
the Company for the year ended 31 December 2023.

In 2023, amidst the complex and volatile internal and external
situations, the Group continued to focus on its core leasing
business, strictly prevented and controlled various risks,
continuously enhanced its core competitiveness, and thus achieved
a stable operation. During the year, the Group recorded a
consolidated revenue of approximately HK$740 million, reflecting
a decrease of 42% as compared to that of last year, which was
mainly due to the suspension of bulk commodity trade business
in early 2023, resulting in a reduction in this segment’s revenue
by approximately HK$748 million to approximately HK$13.64
million as compared to that of the corresponding period of last
year. At the same time, the segment revenue from leasing business
continued to grow steadily by approximately HK$189 million to
approximately HK$604 million, representing an increase of 46%
as compared to that of the corresponding period of last year. The
Group recorded profit before tax of approximately HK$122 million
during the year, representing a slight decrease of approximately
HK$0.73 million as compared to that of last year, of which: (1)
although the leasing business segment continued to grow, the
Group increased the expected credit loss provision for finance lease
receivables and loan receivables based on the prudence principle
from approximately HK$4.59 million of the corresponding period of
last year to approximately HK$48.60 million of the year, which in
turn brought a decrease in profit before tax of the leasing business
segment by approximately HK$21.12 million to approximately
HK$155 million as compared to that of the corresponding period
of last year; (2) benefited from the gradual recovery of the
tourism industry in Hainan, the operating performance of the
Group’s marine recreation services and hotel business segment has
improved, with loss decreased to approximately HK$3.73 million
when compared with approximately HK$25.36 million for the
corresponding period of last year; and (3) the total profit from the
other business segments in aggregate remained stable.

Currently, the Group is principally engaged in leasing, property

development and investment, and marine recreation services and
hotel business.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

Regarding the leasing business, despite the continuing challenges
posed by the macro-economy, the increasingly stringent regulation
of the industry and the intensifying competition in the industry,
the Group proactively responded to the impacts brought by various
unfavourable factors and increased its efforts to develop key areas,
making new progress in a number of key initiatives. Chengtong
Financial Leasing actively participated in business development
in key areas such as data centres and national railways, and
proactively explored cooperation opportunities in green energy
industries such as energy storage, new energy batteries, wind
power and photovoltaic power stations, etc. A total of 42 new
projects were signed throughout the year with lease principal
of approximately HK$4.4 billion, realising a segment result of
approximately HK$155 million. Segment assets amounted to
approximately HK$9,669 million, representing an increase of
approximately 6% as compared to that of the corresponding
period of last year. Finance lease receivables and loan receivables
amounted to approximately HK$8,868 million, representing
an increase of approximately 8% as compared to that of the
corresponding period of last year. In 2023, Chengtong Financial
Leasing was awarded the “China Financial Leasing Ranking -
Company of the Year” (FEmEMRERE - FE &) for the third
consecutive year. During the year, it was accredited with "AA+"
general corporate credit rating with stable outlook by Lianhe Credit
Rating, and was recognised as an “AAA Credit Rating Enterprise
of Beijing”, laying a solid foundation for the enhancement of
its self-financing ability. During the year, the issuance of Phase
Il and Phase Ill shelf ABS were completed with an aggregate
issuance size of approximately RMB2,591 million. Meanwhile,
Chengtong Financial Leasing has been granted with over RMB13
billion of credit facilities from major banks, which better assured
the funding supply for its business operation. It participated as a
drafting unit in the preparation of the “Environmental, Social and
Governance (“ESG") Reporting Guideline for Financial Leasing
Enterprises”, China's first ESG standard for the financial leasing
industry, demonstrating its commitment to fulfill corporate social
responsibility and to promote the development of a green and
low-carbon industry. It also accelerated its digital transformation
and initiated the second phase of the upgrading of its business
information system in order to promote the continuous upgrading
of the digitalisation of its leasing business information.

For property development and investment, all the construction and
settlement works of the CCT-Champs-Elysees project have been
completed. Under the overall downtrend of the real estate market,
the Company dynamically optimised its sales strategy and exceeded
its sales target.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EFT Y

In respect of the marine recreation services and hotel business,
the Group seized the opportunity of the revitalised tourism market
environment to deepen its operations and achieved a significant
improvement in full-year efficiency.

In respect of the bulk commodity trade business, in view of the
increasingly complex international environment, the Group has
suspended its operation of bulk commodity trade business based
on the premise of prudent operation and optimised resource
allocation to focus on its principal business of financial leasing.

Looking forward to 2024, China’s economy will move forward
steadily in terms of quality and quantity. The Group will seize
the opportunity to further leverage the resource advantages of
its controlling shareholder to strengthen, optimise and expand
its core leasing business, continue to improve its professionalism,
and increase its effort in the exit from other businesses. At the
same time, the Group will continue to enhance risk prevention and
its value creation capability, so as to create greater value for its
shareholders.

At last, on behalf of the Board, | would like to express my sincere
gratitude to all shareholders, business partners and communities
for their continuous support and concern about the Group. | would
also like to thank the management and all employees of the Group
for their hard work during the year.

Zhang Bin
Chairman

Hong Kong, 8 March 2024
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The Group is principally engaged in leasing, property
development and investment, and marine recreation services
and hotel business. During the year ended 31 December 2023
("FY2023"), the Group had suspended the bulk commodity
trade business to realign the Group’s strategic direction as
well as to optimise the business portfolio, which enable
the Group to better focus on its core business and enhance
profitability and stability.

In 2023, the global economic landscape exhibited a complex
and dynamic environment. Notwithstanding the economy
in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC") continued to
recover from the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic with an
improving trend, there was a slowdown in overall economic
growth. The Group capitalised the market condition and
directed its attention towards the further development and
expansion of its core leasing business in the PRC. The Group
made consistent efforts to strengthen this business segment,
resulting in a notable annual growth in its leasing revenue.
This growth reflects the successful implementation of our
strategies and the increasing demand for our leasing services
in the PRC market.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEE R WD T

Group Performance

The consolidated revenue for FY2023 was approximately
HK$740.01 million, reflecting a decrease of 42% as compared
to that for the year ended 31 December 2022 (“FY2022").
The decline was mainly due to the suspension of bulk
commodity trade business in early 2023 which resulted in a
significant reduction in this segment’s revenue by 98%. The
details of the segmental revenue were provided below:

EEES

RIZE_=FE HRALEBENRES
714,001 B BREBEE_T ==
+_ A=+ RALFE([ZE=Z
El)RL4A2% - BAIMEBZEREZE R
FERESEBR _E_=F0EE"
BYZOENRE KB AD98% o
RS FBE T

Increase/
2023 2022 (decrease)
# i,
—E-=fF —T—-— ORA)
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Leasing HE 604,020 414,578 46%
Property development and MEBRRIIRE
investment 86,819 87,050 (0.3%)
Marine recreation services g IR 9 AR 7 AN I
and hotel 35,531 14,017 153%
Bulk commodity trade AREmES 13,641 761,745 (98%)
Total st 740,011 1,277,390 (42%)

Percentage of revenue by business segment

5% ]|

11%

2%

82%

B EEBETHERER L

® Leasing Property development Marine recreation @ Bulk commodity trade
me and investment services and hotel A= 2B 5
MR NRE 8 iR BRAS FE R
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

In FY2023, the Group continued its impressive expansion in
the leasing business and had led to a remarkable increase in
the segment revenue from both finance lease and operating
lease, which represented an overall increase of 46% as
compared to the previous year. The total leasing revenue
for FY2023 accounted for 82% of the Group’s total revenue
(FY2022: 32%).

As a result of the Group's further shifting of its business
focus to leasing, the contribution of the total revenue from
other business segments to the total revenue dropped to
18%. During FY2023, the revenue from bulk commodity
trade dropped significantly; the property market in the
PRC remained sluggish but the segment’s revenue was
relatively stable as compared to that of last year; the
marine recreation services and hotel business demonstrated
improved performance and a recovery from the impacts of the
COVID-19 pandemic.

In FY2023, the Group achieved a consolidated gross profit
of around HK$296.74 million, marking a significant growth
of approximately HK$44.39 million or 18% compared to
approximately HK$252.35 million in FY2022. Furthermore, the
Group recorded a consolidated profit before income tax of
approximately HK$121.50 million during the year, reflecting a
slight decrease of approximately HK$0.73 million or 1% from
the previous year's figure of around HK$122.23 million. The
changes were primarily the combined result of the following
factors:

(i) arise in consolidated gross profit was primarily stemmed
from the augmented leasing revenue, which exhibited a
higher gross profit margin and contribution;

EEER WA

RZEBZ=FEF AEEEERNE
REEXEB SREREHERLEE
HEM BRI SEELER B
E—FEEEE NN T _=F
EHHEER=BHEMHAERL K=
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEFWED

14

(i) an increase in net impairment losses under expected
credit loss model of about HK$43.98 million mainly
in relation to finance lease receivables and loan
receivables (collectively “Leasing Receivables”) of
leasing business (please refer to the analysis in respect
of the leasing business in the “Business Review"” section
below), which was partially offset by (a) a decrease in
staff salaries and benefits of approximately HK$7.49
million and other expenses of approximately HK$2.11
million under the administrative expenses by virtue
of streamlined operations in Hong Kong and Beijing
offices; and (b) a favourable change of exchange loss by
approximately HK$5.21 million compared to the previous
year, specifically, the exchange loss was approximately
HK$2.37 million in FY2023 and approximately HK$7.58
million in FY2022 as depreciation of Renminbi (“RMB")
against Hong Kong dollars (“HKD") was relatively
moderate in FY2023;

(iii) an increase in finance costs of approximately HK$15.52
million, which was mainly driven by the increase in
interest expenses on bank borrowings due to the
escalated interest rates in Hong Kong; and

(iv) a decrease in the fair value loss on investment properties
in the PRC by approximately HK$1.70 million.

The Directors have resolved to recommend the payment of a
final dividend of HKO0.34 cent per ordinary share in respect
of FY2023 to the shareholders whose names appear on the
register of members of the Company on Friday, 5 July 2024,
subject to the approval of the shareholders on the declaration
of final dividend at the forthcoming annual general meeting
("AGM") of the Company. The final dividend is expected to
be paid on Friday, 19 July 2024.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW
A. Segmental Performance

The Group suspended its bulk commodity trade business in
early 2023 and mainly focused on three business segments,
namely, leasing, property development and investment,
marine recreation services and hotel during FY2023. The
breakdown of revenue and results from each segment was
detailed as follows:

EEER WA

. KO

A DHEXE

AEEBER-_Z_=F¥EEFERF
AmEBESER YR _T_=FFF
EEIR="ESREB(NEE Y
FERMKREARE LIRERBME
JE) BN BRMR REFBENAMBFTIW
T

(1) Leasing (1 HE

Increase/
2023 2022 (decrease)
#hn,
—E-=f =T CRLA)

HK$'000 HK$000

BT T BT T
Interest income FLEMA 446,461 327,793 36%
Rental income HE WA 128,494 32,022 301%
Consultancy service fee BHREE A 29,065 54,763 (47 %)
Segment revenue 2R 604,020 414,578 46%
Cost of sales 5 B AN (362,935) (200,565) 81%
Gross profit E A 241,085 214,013 13%

Gross profit margin E M E 40% 52%
Segment results pak 155,192 176,315 (12%)

During the year, the Group had been proactive in seizing
market opportunities and continued to expand and optimise
its leasing project portfolio. The Group’s leasing business
was mainly carried out through its wholly-owned subsidiary,
Chengtong Financial Leasing as its principal business.

Chengtong Financial Leasing continuously sought to expand
its leasing business in specific areas, including energy
conservation, environmental protection, logistics and
warehousing, clean energy and infrastructure etc. It looked
for potential leasing opportunities in different business
sectors and cities to meet market demand and expand its
market share. It carefully studied market trends and identified
projects with the greatest potential with a view to enhancing
the existing profile and increasing capital efficiency and
returns.

AEE A RERERETSHE T
BRERECABE AR A%
BNEEEHEIEABARANEL
AMARARE FAEX SRS
GE

HEREHETHSKNAERRK
MRER BRERLEEZEFER
BRBEREXRRK ERTREHKER
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During the year, Chengtong Financial Leasing had
increased 42 new leasing projects with lease principal of
approximately HK$4.39 billion to its portfolio, in which
Chengtong Financial Leasing collaborated mostly with
other state-owned enterprises ("SOE”). In terms of industry
segmentation, the new projects mainly relate as to: (i)
48% to infrastructure projects; (ii) 18% to the logistics
and warehousing industry; (iii) 16% to the field of energy
conservation and environmental protection; and (iv) 8% to
traditional manufacturing industry. As at 31 December 2023,
Chengtong Financial Leasing recorded an increase in its net
Leasing Receivables to approximately HK$8,867.76 million,
and represented an increase of 8% compared to that of the
previous year.

Revenue

The interest income from leasing segment was approximately
HK$446.46 million during FY2023, indicating a year-on-
year increase of 36%. The interest income was derived from
various sectors as outlined below:

FR - BEREEENKREHADH
BORERFHEEEE HEASHAED
¥A43189,0008 L  E R AL E B
BREHERAEMEAECE([BED
¥|)AE-RITEHELME FHEEBE
2N (i) 48% BEEIER : (i) 18%
BYR R EFKITE (i) 16% B 88
RIREE Mv) 8% BEHREEE -R
TE-ZF+-A=+—H #HBER
EHEMHERINGIEFERSIER
EE A B L8IEG, 7768 T B F—F
EHEMN8% o

Wy
R-ZTZE-=FE HEI>HENHEW
AR =B 4184,6468 7T - 1R F 1L N
36% ° K B TRTT R A FLB WA Bt
LN

Increase/
2023 2022 (decrease)
#hn,
—E=-= —E- = R

HK$°000 HK$'000

BT T BT T
Infrastructure By 139,931 60,452 131%
Logistics and warehousing Vi & B 98,863 73,716 34%

Energy conservation and £ B S IR IR

environmental protection 84,092 101,908 (17%)
Manufacturing B 72,458 35,848 102%
Clean energy BB BEIR 21,443 32,589 (34%)
Internet data centre BB EEE L 1,366 6,085 (78%)
Others Hh 28,308 17,195 65%
Total EaEt 446,461 327,793 36%

In 2023, China experienced a steady recovery in economic
growth after the COVID-19 pandemic. Chengtong Financial
Leasing capitalised the increased demand for financing and
investment opportunities across various industries. Notably,
the infrastructure and manufacturing sectors witnessed a
remarkable surge in leasing revenue, with growth exceeding
100%.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEER WA

The overall interest yield was as follows: BEMBWEENAT
Increase/
2023 2022 (decrease)
i,/
—E=-= —F-= R
HK$000 HK$°000
BT T BT T
Interest income FLEM A 446,461 327,793 36%
Average Leasing T E e
Receivables balance* UG ShIE 4 o 9,011,237 6,588,790 37%
Yield U 2 & 4.95% 4.98% (0.03%)

* Being the average of 12 months’ balances of net Leasing Receivables

In FY2023, Chengtong Financial Leasing experienced a growth
in its interest income from the leasing business, which was in
line with the expansion of its business scale. The majority of
the Group’s interest income from leasing services was based
on variable interest rate which benchmarked to the loan
prime rates as promulgated by the National Interbank Funding
Center under the PRC (the "“LPR") while the remaining
portion was based on fixed interest rate. During the year, the
applicable one-year LPR and five-year LPR were reduced by
10-20 basis points. As a consequence, the Group observed a
slight decrease in the overall interest yield from the Leasing
Receivables.

The Group diversified its leasing business into operating
lease which helped spreading the risk and reliance on the
finance lease market. Operating lease provides flexibility
and resilience, ensuring the Group’s leasing business
remains responsive and competitive in a dynamic business
environment. During FY2023, the rental income from
operating lease increased by three-fold from that of last year,
which was attributable to the expansion of the business scale
and the Group's ability to capitalise the market demand.

* B121E A 1B JE W5 B F R AR AR F A (B
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The Group provided a diverse range of advisory services to
our customers encompassing management and business
consulting. In FY2023, Chengtong Financial Leasing attained
fewer new consultancy service projects in the second half of
the year and the consultancy service fee income exhibited
a drop of 47% from that of last year to approximately
HK$29.07 million. The primary reason for this decline was
that the Group entered into new leasing projects mostly with
SOE during the year to improve the quality of the Leasing
Receivables so as to reduce credit risk. However, some of
those SOE did not engage the Group for consultancy service
and therefore resulted in a drop in consultancy service fee.

Cost of sales

The following table shows the breakdown of the cost of sales
by its components:

AEEARFREZ TICNEARS
PIEEERBEDTA- RZE_=F
E-HBEMmERERTEFESOH
BHABRBEERD FHAREERA
BEF N ELT% ZHEEE2,9078 T °
THENEERARAEERFARNETE
HEECETVHHEEEE WS
HERKFEMNER KEMBERERESE
Eke R HOoZERBLETES
EAEEREHEZARSE B EHE
HRIEE T

HERA
TR R AR D 8D 88K
ABM

Increase/
2023 2022 (decrease)
% hn,/
—EB-o=&E —T-—f CR )

HK$'000 HK$'000

EBEF T BT T
Interest expenses FERX 257,493 155,771 65%
Depreciation of leased assets HEEENE 89,271 20,645 332%
Guarantee fees ERE 5,258 19,664 (73%)
Others EHh 10,913 4,485 143%
Total st 362,935 200,565 81%

The cost of sales for the leasing segment in FY2023
amounted to approximately HK$362.94 million, representing
a substantial increase of approximately HK$162.37 million or
81% compared to that of the previous year. This significant
rise was primarily driven by the expansion of business
operations and an overall increase in the financing scale,
leading to higher interest expenses and depreciation charges
and was partly compensated by the decrease in guarantee
fees.

The Group financed its leasing operation mainly through
short-term and medium-term bank borrowings and issuance
of ABS. The interest expenses increased year-on-year by 65%
to reach approximately HK$257.49 million which was chiefly
driven by the increase in average total borrowings which was
in line with the Group’s expansion scale in leasing business.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

As of 31 December 2023, Chengtong Financial Leasing
had launched a total of five ABS schemes with outstanding
amount of approximately HK$3,006.22 million (as at 31
December 2022: approximately HK$2,702.27 million) of
which the respective priority tranches are listed and traded
on the Shanghai Stock Exchange. The repayments of matured
ABS by Chengtong Financial Leasing have been timely. The
total outstanding bank loans of Chengtong Financial Leasing
as at 31 December 2023 were approximately HK$3,247.90
million (as at 31 December 2022: approximately HK$2,661.76
million). Despite the total interest expenses and average total
borrowings balance increased in FY2023, the effective annual
borrowing rate for the leasing segment decreased as the LPR
was adjusted downward during the year. An analysis is set out
as follows:

EEER WA

HE_Z-_=F+=-_A=+—H '#
AREHECHRHEN I BEEYRFE
AatE REESBH A BEIE622
EBT(RZE-__F+=-A=+—8:
W E 27182278 ) - EREBE L
BAMAINELER LESELARS L
MEkEE-HEMEHRE MR ERE
BIHNEAEIREF HAmER
ERZZEZ=F+=ZA=+—HHK
BEERTERBELN A B32184,790
ET(RZTE-__F+=A=+—80:
D BE26186,1768 L) EBE - F
TEFEEMANERAYABERTELHEE
MEBEREEN EARERRE
FMERFARATH BEIPENERF
BEFEBR TR STHHIAT

Increase/
2023 2022 (decrease)
#hn,
—ED=ZF T R 4)
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Interest expenses MER X 257,493 155,771 65%
Average total borrowings FHEERGEEG
balance* 7,147,546 4,106,223 74%
Effective annual borrowing rate BERFEENX (0.19%)

* Being the average of 12 months’ aggregate balances of bank loans,
ABS and other loans

Guarantee fees were paid to the Company’'s ultimate
holding company, China Chengtong Holdings Group
Limited ("CCHG"), which undertakes the obligation to pay
the shortfall if the funds of the relevant ABS schemes and
Chengtong Financial Leasing are insufficient to settle the
principal and other payable amounts for certain priority
tranches in the relevant ABS schemes. The guarantee fees
were calculated at a rate based on the outstanding balances
of the guaranteed ABS. During FY2023, the guarantee
fees expense recorded a decrease due to a reduction in the
guarantee fees rate.

The depreciation charge of leased assets increased
significantly as Chengtong Financial Leasing acquired more
leased assets for operating lease services.

3.60% 3.79%

* BM2ERRITEN BEXHESREM
E LY A e 4B I B9 F 19 (H

EREDNIXNTARBANKRKIERR
ArEBERERAERAR ([HB
2R WEBEEXRKESTER
HEREHENES T EAXHER
BEXRESAETETEEBAM
IR & 88 N H o A 5RIE - SRR
BRAEEEAXNER -ERENE
ENRBEEREEXHEFNOKRE
BEBAE —T_=FF BRER
ERRE EREFABEERD -

HRHEARERENBEELSHERE
ARNKEHERYE HEEENTE
EMAKIREIBM -

2023 Annual Report FEH & 19



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEFWED

20

Expenses

The administrative expenses of leasing segment increased
by approximately HK$45.13 million which was mainly due
to the additional expected credit loss (“ECL") provision of
HK$48.60 million during the year. In addition, the finance
costs increased by approximately HK$1.48 million which
comprised full-year interest expenses for a working capital
loan borrowed in December 2022.

Segment Results

The segment results in leasing business for the year were
therefore reduced by approximately HK$21.13 million or 12%
to approximately HK$155.19 million (FY2022: approximately
HK$176.32 million).

Leasing Receivables

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had approximately
HK$8,867.76 million of net Leasing Receivables, which were
moderately enlarged by 8% from that as at 31 December
2022 (as at 31 December 2022: approximately HK$8,217.57
million), and represented 84% of the total assets as at 31
December 2023 (as at 31 December 2022: 82%).

The Group's Leasing Receivables as at 31 December 2023
were classified into 5 categories according to customers’
repayment abilities, up-to-date repayment history, profitability
and carrying values of the underlying leasing projects, relevant
security and enforcement measures against customers,
with Category | being the lowest risk and Category V being
the highest risk. Specific ECL provision was made for each
category.

(Expressed in HK$'000)
(LAB®EF o)
31 December 2023

EH
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MAERERETLREEFMESR
hoEFERLE HBEEERA E’J

Mg h REEEE #HEHEFPHEBE
AREFATRHESALER -8
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FNE

31 December 2022

—®-=F+=A=1-A

—E--f+=-fA=+—H

Gross Gross

Leasing Provision for  Net Leasing Leasing  Provision for Net Leasing
Category Receivables ECL  Receivables Receivables ECL Receivables

HEER BHREE HEER HERER HHEE HEREWR
5l NEAH BREEMHE HEFHE TIBRE BiEAk RIBFE
. Performing L E® 8,418,034 2,589 8,415,445 8,163,655 2,829 8,160,826
IIl. - Special Mention I Bx 442,885 16,909 425,976 - - -
IIl. Sub-standard . & - - - 70,422 13,674 56,748
IV. Doubtful V. A& 53,236 26,895 26,341 - - -
V. Loss V. BX 18,277 18,277 - - - -
Total 83 8,932,432 64,670 8,867,762 8,234,077 16,503 8,217,574
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Group had identified a few customers during the year
which had overdue balances and whose business operations
were severely impacted by the COVID-19. In view of the
respective industry conditions and prospects where the
customers were operating in, as well as their payment history
and the amounts of collaterals, the Group prudently adjusted
the relevant Leasing Receivables to “Special Mention”,
“Doubtful” or “Loss” categories, as the case maybe, and
the relevant impairment provision totalled to approximately
HK$62.08 million. As a result, the ECL provision rate (as
calculated by dividing provision for ECL by the gross Leasing
Receivables) increased to 0.72% in FY2023 from 0.20% in
FY2022.

The Group has implemented rigorous risk management
policies to monitor Leasing Receivables at every stage of the
business cycle, so as to ensure that the Group has robust and
prudent standards for credit risk taking, management and
monitoring for all Leasing Receivables.

Most of our customers were SOE and the non-performing
exposures were comparably low. These customers made
regular timely repayment for the matured Leasing Receivables
during the year.

(2) Property Development and Investment

EEER WA
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ERRENEERRAE 8 NE
TARRERLRBENGEE-

BPOKRZBEPREALE TE

MHEREHBRE-ZEEPNFR
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2) NEBREREERE

Increase/
2023 2022 (decrease)
1)
ZB-=ZF —T_-—F CR4)
HK$'000 HK$°000
B FT BT T
Property sales MEHE 84,067 84,262 (0.2%)
Rental income e U A 2,752 2,788 (1%)
Segment revenue ol & 86,819 87,050 (0.3%)
Cost of sales 5 6 B A (51,689) (57,970) (11%)
Gross profit E A 35,130 29,080 21%
Gross profit margin EFIE 40% 33%
Segment results DEER 26,742 24,060 1%
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The Group derived its revenue from this segment by means
of property sales and rental income. The property sales were
entirely derived from its wholly-owned CCT-Champs-Elysees
project while the rental income was generated from the
leasing of the commercial properties of the CCT-Champs-
Elysees project and certain office premises of the Group.

The CCT-Champs-Elysees project is wholly owned by the
Group, and is located in the Zhucheng City of Shandong
Province of the PRC. The project had a total site area of
approximately 146,006 square metres and was developed in
three phases. All the construction works had been completed
and the relevant sales permit for the final phase was granted
in FY2023.

In 2023, the property market in the PRC continued to remain
stagnant. The Group’'s revenue from property sales during
the year was wholly derived from the sale of the residential
units in Phase Ill of the CCT-Champs-Elysees project, and
the revenue was about the same as that of last year. The
average selling price per square metre of the residential area
for FY2023 was almost levelled at approximately RMB5,387
(FY2022: approximately RMB5,416). As at 31 December 2023,
the unsold area of the project under properties held for sale
included residential area of approximately 53,161 square
metres (as at 31 December 2022: approximately 12,421
square metres) and commercial space of approximately 926
square metres (as at 31 December 2022: approximately 926
square metres). Looking forward to 2024, the Group will
continue to actively pursue the sale of the remaining area of
the project.

In FY2023, the Group received stable rental income from
properties leasing. The rental income generated from the
leasing of the commercial properties of the CCT-Champs-
Elysees project and certain office premises of the Group
was approximately HK$0.33 million (FY2022: approximately
HK$0.37 million) and approximately HK$2.42 million (FY2022:
approximately HK$2.42 million) respectively.

The segmental gross profit margin for FY2023 improved
chiefly due to certain cost adjustment upon the completion
acceptance of the CCT-Champs-Elysees project which reduced
the construction cost per square metre.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The segment’s selling expenses increased by approximately
HK$1.35 million to approximately HK$4.51 million (FY2022:
approximately HK$3.16 million) for marketing and promotion
purposes. No significant change in the administrative
expenses was noted for FY2023. The overall segmental results
for FY2023 was recorded at approximately HK$26.74 million,
and represented an increase of 11% from that of FY2022.

EEER WA

DIEHEEBEREMAEBI3BITED
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(3) Marine Recreation Services and Hotel

(3) B\BLERERBEIEE

Increase/
2023 2022 (decrease)
#hn,
—E=-= —T-= 2
HK$’000 HK$°000
BT T BT T
Marine recreation services 8 E ik s R 7 27,183 9,300 192%
Hotel operation o JE 27 7,448 4,047 84%
Travelling agency business RITHEEHS 900 670 34%
Segment revenue ol & 35,531 14,017 153%
Cost of sales 5 & B AR (15,208) (13,665) 1%
Gross profit EH 20,323 352 5,674%
Gross profit margin EFIE
— marine recreation services — R R 59% (15%)
— hotel operation VY 53% 33%
— Travelling agency business —IRTT i E 46 % 62%
Segment results DEEE (3,732) (25,356) (85%)

The Group operated its marine recreation services and hotel
business in Hainan Province, the PRC, which was mainly
consisted of: (i) marine recreation services; (ii) hotel operation;
and (iii) travelling agency business. According to the PRC
government'’s statistic, the number of visitors traveled to
the Hainan Province in 2023 was more than 90 million and
represented an increase of 50% from that in previous year.
The influx of visitors had benefited the segment operation. In
2023, the segment experienced upsurge in its total revenue
post COVID-19 pandemic, and the segment results had
steadily improved. During the year, the segment’s total selling
and administrative expenses did not experience significant
change.
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The segment recorded a loss of approximately HK$3.73
million for FY2023, which decreased by 85% from that in
the previous year (FY2022: loss of approximately HK$25.36
million) and was mainly attributed to the better sale
performance in marine recreation services.

(4) Bulk Commodity Trade

RZEZ=FE ZoAHBEEY
BEIIBE L R E—FERP85%

TEZFE BEHNAEK25368
L) EBRARE LIRERIEHHEE
KB Eo

(4) RREmEZ

2023 2022 (Decrease)
—E—-= —F=-= CRLA)
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Segment revenue DRl 13,641 761,745 (98%)
Cost of sales R D% (13,443) (752,844) (98%)
Gross profit E5 198 8,901 (98%)
Gross profit margin EME 1.5% 1.2%
Segment results DHEES (77 %)

The Group made a strategic decision to suspend the bulk
commodity trading business in early 2023 due to its inherent
risk and low-margin characteristics, resulted in a decrease in
the segment revenue by approximately HK$748.10 million.
The gross profit margin for FY2023 was 1.5% which was
similar to that in FY2022. As a result of the suspension, the
operating expenses decreased by approximately HK$5.80
million. The trade receivables were fully settled during the
year and placed as deposits in banks to generate interest
income.

Bulk commodity trade involves significant market volatility
and price risks. Prices can be influenced by global economic
conditions, supply and demand dynamics and natural
disasters. This unpredictability and variability can lead to
potential risks and uncertainties, making the management
of such business challenging. Therefore, having conducted a
comprehensive evaluation and risk-reward analysis of the bulk
commodity trading business, the Group decided to suspend
this business and to reallocate its resources and efforts to the
leasing business.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B. Other Income and Gains, net

EEER WA

B. HMWARWKZFEE

Increase/
2023 2022 (decrease)
#hn,
—=E=-= —ZT=-= OB )
HK$000 HK$°000
BT T BT T
Interest income A 2 WA 18,628 16,702 12%
Government subsidies IS 78 B 442 989 (55%)
Gain on disposal of investment HEREMEZ W
properties 255 1,786 (86%)
Others Hh 2,956 5,352 (45%)
Total s

In 2023, the Group’'s other income mainly consisted of
interest income from deposits and other financial assets and
from loans to related parties of approximately HK$18.63
million (FY2022: approximately HK$16.70 million) the increase
of which was offset by the reduction of gain on disposal
of investment properties of approximately HK$1.53 million
and the reduction of value added tax and other tax credit of
approximately HK$2.75 million in relation to the purchase
of the operating leased assets, resulting in a decrease in the
total other income of approximately HK$2.55 million for the
year.

C. Selling and Administrative Expenses

22,281 24,829 (10%)

RZZEZ=F AEEHEMKAE
ZEEREGTAEEMESREEAR
RERTFTHEEBTEROFBEWALE
1863B T (T - —FE 8K
1,670870)  EMIERHEREME
ZWRRDLBEIS3BE T UREAES
KETHEEAEEE AR KEMT
BRI > # B 2758 TATIK Y - &
BE N E A IR A R D 4B #2558
5T o

C HERTHEHR
2023 2022 (Decrease)

—E-= - (R A)

HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT T

Selling expenses HEEH

Administrative expenses THEA

12,112 12,528 (3%)
101,202 116,013 (13%)
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For FY2023, selling expenses decreased by 3% to
approximately HK$12.11 million (FY2022: approximately
HK$12.53 million). As the Group actively pursued the sale of
the CCT-Champs-Elysees project, agency commission expenses
and marketing expenses for the property development and
investment segment increased by approximately HK$0.24
million and approximately HK$1.20 million respectively.
The increase was offset by the decrease of selling expenses
in other segments. As the Group had suspended the bulk
commodity trade business in early 2023, the selling expenses
dropped by approximately HK$0.53 million in FY2023; and for
the marine recreation services and hotel business segment,
the selling expenses also declined by approximately HK$1.24
million due to streamlined operations in FY2023.

The administrative expenses decreased by approximately
HK$14.81 million or 13% year-on-year to approximately
HK$101.20 million (FY2022: approximately HK$116.01
million), which was mainly due to the reduction in staff
salaries and benefits by approximately HK$7.49 million and
other administrative expenses by approximately HK$2.11
million, as well as a favourable change in exchange loss
by approximately HK$5.21 million during the year due to
streamlined operations and relatively stable RMB to HKD
exchange rate respectively.

D. Finance Costs

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEFWED
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D. BEHKAK

Increase/
2023 2022 (decrease)
#hn,
—E=-= T CR )
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT BT T
Total interest expenses BT A 288,570 173,128 67%
Less: e
Amounts included in the FFAEERA 2
cost of sales &5 (257,493) (155,771) 65%
Amounts capitalised on properties 2R R 7 B {E
under development BRIz &F - (1,796) (100%)
31,077 15,561 100%
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The total interest expenses for FY2023 reached approximately
HK$288.57 million (FY2022: approximately HK$173.13
million), indicating a substantial year-on-year increase of 67%.
This notable surge was principally attributed to the continuous
growth of the leasing business which was largely financed by
external financing, thereby leading to the increased interest
expenses.

In FY2023, the total interest expenses primarily consisted of
interest on bank borrowings of approximately HK$158.80
million (FY2022: approximately HK$75.42 million), interest
on ABS of approximately HK$120.12 million (FY2022:
approximately HK$89.72 million), and interest on loans
from related parties of approximately HK$9.39 million
(FY2022: approximately HK$7.77 million). After deducting
the finance costs of approximately HK$257.49 million
(FY2022: approximately HK$155.77 million) included in the
cost of sales, the net finance costs during the year were
approximately HK$31.08 million (FY2022: approximately
HK$15.56 million, net of the amounts capitalised on
properties under development), which accounted for a
substantial year-on-year increase of 100%. Amongst it,
interest expenses for bank loans in Hong Kong amounted
to approximately HK$29.27 million (FY2022: approximately
HK$12.40 million), which accounted for 94% of the net
finance costs for FY2023 (FY2022: 80%) due to the high
interest rate environment in Hong Kong.

OUTLOOK

In 2023, despite numerous challenges such as inadequate
effective demand, over-capacity in some industries and weak
social expectations, as well as external factors such as strong
interest rate hike by the Federal Reserve, constant frictions
between China and the United States and the ongoing
Russia-Ukraine war, the PRC economy withstood external
pressures, overcame internal difficulties, and continued to
rebound and improve. Looking forward to 2024, the support
from the PRC macroeconomic policy is expected to continue
to increase, and industrial upgrading is expected to continue
to deepen. On the whole, the trend of China’s economic
recovery and long-term improvement will remain unchanged.
The Group will proactively seize development opportunities,
being persistent in seeking progress while maintaining
stable growth and strengthening stability through progress,
constantly optimise its asset structure, and implement various
production and operation initiatives in a solid manner, with a
view to promoting the Company's high-quality development
in all aspects.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Regarding the leasing business, the Group will, on the
premise of strict risk control, achieve stable operation on the
basis of the existing business scale and continue to strengthen
its self-financing capability. In terms of business expansion,
the Group will continue to intensify its efforts to gradually
form a professional and distinctive development path on the
back of existing specific advantageous industries. In respect
of business management, the Group will actively respond
to changes in regulatory policies, strive to improve business
compliance standards, and promote risk prevention and
control as well as transformation in all aspects.

For property development and investment, the Group will
continue to intensify its efforts and speed up the sale of
the remaining property units in section 3 of Phase Ill of the
CCT-Champs-Elysees project. Regarding marine recreation
services and hotel business, the Group will actively seize
the opportunity from the recovering tourism market in
Hainan Province to improve the efficiency level while actively
exploring and promoting subsequent asset restructuring.

The Group and Chengtong Financial Leasing, as the only
overseas listed company platform and finance lease company
respectively under CCHG, the Group’s ultimate controlling
shareholder, will further leverage on the resource advantages
of the ultimate controlling shareholder, focus the resources on
expanding the principal business of leasing and give full play
to the synergy advantage of “industry + finance”, so as to
create greater value for the shareholders. The Board is full of
confidence in the future development of the Group.

ASSET STRUCTURE, LIQUIDITY AND
FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s financial position
remained stable and robust. The equity attributable to owners
of the Company stood at approximately HK$2,855.04 million
and represented a decrease of 2% from approximately
HK$2,926.93 million recorded as at 31 December 2022. The
decline was primarily caused by the depreciation of RMB
during the year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The total assets and liabilities of the Group as at 31 December
2023 were detailed as follows:

mfiﬁnjnﬂﬂﬁﬁi *ﬁ'

RZEBEZ=F+ZA=+—H &%
EREENBEFINNOT:

Increase/
31.12.2023 31.12.2022 (decrease)
—_=E_= —E-—

+=A +=A &
ET=F =+—H CRLA)

HK$°000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

(Re-presented)

(&&&E5)
Non-current assets ERBEE 5,611,407 5,789,251 (3%)
Current assets mEEE 4,958,789 4,220,484 17%
Total assets 1EE 10,570,196 10,009,735 6%
Current liabilities HBBE (4,104,661)  (4,104,198) 0.01%
Non-current liabilities ERBAEE (3,605,432) (2,970,287) 21%
Total liabilities BwEE (7,710,093) (7,074,485) 9%
Total net assets BEEFE 2,860,103 2,935,250 (3%)

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s total assets moderately
increased to approximately HK$10.57 billion, representing a
rise of 6% as compared to the total assets of approximately
HK$10.01 billion as at 31 December 2022. Current assets
constituted 47% of the total assets, while Leasing Receivables
were the largest component of the assets, being 84% of the
total assets.

The Group increased its total liabilities to approximately
HK$7,710.09 million or by 9% as at 31 December 2023
from approximately HK$7,074.49 million as at 31 December
2022. The Group obtained further external financing such as
issuance of ABS and bank borrowings in the PRC to support
the growth of the leasing business. The current and non-
current portions of the total liabilities were 53% and 47%
respectively.

The current ratio (calculated as total current assets divided
by total current liabilities) as at 31 December 2023 was 1.21
times (as at 31 December 2022: (re-presented) 1.03 times),
indicating the Group had sufficient liquidity and a favorable
solvency position. In addition, the Group had ample of
standby credit facilities in place as at 31 December 2023 to
enhance the liquidity when needed.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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As at 31 December 2023, the Group had cash and deposits
(including pledged bank deposits, and bank balances and
cash) of approximately HK$710.55 million (as at 31 December
2022: approximately HK$534.56 million), which were
primarily denominated in RMB. Other cash and deposits were
denominated in HKD and the United States dollars (“USD").
The cash and deposits accounted for 7% of the total assets.

As at 31 December 2023, the bank borrowings of the Group
amounted to approximately HK$3,747.90 million (as at
31 December 2022: approximately HK$3,167.01 million),
represented a rise of 18% from that of last year. During
FY2023, the Group has maintained a rather steady profile
in respect of the bank borrowings in the PRC to finance the
development of leasing business. As at 31 December 2023,
about HK$3,247.90 million or 87% of the Group’s total bank
borrowings were denominated in RMB with repayment due
dates ranging from 2024 to 2027. The remaining balance of
HK$500 million was a bank loan denominated in HKD. The
HKD bank loan is maturing in June 2024. The effective annual
interest rates of the bank borrowings in FY2023 ranged from
2.70% to 6.75%.

As at 31 December 2023, the total outstanding balance of
the ABS were approximately HK$3,006.22 million (as at 31
December 2022: approximately HK$2,702.27 million). Please
refer to note 29 to the financial statements in this annual
report for more details.
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FINANCIAL LEVERAGE RATIOS MBEERLE =R

2023 2022
—s=-= —E-=

Times Times
= =
Total debts/Total equity BIER B 2.42 2.12
Total debts/Total assets mIETs, A E 0.66 0.62
Total debts/EBITDA & EBITDA 27 35
Interest coverage MEEE 5 9

As the Group further developed and expanded the leasing
business, the Group’s financial structure was slightly changed
and resulted in an increase in leverage in 2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The debt to equity ratio (calculated by dividing total interest-
bearing loans by total equity) and debt to asset ratio were
2.42 times and 0.66 times respectively as at 31 December
2023. In FY2023, the interest coverage ratio (as calculated
by dividing consolidated profit before income tax and finance
costs by finance costs) was 5 times which suggested that
the Group still had safe margin to fulfill its interest payment
obligation despite the interest rate in Hong Kong had
increased considerably. The above set of ratios indicated that
the Group’s financial position was solid and possessed strong
ability to generate income to cover its finance costs.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

The Group had no significant investment exceeding 5% of the
total asset value of the Group as at 31 December 2023.

Looking ahead, the Group remains focused on leasing
business as the main direction of its business development
and will be prudent to invest in other financial assets to
maximise shareholders’ value.

TREASURY POLICIES

The business activities and operation of the Group were
mainly carried out in Mainland China and Hong Kong,
with transactions denominated in RMB, HKD and USD,
which exposed the Group to foreign currency risks. As
at 31 December 2023, the Group had bank borrowings
denominated in HKD and RMB totalling approximately
HK$3,747.90 million and were based on fixed and floating
interest rates, which exposed the Group to interest rate
risks. The Group will, where appropriate, use interest rate
and foreign currency swaps and forward foreign exchange
contracts for risk management and hedging purposes with a
view to managing the Group's exposure to interest rate and
foreign exchange rate fluctuations. It is the Group's policy not
to enter into derivative financing transactions for speculative
purposes. It is also the Group’s policy not to invest in financial
products with significant underlying leverage or derivative
exposure, including hedge funds or similar instruments.
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VIII.INTEREST RATE RISKS

32

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s bank borrowings
were denominated in HKD and RMB. Among the RMB-
denominated bank borrowings of approximately HK$3,247.90
million, approximately HK$958.63 million was based on fixed
interest rates and approximately HK$2,289.28 million was
based on floating interest rates. The HKD-denominated bank
borrowings of HK$500 million were based on floating interest
rates.

In FY2023, the global inflation rate began to level off,
however, the interest rates in most of the countries remained
at high levels. The floating interest rates in Hong Kong, which
are tied to Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate, remained
high in FY2023, while the LPR in the PRC continued to adjust
downward during the year.

Most of the Group’s Leasing Receivables were accounted for
using floating interest rates which were benchmarked to the
prevailing LPR and effectively hedged against the interest rate
risks arising from the Group's bank borrowings in the PRC.

Given the persistently high interest rates and potential
fluctuation, the Group will continue to closely monitor the
risks arising from interest rate changes and apply appropriate
hedging strategies to mitigate the interest rate risks caused
by the debt instruments which are based on floating interest
rates.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

During the year under review, the Group's businesses were
principally conducted in RMB, while most of the Group's
assets and liabilities were denominated in HKD and RMB. Any
fluctuation in the exchange rate of HKD against RMB may
have an impact on the Group’s results. As at 31 December
2023, the net assets of the Group’s business in the PRC were
approximately RMB2,888.69 million. According to Hong
Kong Accounting Standards, such amount of net assets
denominated in RMB shall be converted at the exchange
rate applicable as at the end of the reporting period. The
Group's foreign exchange reserve decreased by approximately
HK$81.81 million during the year and impacted the Group’s
net assets as at 31 December 2023. The Group currently does
not have any hedging measures against foreign exchange
risks. However, the Group will continue to closely monitor the
possible risks arising from currency fluctuations.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s pledged bank deposits
amounted to approximately HK$11.97 million, representing
a decrease of 81% from the balance of approximately
HK$61.71 million as at 31 December 2022. The pledged
bank deposits mainly included approximately HK$9.31 million
pledged as security for certain bills payables for leasing
business (as at 31 December 2022: approximately HK$57.63
million), and approximately HK$2.56 million (as at 31
December 2022: approximately HK$3.97 million) pledged as
security for banking facilities granted to mortgagors of the
CCT-Champs-Elysees project.

As at 31 December 2023, the Leasing Receivables of the
Group with an aggregate carrying value of approximately
HK$6,776.88 million (as at 31 December 2022: approximately
(re-presented) HK$4,844.73 million) were charged as security
for the Group's ABS and bank borrowings with carrying
amounts of approximately HK$3,006.22 million (as at 31
December 2022: approximately HK$2,702.27 million) and
HK$2,915.40 million respectively (as at 31 December 2022:
approximately HK$2,661.76 million).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND CAPITAL
COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2023, the Group's capital commitments
consisted of purchase of property, plant and equipment,
which will be funded by its internal resources. Please refer
to notes 37 and 38 to the financial statements in this annual
report for details of the Group’s contingent liabilities and
capital commitments, respectively.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
OR CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Group does not
have any future plans for other material investments or capital
assets in the coming year.

EVENT AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

No significant event has occurred after the end of the year
under review.
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DIRECTORS
Mr. Zhang Bin

Mr. Zhang, aged 55, is an executive Director and the Chairman of
the Board. He is also a director of a subsidiary of the Company.
Mr. Zhang joined the Group in July 2010. He was appointed as an
executive Director with effect from 30 January 2014 and served as
the Acting Chairman of the Board with effect from 1 December
2018 until he was appointed as the Chairman of the Board on 26
June 2019. Mr. Zhang also served as the Managing Director of
the Company from 15 June 2017 to 22 October 2019. Mr. Zhang
holds an EMBA degree from China Europe International Business
School and a doctorate degree from Peking University. He also
undertook postdoctoral research in Rutgers University and North
Carolina State University in the United States of America. Mr.
Zhang has rich experience in corporate management. Mr. Zhang is
currently the chairman of China Chengtong Hong Kong Company
Limited (“CCHK"), which has an interest in the shares of the
Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under
the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
("SFO") and is a wholly-owned subsidiary of CCHG, the ultimate
holding company of the Company.

Mr. Gu Honglin

Mr. Gu, aged 46, is an executive Director and the Managing
Director of the Company. Mr. Gu joined the Group in December
2022. Mr. Gu obtained a bachelor’s degree in Management from
Beifang Jiaotong University (currently known as Beijing Jiaotong
University) and a master’s degree in Management from Renmin
University of China. Mr. Gu is a non-practicing certified public
accountant and a certified tax adviser in the PRC. During the
period from 2001 to 2012, Mr. Gu worked in various private
companies in the PRC mainly responsible for financial management
and accounting matters. He worked as a manager of the financial
analysis department of Shenzhen Aisidi Company Limited, whose
shares are listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange. In January 2013,
Mr. Gu joined CCHG and served as a senior financial manager
and then the head of the equity management department, and
later served as the deputy general manager of Beijing Chengyang
Investment Company Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
CCHG. Mr. Gu has been the chief accountant and a member
of the executive committee of CCHK since October 2021 and
December 2021 respectively. He is also currently a director of China
Chengtong Investment Company Limited and a financial manager
of Chengtong (Shenzhen) Investment Company Limited, both are
wholly-owned subsidiaries of CCHK.
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Professor Chang Qing

Professor Chang, aged 66, is an independent non-executive
Director of the Company. Professor Chang joined the Group in
January 2013. Professor Chang obtained a master’'s degree in
Economics from Jilin University in 1985 and a PhD degree from
Chinese Academy of Social Sciences. He has over 30 years of
experience in economic and financial field. He is currently the
chairman of Jinpeng International Futures Co., Ltd., a professor of
the College of Economics and Management of China Agricultural
University, and Lifetime Honorary Professor of the MBA Education
Centre of China Agricultural University. Professor Chang is now
acting as an independent non-executive director of Kangda
International Environmental Company Limited and Honghua Group
Limited (both companies’ shares are listed on the Main Board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”)).
He previously served as an independent director of Tibet Summit
Resources Co., Ltd. and TBEA Co., Ltd. (both companies’ shares are
listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange) as well as Yuan Longping
High-Tech Agriculture Co., Ltd. and Rongfeng Holding Group
Co., Ltd. (both companies’ shares are listed on the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange). Professor Chang was a council member of the
Shanghai Futures Exchange and the vice president of China Futures
Association.

Mr. Lee Man Chun, Tony

Mr. Lee, aged 70, is an independent non-executive Director of the
Company. Mr. Lee joined the Group in November 2013. Mr. Lee
obtained a master’s degree in Business Administration from Chu
Hai College of Higher Education in 1981. He is a member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He has over
40 years of experience in accounting, capital markets, corporate
management, finance and banking. Previously, he worked for and
held senior positions in Standard Chartered Bank (Hong Kong)
Limited and Sanwa International Finance Ltd. Mr. Lee was an
executive director of Shenwan Hongyuan (H.K.) Limited (formerly
known as Shenyin Wanguo (H.K.) Limited) (the shares of which are
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange) from June 2000
to June 2017, and served as its chief executive officer during the
period from July 2000 to March 2012.
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Professor He Jia

Professor He, aged 69, is an independent non-executive Director of
the Company. Professor He joined the Group in September 2015.
He holds a PhD degree in Finance from the Wharton School of
University of Pennsylvania, the United States. Currently, he is the
Dean of Shanghai North Bund Finance Institute, a member of the
Finance Development Decision-making Consultation Committee
of Shenzhen, the Changjiang Scholar Chair Professor of the
Ministry of Education, the Chair Professor of Shandong University,
the University Professor of Zhejiang University, and an executive
director and academic member of the China Society for Finance
and Banking.

Professor He is currently an independent non-executive director
of Bank of Tianjin Co., Ltd. (the shares of which are listed on the
Stock Exchange) and an independent director of Xinlong Holding
(Group) Co., Ltd. (the shares of which are listed on the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange).

Professor He was previously an independent non-executive director
of a number of listed companies in Hong Kong and Shanghai,
including Wealthking Investments Limited (currently known
as Wealthink Al-Innovation Capital Limited), Shanghai Junshi
Biosciences Co., Ltd. and CITIC Securities Company Limited. He
was also an independent director of a number of listed companies
in Shanghai and Shenzhen, including Norinco International
Cooperation Company Limited, Tibet Huayu Mining Co., Ltd.,
Tsinghua Tongfang Co., Ltd., Xgd Inc. and Shenzhen Soling
Industrial Co., Ltd.. He was also an independent director of China
Investment Securities Co., Ltd.

Professor He was a financial consultant for the Chengdu and
Quanzhou municipal governments. He was also a jointly appointed
professor at the Tsinghua University, the leading professor of
the Faculty of Financial Mathematics and Engineering at the
South University of Science and Technology, a professor of the
Department of Finance and a director of the MBA program in
Finance at the Chinese University of Hong Kong. He was also
an editor of China Financial Economics Review, and served as
a member of the editorial committee of a number of journals,
including China Accounting and Finance Review and Research in
Banking and Finance. Professor He was a member of the Planning
and Development Committee of China Securities Regulatory
Commission from June 2001 to August 2002, and a director of
integrated research institute of the Shenzhen Stock Exchange from
June 2001 to October 2002.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Mr. Poon Tsz Kin

Mr. Poon, aged 58, is the company secretary and financial
controller of the Company. He joined the Group in May 2019. He
holds a professional diploma in Accountancy from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University. He is a Certified Public Accountant of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow
member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.
Mr. Poon previously worked for an international accounting firm
and a number of public companies in Hong Kong, Singapore and
Canada respectively. He has more than 20 years’ experience in
auditing, accounting and finance, internal control and corporate
management.
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The Board is pleased to present the corporate governance report of
the Group for the year.

CORPORATE CULTURE AND GOVERNANCE

The Board considers the followings as our core values: (i) investing
in sustainable development; (ii) upholding business ethics; (iii)
pursuing high quality products and services; (iv) prioritising green
development; and (v) building a people-oriented organisation. The
Board has ensured that these values are embedded throughout
the Group. Details of the implementation of such values into the
Group’s daily operations are set out in this report and the ESG
report of the Company for the year.

The above core values shape our corporate culture which is
centered on committing to continuous improvement in order to
maintain competitiveness in the dynamic business environment and
in turn creating long-term value for our shareholders. All Directors
have used their best endeavours to uphold the core values and
promote them throughout the Group.

In pursuing the core values, the Group considers good corporate
governance is vital to the healthy and sustainable development
of the Group and the Group strives to uphold high standards of
corporate governance continuously.

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company had complied with
all the code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (“CG
Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 (renamed as Appendix C1 with
effect from 31 December 2023) to the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”) for the year.

The Company periodically reviews its corporate governance
practices to ensure those continue to comply with the CG Code,
and acknowledges the important role of the Board in providing
effective leadership and direction to the Group’s business and
ensuring operational transparency and accountability.

The key corporate governance principles and practices of the
Company during the year are summarised as follows:
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THE BOARD
Responsibilities

The Board provides leadership for the Company in the interests
of the shareholders, approves policies, strategies and plans, and
oversees their implementation to sustain the healthy growth of the
Company.

The Board is responsible for all major matters of the Group, and
the approval and monitoring of all material changes in policies,
including risk management strategies, dividend policy, appointment
of directors and other significant financial and operational matters.

All Directors have full and timely access to all relevant information
as well as the advice and services of the company secretary of
the Company, with a view to ensure that the Board's procedures
and all applicable laws, rules and regulations are followed. In
general, each Director can seek independent professional advices
in appropriate circumstances at the Company’s expenses, upon
making such request to the Board.

The day-to-day management, administration and operation of
the Company are delegated to the Managing Director, executive
Directors and senior management. Approval from the Board has to
be obtained prior to entering into any significant transactions.

Composition

The composition of the Board encompasses the necessary balance
of skills and experiences desirable for effective leadership of the
Group and reflects the independence in decision-making of the
Board.
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During the year and as at the date of this report, the Board
comprised the following Directors:

Executive Directors

ZHANG Bin (Chairman of the Board)

GU Honglin (appointed as Managing Director with effect from
12 January 2024)

YANG Tianzhou (resigned as Managing Director and executive
Director with effect from 12 January 2024)

Non-executive Director

Wang Daxiong (resigned with effect from 11 January 2023)

Independent Non-executive Directors

CHANG Qing
LEE Man Chun, Tony
HE Jia

The list of Directors (by category) is disclosed in all corporate
communications issued by the Company and on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Listing Rules.

Chairman and Managing Director

During the year, the position of the Chairman of the Board was
held by Mr. Zhang Bin and the position of Managing Director
was held by Mr. Yang Tianzhou until his resignation which took
effect on 12 January 2024. Mr. Gu Honglin was appointed as the
Managing Director of the Company in replacement of Mr. Yang
with effect from 12 January 2024. The respective responsibilities of
the Chairman and the Managing Director are clearly defined and
set out in writing to ensure a balance of power and authority.
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The Chairman of the Board provides leadership to the Board and
is responsible for ensuring that relevant duties and responsibilities
are fully and appropriately executed by the Directors in accordance
with good corporate governance practice. With the support of the
senior management, the Chairman of the Board is also responsible
for ensuring that each of the Directors can timely receive adequate,
complete and reliable information and appropriate briefing on
issues to be discussed at Board meetings.

The Managing Director is responsible for leading the management
to implement policies, strategies as well as all goals and plans
adopted and approved by the Board, and is in charge of the
Company’s day-to-day operations.

Relationship among Board Members

There is no financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationship among members of the Board.

Board Independence Mechanism

The Company has established mechanism to ensure independent
views and input are available to the Board. The Company has at
all times met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the
appointment of at least three independent non-executive directors
representing not less than one-third of the Board, with at least
one independent non-executive director possessing appropriate
professional qualifications, or accounting or related financial
management expertise.

The Company has adopted the Independent View Policy, pursuant
to which the independent non-executive Directors are required
to, among other matters, (i) keep up-to-date with the Company’s
business affairs and be involved in scrutinising the Company’s
performance in achieving agreed corporate goals and objectives,
and monitor the relevant reporting; and (ii) bring independent
judgment to bear on issues of strategy, policy, performance,
accountability, resources, key appointments and standards of
conduct, and assist in reviewing some of the Board's major
decisions, the Company’s performance in relation to corporate
goals, and monitor the relevant reporting. The Board reviews the
implementation of the Board independence mechanism on an
annual basis and considers that it remains effective for the year.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from
each of the existing independent non-executive Directors of his
independence pursuant to the requirements of Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. The Company considers all independent non-executive
Directors to be independent in accordance with the independence
guidelines set out in the Listing Rules.

AN iz pm o
ERERWE

EZgIREEREEFTE T LYRER
RRECXEAFHAERESTRED REW
TREERBRE -ESREREZXFE T &
ZEIRNMEERRBEZTARKERRE
m-EEEkAENEN] TRHREFES
BELAWEEGIBBENS-

EFAKHEARREEEENITRESS
BRAN M HEE R - SRBS A KPR B B AR MET
O YBEARFNATELE-

EEEHEZEREF

EFEeNBZRAMBENTE X% RB
KEAMEARHARIRE

EFCSREVIEHY

ARAERIEHERESTS I ESEL
BRAERZ -ARAHETLEMRAFEAR
ETRLI=ZRBIUFVTEFT - HEFEXE
ABIDR=D2 —MHRE MER&DE
E-—R2BUFRTEFTEBARBEZIERE
1 KB RARM B ERERMNE -

ARFEHRMABLE RBR Bt B
WITEFA(EBRERE) () TRARR &N
EHARN - U 2 HEE AR A EHBE R
FAEBRERETENRR ARERAMES
WEE: LG)HRRE BE KRB -BEE:
BR TE2ZERBTEUNESEEELEY
A Wi EHNESTESNM O EBRRE
ARAABABRRBRENRERERERE
T EFEEFRVESFSBUMEGINE
RN R BERNFREDABR -

ARFCEERAEEBIUIFRITEFRE
EAMRRAEINMGZ RERE I DR
EEEZFEE@MER -RIE LA
B2 BUMEE ARARRABEILIEH
TEFARBILAL

2023 Annual Report FEH & 41



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

A iz g o
ERERWE

The independent non-executive Directors bring a wide range of
business and financial expertise and relevant experience to the
Board and provide independent opinions for decision-making of
the Board. Through active participation in Board meetings, taking
the lead in issues involving potential conflicts of interest and
serving on committees of the Board, all independent non-executive
Directors make positive contributions to the orderly management
and effective operation of the Company.

Appointment and Succession Planning of Directors

The Board has established the nomination committee
(“Nomination Committee”) and adopted formal, considered
and transparent procedures for the appointment and succession
planning of Directors. Appropriate candidates for directorship as
properly selected by the Nomination Committee will be proposed
to the Board for approval.

The Board and the Nomination Committee as a whole are
responsible for reviewing the Board composition, developing
and formulating the relevant procedures for nomination and
appointment of Directors, monitoring the appointment and
succession planning of Directors and assessing the independence
of independent non-executive Directors. The Board and the
Nomination Committee review the structure, size and composition
of the Board regularly to ensure that it has a balance of expertise,
skills, experience and diversity of perspectives and gender etc.
appropriate to the requirements of the business of the Group.

All Directors are appointed for a term of one year and are subject
to retirement by rotation and re-election at the AGM of the
Company at least once every three years. In accordance with the
Articles of Association of the Company, one-third of the Directors
are subject to retirement by rotation every year and any new
Director appointed to fill a causal vacancy or as an addition to the
Board shall hold office only until the next following AGM of the
Company and shall then be eligible for re-election at such meeting.

The Board recommended the re-appointment of the Directors
standing for re-election at the forthcoming AGM of the Company.
Detailed information of the Directors standing for re-election
will be set out in the circular of the Company in relation to the
forthcoming AGM to be available to the shareholders.
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Board Diversity Policy

The Company has adopted a Board Diversity Policy and continuously
seeks to enhance the effectiveness of the Board and to maintain
the highest standards of corporate governance and recognises and
embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board.

The Company believes that diversity of the Board can be achieved
through consideration of a number of factors when deciding on
appointments of Directors, including but not limited to gender, age,
race, cultural and educational background, length of service, skills,
professional experience, regional and industrial experience, and any
other factors that the Board deems appropriate from time to time.
For the purpose of implementing board diversity, the Company will
also take into account factors based on its own business model and
specific needs from time to time.

The composition, experience and balance of skills in the Board
are regularly reviewed and assessed to ensure that the Board
retains core members who have an understanding of the Group
for a long period of time alongside with new Director(s) to be
appointed from time to time who bring(s) fresh perspectives and
diverse experiences to the Board. The Nomination Committee
has the primary responsibility for identifying suitably qualified
candidates to become members of the Board and, in carrying
out such responsibility, will give adequate consideration to the
Board Diversity Policy. The Nomination Committee believes that
the current composition of the Board is based on the history and
actual conditions of the Company and demonstrates a thorough
consideration of the factors for achieving board diversity.

The Board shall review the implementation and effectiveness of the
Board Diversity Policy on an annual basis to ensure its continuous
effectiveness. The Nomination Committee will also assess the merits
and contribution brought by the Directors to the Board against
the objective criteria, with due regard for the benefits of diversity
on the Board that would complement the Company's corporate
strategy.
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As at the date of this report, the Board comprised five Directors
who are all male members. The Company endeavors to avoid
a single-gender Board and will introduce at least one female
Director by 31 December 2024 so to maintain a healthy balance of
gender diversity in the Board. The Company is still in the course of
identifying the appropriate female candidate for the directorship.
When appointing a director of a different gender, the Company
shall ensure that such director possesses the necessary skills,
experience and calibre appropriate to the Company’s business.
The Board believes gender diversity will offer the Board with
new insights and will enhance the decision making process and
foster the business development of the Group. In the future,
the Board will continue to place emphasis on the nomination of
Directors to ensure that qualified female candidates are given
equal consideration alongside male counterparts. The Company
will ensure, by placing emphasis on gender diversity in the
Board succession planning process, to have a diverse pipeline of
candidates to the Board when vacancies arise.

Apart from gender diversity at the Board level, the Company
also targets to avoid a single-gender workforce (including the
senior management). As at 31 December 2023, male and female
employees represent approximately 60% and 40% of the Group's
workforce (including the senior management) respectively which
indicate that the Group has maintained a balanced gender ratio in
the workforce. Although gender diversity issue is less relevant to
the Group given the nature of the Group’s business, the Company
will still pay due regard to this issue and review the gender diversity
of the workforce in accordance with the business development of
the Group from time to time.

Board Meetings

Number of Meetings and Directors’ Attendance

Regular Board meetings are held at least four times a year at
approximately quarterly intervals for reviewing the Group’s financial
and operating performance, discussing and approving annual and
interim results, as well as considering and approving the overall
strategies of the Company.

During the year, six Board meetings were held, including four
regular Board meetings.
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The individual attendance record of each Director in respect of the
Board meetings held during the year is set out below:

Name of Directors

TREBRE

EEZEABERAFERNBETZCEST SR
Z BRI 5T

Number of
Attendance/
Number of Board
Meetings Held

RE/
EEpnA BTESEFRNH
ZHANG Bin 6/6
3R R,
GU Honglin 6/6
JEE AR
CHANG Qing 6/6
wE
LEE Man Chun, Tony 6/6
>TER
HE Jia 6/6
GIRES
YANG Tianzhou (note 1) 5/6
HEMN (HaET)
WANG Daxiong (note 2) 0/0
TR (HaE2)
Notes: B et -
1. Mr. Yang Tianzhou resigned as an executive Director with effect from 12 1. BHEMELEBFETRTEE BT _NFE— A

January 2024.

2. Mr. Wang Daxiong resigned as a non-executive Director with effect from
11 January 2023 and no Board meeting was held during his tenure in
2023.

Practices and Conduct of Meetings

Meeting schedules and agenda of each Board meeting are normally
made available to the Directors in advance. Notices of regular
Board meetings are served to all Directors at least 14 days before
the meetings. For other Board and committee meetings, reasonable
notice is generally given.

+oBERAEM-

2. IREREHEHRLTEE B -_FT_=F-—
A+—HBRBEHR MR_ZT_=F HEHRK
BERTEFEER-

EFZFEHAREA

EE LIRS -k 1k T L
BEEHEARETESR -EFChTERB
HEREERITNELIAREZENMBES-
EREMESESRETESER —MIHD
HIE@A -
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Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable
information are sent to all Directors in a timely manner before
each Board meeting or committee meeting to keep the Directors
apprised of the latest development and financial position of the
Company and to enable them to make informed decisions. The
Board and each Director also have separate and independent access
to the senior management whenever necessary.

The company secretary of the Company assists the Chairman of
the Board to prepare the agenda for the Board meetings and
ensures that all applicable rules and procedures are followed in
each meeting. Draft agenda is sent to all Directors in advance to
allow Directors to include any matter they would like to discuss in
the meeting. Draft minutes are circulated to all Directors for review
and amendment as soon as practicable after the meeting is held.
All Board members will be given a copy of the finalised minutes
approved by Directors who attended the meeting.

Should a Director have any conflict of interest in any proposed
transactions, the Director concerned will abstain from voting on
related resolutions. Directors without any conflict of interest will be
present at the Board meetings to vote and resolve on such issues.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established five committees, namely, the
executive committee (“"Executive Committee”), the audit
committee (“Audit Committee”), the remuneration committee
(“Remuneration Committee”), the Nomination Committee
and the environmental, social and governance committee (“ESG
Committee”), each overseeing and being responsible for affairs
in different aspects of the Company. All Board committees are
provided with sufficient resources to discharge their duties and,
upon reasonable request, are able to seek independent professional
advice in appropriate circumstances at the Company’s expenses.

Executive Committee

The Executive Committee comprises all executive Directors. The
Executive Committee is responsible for the daily business operations
and management of the Company, the execution of decisions and
strategies of the Board within the scope of authorisation granted
by the Board. The Executive Committee regularly reports to the
Board regarding the Group’s business operations and seeks its
advice and approval on matters involving material decision-making.
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During the year, the Executive Committee comprised Mr. Zhang Bin
(chairman of the Executive Committee), Mr. Gu Honglin and Mr.
Yang Tianzhou. Mr. Yang resigned as an executive Director and a
member of the Executive Committee on 12 January 2024.

Audit Committee

As at 31 December 2023, the Audit Committee comprised three
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Lee Man Chun,
Tony (chairman of the Audit Committee), Professor Chang Qing
and Professor He Jia. Mr. Wang Daxiong, the then non-executive
Director, was a member of the Audit Committee before his
resignation on 11 January 2023. Mr. Lee Man Chun, Tony is an
independent non-executive Director who possesses the appropriate
professional accounting qualifications and financial management
expertise. None of the members of the Audit Committee is a
former partner of the Company’s existing external auditor.

The main duties of the Audit Committee include the following:

(@) to review the financial statements and reports of the
Company and consider any significant or unusual items raised
by the internal auditor or external auditor before submission
to the Board;

(b) to oversee the relationship between the Company and
the external auditor, to approve the remuneration and
terms of engagement of the external auditor, and make
recommendation to the Board on the appointment, re-
appointment and removal of the external auditor; and

(c) to review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s
financial reporting system, internal control system and risk
management system and associated procedures.

The Audit Committee has held four meetings during the year
to review the audit plan, financial results and reports, capital
management system, the risk management and internal control
system, the effectiveness of the internal audit function of the
Company and to perform its other duties under the CG Code.
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There was no disagreement between the Audit Committee and
the Board in respect of matters about selection, appointment,
resignation or dismissal of an external auditor.

During the year, the Company’s annual results for the year ended
31 December 2022 and the interim results for the six months
ended 30 June 2023 have been reviewed by the Audit Committee.

Remuneration Committee

During the year and as at 31 December 2023, the Remuneration
Committee comprised two independent non-executive Directors,
namely Professor He Jia (chairman of the Remuneration Committee)
and Mr. Lee Man Chun, Tony and an executive Director, namely Mr.
Zhang Bin.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee include
making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration policy
and structure of the Company as well as on the remuneration
packages of individual Directors and the senior management. The
human resources department of the Group is responsible for the
collection and administration of the human resources data and
making recommendations to the Remuneration Committee for
consideration. The Remuneration Committee is also responsible
for establishing transparent procedures for developing such
remuneration policy and structure to ensure that no Director
or any of his associates will participate in deciding on his own
remuneration. The remuneration of the Directors and the senior
management of the Company is determined by reference to the
performance of the individual and the Company, their roles and
functions in the Group and, if applicable, in the group members of
CCHG, the Company’s ultimate holding company, as well as market
conditions.

The Remuneration Committee held two meetings during the year
to review the remuneration policy and structure of the Company
and the remuneration packages of the Directors. At the meeting,
the Remuneration Committee discussed the performance of the
Directors and the senior management, reviewed the Directors’
service contracts, considered their roles and functions, salaries
and/or director’s fees paid by comparable companies and general
employment conditions before making recommendations to the
Board regarding the remuneration packages of the Directors and all
employees including the senior management.
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Nomination Committee

During the year and as at 31 December 2023, the Nomination
Committee comprised two independent non-executive Directors,
namely Professor Chang Qing (chairman of the Nomination
Committee) and Mr. Lee Man Chun, Tony, and an executive
Director, namely Mr. Zhang Bin.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for, among others,
nominating candidates for directorship appointment and
succession, reviewing the composition and structure of the Board
from time to time and making recommendations to the Board
in order to ensure the balance and diversity of expertise, skills,
experience and gender etc. among the members of the Board.

According to the Nomination Policy adopted by the Company,
appointments of Board members will be made on a merit basis
and candidates will be considered against objective criteria. The
selection criteria used in assessing the suitability of a candidate
include:

o the candidate’s academic background and qualifications
(including professional qualifications, skills and knowledge
which are relevant to the Company’s business and corporate
strategy);

o the candidate’s relevant experience in the industry;
o the candidate’s character and integrity;

o the candidate’s willingness and capacity to devote adequate
time in discharge of a director’s duties;

o whether the candidate can contribute to the Board a diversity
of perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, race,
cultural and educational background, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service;

o (where the candidate is proposed to be appointed as an
independent non-executive Director) whether the candidate
is in compliance with the criteria of independence under the
Listing Rules; and

o any other factors as may be determined by the Board from
time to time.
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In terms of nomination procedures, any Board member may
nominate or invite a candidate for appointment as a Director to
be considered by the Nomination Committee. The Nomination
Committee will then evaluate the personal profile of the candidate
based on the selection criteria set out above, undertake due
diligence in respect of such candidate and make recommendation
for the Board’s consideration and approval. For nomination of
independent non-executive Director, the Nomination Committee
will also assess the candidate’s independence in accordance with
the CG Code and the Listing Rules. For re-appointment of retiring
Directors, the Nomination Committee will review the candidate’s
overall contribution and performance (including the candidate’s
attendance at Board committee meetings, Board meetings and
general meetings, his/her level of participation and performance
in the Board), and make recommendations to the Board and the
shareholders for re-election at general meetings.

During the year, the Nomination Committee held one meeting
to review the Nomination Policy and the terms of reference of
the Nomination Committee as well as the matters relating to re-
election of retiring Directors.

ESG Committee

During the year and up to the date of this report, there were
several changes in the composition of the ESG Committee. During
the period from 1 January 2023 to 10 January 2023, Mr. Wang
Daxiong, the then non-executive Director, acted as the chairman
of the ESG Committee, and Mr. Yang Tianzhou, the then executive
Director, and Professor He Jia, an independent non-executive
Director, acted as the members of the ESG Committee. On 11
January 2023, Mr. Wang Daxiong resigned as a non-executive
Director and ceased to be the chairman of the ESG Committee,
upon which Mr. Yang Tianzhou was appointed as the new chairman
in replacement of Mr. Wang Daxiong. On the same date, Mr. Gu
Honglin, an executive Director, was also appointed as a member
of the ESG Committee. On 12 January 2024, Mr. Yang Tianzhou
resigned as an executive Director and ceased to be the chairman
of the ESG Committee, upon which Mr. Gu Honglin was appointed
as the new chairman in replacement of Mr. Yang Tianzhou. On the
same date, Professor Chang Qing, an independent non-executive
Director, was appointed as a member of the ESG Committee and
therefore since 12 January 2024, the ESG Committee comprised
Mr. Gu Honglin (chairman of the ESG Committee), Professor He Jia
and Professor Chang Qing as members.
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The ESG Committee is mainly responsible for (a) formulating
the Group’s ESG strategies and objectives; (b) coordinating and
supervising ESG-related matters of the Group; (c) identifying
significant ESG risks; (d) monitoring the effectiveness of ESG
risk management and internal control; (e) coordinating for the
preparation of the ESG report; and (f) performing other duties and
functions assigned to the ESG Committee by the Board from time
to time.

During the year, the ESG Committee held one meeting to discuss
the direction and strategies of the Group's ESG matters and review
the Group's ESG report for the year ended 31 December 2022.

Board Committee Meetings
Number of Meetings and Directors’ Attendance

The individual attendance record of each Director in respect of the
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meetings of the Board committees held during the year is set out

below:

Number of Attendance/Number of Board Committee Meetings Held

HERE BTESZESERRY

Executive Audit Remuneration Nomination ESG

Name of Directors Committee Committee Committee Committee Committee
BE HER

Esps HITZE. EREES ¥FMEES REZES® EREER
ZHANG Bin 16/16 Not applicable 2/2 11 Not applicable
oR 8, 16/16 TNEM 2/2 171 TEM
GU Honglin 16/16 Not applicable Not applicable Not applicable 11
B 16/16 TEA TEA i B 171
CHANG Qing Not applicable 4/4 Not applicable 171 Not applicable
wE T 4/4 NE A 171 TEM
LEE Man Chun, Tony Not applicable 4/4 2/2 11 Not applicable
F&E2 i 4/4 212 171 TEA
HE Jia Not applicable 4/4 2/2 Not applicable 171
Al £ TER 4/4 212 TEA 171
YANG Tianzhou 11/16 Not applicable Not applicable Not applicable 171
B EM 11/16 TEA TEA TEA 1/1
WANG Daxiong (note 1) Not applicable 0/0 Not applicable Not applicable 0/0
R (Kratr) T 0/0 TEA i 0/0
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Note:

1. Mr. Wang Daxiong resigned as a non-executive Director and ceased to
be the chairman of the ESG Committee and a member of the Audit
Committee on 11 January 2023. No meeting of the Audit Committee and
the ESG Committee was held during his tenure in 2023.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted its own code of conduct regarding
Directors’ securities transactions (“Code of Conduct”) on terms no
less exacting than the required standard set out in the Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model
Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 (renamed as Appendix C3 with
effect from 31 December 2023) to the Listing Rules. Specific
enquiry has been made of all the Directors and the Directors have
confirmed that they had complied with the requirements of the
Code of Conduct and the Model Code during the year. No incident
of non-compliance of the Code of Conduct or the Model Code by
the Directors was noted by the Board during the year.

The Company has also set out written guidelines on terms no less
exacting than the Model Code for securities transactions by the
relevant employees who are likely to be in possession of inside
information in relation to the Company or its securities due to their
office or employment.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board has not established a corporate governance committee.
Instead, the full Board is responsible for performing the corporate
governance functions. During the year, the corporate governance
duties performed by the Board mainly include developing and
reviewing the Company’s policies and practices on corporate
governance, reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous
professional development of the Directors and senior management,
reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, developing,
reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct and compliance
manual applicable to employees and the Directors, and reviewing
the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in this
corporate governance report.

Every Board member has full access to the advice and services of
the company secretary of the Company with a view to ensuring
that the Board procedures, and all applicable rules and regulations
are followed. They are also entitled to have full access to Board
papers and related materials so that they are able to make an
informed decision and to discharge their duties and responsibilities.
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SUPPORT AND PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT OF
DIRECTORS

All Directors have been given relevant guideline materials regarding
the duties and responsibilities of being a director, the relevant
laws and regulations applicable to directors, duty of disclosure of
interest and business of the Group and the Directors have been
updated by the Company on the latest development regarding
the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements to
ensure compliance and enhance their awareness of good corporate
governance practices. There is a procedure agreed by the Board
to ensure that the Directors, upon reasonable request, are able to
seek independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances,
at the Company’s expenses.

According to the training records provided by the Directors (save
for Mr. Wang Daxiong who resigned as a non-executive Director
on 11 January 2023), each of the Directors (save for Mr. Wang
Daxiong) has participated in continuous professional development
during the year by attending seminars and/or reviewing reading
materials provided by the Company on the following topics to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills:

Name of Directors

TREBRE

EEXEREXRER

EREFDEEHEBRETES ZBE &
AREZZHEBEIRAD BEREZE
ERAEEXB ZHBESIER - ARFE
MEREFERAELTRULEMER
EEREZEMBEREBN UERNFENKL
RAERENEEERER -EFECHAHT
B UBREFARRLAEERR &
BENBATSKBUEXER BRABAAN
ACIFENE

REBEEEFAARBREZBIRE  KREX
BEER T _=F—A+—BBEEIFH
TEFIN REFT(REIREEENER
AEREABBLFEEBTIETBEZCERE
%/ BERRRRE MBS A2 6
BEXER UBREEARSFZANBLE

N
BE -

Topics covered in training

EBENA FrREZZIEE
(Notes)
(Ktat)

ZHANG Bin a,b,cd

3R X,

GU Honglin a,b,cd

JEE AR

CHANG Qing a, b,cd

wE

LEE Man Chun, Tony a, b,cde

FTER

HE Jia a, b,cd

GIRES

YANG Tianzhou a, b cd

15 B M

WANG Daxiong (resigned with effect from 11 January 2023)
TAM(A-F-=F—A+— BEFT)
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ERELRE

Notes:

(a) Preparation of ESG report, ESG-related issues and regulations updates

(b) Corporate governance practices; roles and duties of directors
(0 Disclosure compliance under the Listing Rules
(d) Business and assets valuation

(e) Miscellaneous topics covering financial, legal and digital matters, artificial
intelligence, data protection, tax, energy and politics etc.

RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF THE
PREPARATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The Directors acknowledge that it is their responsibility to prepare
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
of the financial position of the Group, and for such internal control
as the Directors determine as necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the Directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The statement of the external auditor of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in
the independent auditor’s report on pages 85 to 90 of the annual
report of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2023.
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The remuneration of the external auditor of the Company in
respect of audit services and non-audit services for the year ended
31 December 2023 amounted to approximately HK$1,180,000 and
HK$1,330,000 respectively. An analysis of the remuneration of the
external auditor of the Company is set out below:

TREBRE

RABEMIINBEZBAREBEE_T_=F
TZA=ZT " BLEFEREEZRBE X
EBEERE AEINME DR A B
1,180,0007T X 7 #1,330,0007T ° AN 2 & 4p
EEAZ SRR B & DTS HI T

Amount of fee for
the year ended
31 December 2023

BE-Z=-=
+=A=+—-81L
FEEAR
(HK$'000)
(E#For)
Audit services Bz 1,180
Non-audit services: IFEZRE
— Review of interim results - RHIEERH 160
— Services in relation to the major transactions of -REENBERERH
finance lease arrangements FTERXG 2R 1,170
Total raEt 2,510

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The organisation structure of the Company has defined lines
of responsibilities and appropriate responsibilities and authority
were delegated to senior management. The Board is responsible
for the establishment and reviewing the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control system. The Company has also
established a risk management department, of which one of
the executive Directors serves as the manager-in-charge, to be
responsible for the internal audit function and to assist the Board
to review the risk management and internal control system of
the Group on an ongoing basis. However, such system aims at
managing rather than eliminating the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives. Hence, such system can only provide reasonable
but not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

EEREERAERE

ARRWMBRBERAERET 2D A&
ERENEREENEEIAEE-EFEA
BERBEBLAMEERR BT Mg
HER-ARR R RLAREEEF B
Hbh—ZRTESFEIHFIREA - BER
MECHELGHEZERERTAEH
MEREERAGEERG AT ZER
EHEEEMIFERAEEREBRERZAE
BoEI ZEAMERTEEEANKER
LSRR R R A B2 i IF 4B B AR B
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The Board has established effective and operational procedures
to identify, assess and manage major risks faced by the Group.
Such procedures will be updated from time to time to reflect
the changes in rules and regulations, and serve as a guideline
for updating the risk management and internal control system
in a timely manner. The Board considers that as at the date of
this report, the risk management and internal control system is
adequate and effective in safeguarding the assets of the Group and
protecting the interests of shareholders, customers and employees
of the Group.

The Executive Committee is responsible for implementing the
procedures approved by the Board to identify, assess and manage
major risks faced by the Group. Such procedures include the
design, operation and supervision of suitable risk management
and internal control system to mitigate and control risks. The main
features of the risk management and internal control system and
the process used by the Company to identify, evaluate and manage
major risks are as follows:

o the Board is responsible for the supervision of all business
activities of the Group and the implementation of strategic
plans and policy. The Executive Committee is responsible for
the effective daily operation of the Group and for ensuring
that the Group operates in accordance with the objectives,
strategy and budget of the Group;

o the Audit Committee periodically reviews the work of the risk
management department, external auditor and the Executive
Committee in respect of the risk management and internal
control system, and assesses the feasibility and effectiveness
of the risk management and internal control system; and

o the risk management department also formulates the annual
internal audit plan and procedures, conducts periodic
independent reviews on the operations of individual divisions
and subsidiaries to identify any irregularities and risks,
develops action plans and makes recommendations to address
the identified risks, and reports to the Audit Committee on
any key findings and progress of the internal audit process.
The Audit Committee, in turn, reports to the Board on any
material issues and makes recommendations to the Board.
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In strict compliance with the requirements of Code Provision D.2.1
of the CG Code, the Board conducts a comprehensive review of the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control system of
the Group on an annual basis. The review includes an assessment
of the prevailing internal control and risk management practices of
the Group and covers various aspects including financial control,
operational control, compliance control and risk management. If
material internal control defects are found in the reviews of the risk
management and internal control systems, the Board is responsible
for ensuring that adequate resources are allocated to the relevant
departments within the Group and that the recommendations
made by the risk management department of the Group are duly
implemented, so that the defects can be resolved on a timely
manner.

During the year, the Board has examined the review report of
the risk management department in respect of the Group's
resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programmes
and budget of the accounting of the Company, internal audit,
financial reporting functions as well as those relating to the ESG
performance and reporting of the Company, and had conducted
a comprehensive review of the risk management and internal
control system of the Group covering the period from 1 January
2023 to 31 December 2023. Compared with 2022, there has
been no significant or major change in the nature and extent of
significant risks faced by the Group as well as the ability of the
Company to cope with the changes in its business and the external
environment. The Board considered that the risk management and
internal control system of the Company is adequate and effective
and the Company has complied with the code provisions of the CG
Code relating to risk management and internal control.
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INSIDE INFORMATION

The Company has formulated policies on information disclosure
and regularly reminded the Directors and employees to properly
comply with relevant policies on inside information. At the same
time, the Company will notify the Directors, senior management
and employees the latest guidance announced by the regulatory
body on such information disclosure from time to time to keep all
of them abreast of the latest requirements.

With respect to the procedures and internal controls for the
handling and dissemination of inside information, the Group has
taken reasonable measures to:

i restrict the access of confidential information by a limited
number of employees on a need-to-know basis;

ii. prohibit the management and all employees from
unauthorised use of confidential or inside information; and

iii. disclose inside information as soon as reasonably practicable
in accordance with the prevailing requirements under the SFO
and the Listing Rules.

COMPANY SECRETARY

During the year, the company secretary of the Company is Mr.
Poon Tsz Kin, who is a full-time employee of the Company and
has day-to-day knowledge of the Company’'s affairs. In delivering
his service as the company secretary of the Company, Mr. Poon
has direct contact with the Chairman of the Board, the Managing
Director and other senior management of the Company to ensure
that information is communicated seamlessly among the Directors
and that the policies and procedures approved by the Board and all
applicable laws, rules and regulations are complied with. He is also
responsible for facilitating professional development training of the
Directors.

Mr. Poon has confirmed that during the year, he had taken no less
than 15 hours of relevant professional training.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

Pursuant to the Listing Rules, all the resolutions of general
meetings are conducted by way of poll.

Poll results will be posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange
and the Company on the day of the relevant general meeting.
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The general meetings of the Company provide a forum for
communication between the shareholders and the Board. The
Chairman of the Board as well as the chairman of each of the
Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination
Committee and any other committees (as appropriate) or in their
absence, other members of the Board or the respective committees,
and where applicable, the chairman of the independent Board
committee, are available to answer questions at the general
meetings. The external auditors also attend the AGM to answer
guestions about the conduct of the audit and the preparation and
content of the auditors report etc.

During the year, the Company held two general meetings (being
the general meeting on 7 March 2023 and AGM on 26 June 2023).
The attendance records of the Directors in respect of the general
meetings held during the year are as follows:

Name of Directors

AN iz pm o
ERERWE

ARABRAER/RRREEETS 2HEHR
—BARBNTE -EFGIR EXZE
SXF FHZEeIE REZESXR
AREMEMEZEESIR (MER)BEY
FRRAREG RERFE AMEESHE
NEZEBgzHEMKXER (WER)BYLES
%8 IfTEHﬁ%?(ALﬁﬁ’;&?EFEJ SNES
RBRMTEHFERRAFAS DERHEE
AIE REZBEMBENEATERE-

RAFERN  RARHBITRABRAE (B

RZE_=ZF=ZALtHBTHRERG R

RZEZ=F A+ ~BRTHORER

FRE) EFEHERTFERITZREXR
FHFRENT

Number of

Attendance/

Number of General
Meetings Held

9/
Esns %ﬁﬁik RE
ZHANG Bin 2/2
o
GU Honglin 2/2
BE LR
CHANG Qing 2/2
®E
LEE Man Chun, Tony 2/2
FES
HE Jia 2/2
fa] £
YANG Tianzhou 172
15 M
WANG Daxiong (resigned with effect from 11 January 2023) 0/0

FTRE(BEZZF-_=ZF—A+—REHE)
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The Company communicates information to the shareholders
mainly through the Company’s financial reports (interim and
annual reports), AGMs and other general meetings that may be
convened, as well as by making available (i) all the corporate
communication documents including but not limited to annual
reports, interim reports, notices of general meetings, circulars, and
proxy forms (“Corporate Communication”); (ii) other documents
issued by the Company which are published on the website of the
Stock Exchange for the information or action of the shareholders,
including announcements, monthly returns on movements in
the Company’s securities and next day disclosure returns; (iii)
constitutional documents of the Company and terms of reference
of the Board committees; (iv) corporate information including but
not limited to the list of the Directors; and (v) other Corporate
Communication which are published on the Company’s website at
www.hk217.com.

Apart from attending general meetings, shareholders of the
Company may also at any time make enquiries and/or communicate
their views to the Company in relation to various matters affecting
the Company. Details of the procedures by which enquiries and/
or views may be communicated to the Company and the relevant
contact details of the Company are set out on page 61 under the
sub-heading “Shareholders’ Enquiries” in this report. Enquiries are
dealt with timely.

The Board has reviewed the situation of shareholders’ engagement
and communication during the year as well as the procedures
of the Company’'s general meetings and was satisfied with
the implementation and effectiveness of the shareholders’
communication policy of the Company. The Company will
continue to enhance communications and relationships with its
shareholders and investors to keep them abreast of the Company’s
developments.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

(1) Procedures for Shareholders to Convene a General
Meeting

In accordance with sections 566 to 568 of the Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (“Companies
Ordinance”), shareholder(s) of the Company representing at least
5% of the total voting rights of all the shareholders having a
right to vote at general meetings of the Company may require the
Directors to convene a general meeting. The written requisition
must state the general nature of the business to be dealt with
at the general meeting, and may include the text of a resolution
that may properly be moved and is intended to be moved at
the meeting. Such request must be signed by the shareholder(s)
concerned and deposited at the principal office of the Company at
Suite 6406, 64/F., Central Plaza, 18 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong
Kong for the attention of the company secretary in hard copy form
or sent to the Company in electronic form to public@hk217.com.
The requisition may consist of several documents in like form each
signed by one or more of the shareholders concerned.

If the Directors do not, within 21 days after the date on which
the written requisition is received by the Company, proceed duly
to convene a general meeting on a date not more than 28 days
after the date of the notice convening the general meeting,
the shareholder(s) who requested the meeting, or any of them
representing more than one-half of the total voting rights of all of
them, may themselves convene a general meeting, provided that
the meeting so convened shall not be held after the expiration of 3
months from the date on which the written requisition is received
by the Company.

The general meeting convened by shareholders shall be convened
in the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which general
meetings are to be convened by the Directors.

(2) Shareholders’ Enquiries

Shareholders’ enquiries about their shareholdings can be
directed to the Company’s share registrar and transfer office,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, by post to
the address at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre,
183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong or visit https://www.
computershare.com/hk/en/online_feedback. Other shareholders’
enquiries can be directed to the Company Secretarial Department
of the Company or the company secretary of the Company by post
to the principal office of the Company at Suite 6406, 64/F., Central
Plaza, 18 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong or by e-mail to
public@hk217.com and such enquiries will be put to the Board for
consideration and handling.

AN iz pm o
ERERWE

IR R R
(1) RRBBERRAESHEF

RIBEBBEDFEE22E CRARMEF) ([ A
TMEBIY J) FE566EE568K ERBBEER
RRARIRRERG ERANRER B RAE
FEELSMEARAIRR AIERKEES
FAlREAE ZERBKLARARRERREKXR
B TRESFEN —MREE WAk aE
AEEHRARBREZLIZENRAERX
K- BBERERBBENREEE  LEF
NXAFAFHRARRGHNEERER - Hoik
BE S BT BB E 189 IR E 564126406
EWHPARAFAME IUEFREAEX
Z KX &l (public@hk217. com) ° &K E R &
EE M RBER X &S H X HFHH—
HRER—BEBENREESE-

MEEEARRARIZE@HKE B &21
AR RBZR/LHERRAGEME LA
HRETNZR28RNEBRBRAS AIELRA
FAZAENRRIEZEFEEBRRANER
REBYBOBRR ATETARBRRAE
BN BROAETEEARR NI ER
BREBEF=EAERERT-

HRRBFAHBRRAE ARAIRNELE
EARKRRAENIAAR-

) KREREH

BREAFEHEEARRAKROBFELESR
BRRBHFELDERAF WUt AR B ET
ERXRERI8IKE MALI17#1712-1716
5% 48 » 235 @ https://www.computershare.
com/hk/zh/online_feedback - & 3f) H A% #
ER-BRENEBEMERTBEHETFERN
NEIMNREBETEEEISHPIRES64
EeA06EMNFEMBE RN B XRTEFH =
public@hk217.com ' BB AR AR A E 5
HARME MEBEHBREREZTESES
M BRIB o

2023 Annual Report FEH & 61



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

A iz g o
ERERWE

(3) Procedures for Putting Forward Resolutions at the

AGM

Shareholders are requested to follow sections 615 and 616 of the
Companies Ordinance for putting forward a resolution at the AGM.
The requirements and procedures are set out below:

(i)

(i)

Pursuant to section 615 of the Companies Ordinance,
shareholders may request the Company to give notice of
a resolution that is intended to be moved at the AGM to
shareholders of the Company entitled to receive notice of the
AGM. The shareholder(s) making such request must represent
at least 2.5% of the total voting rights of all shareholders
having a right to vote on the resolution at the AGM to which
the request relates, or at least 50 shareholders having a right
to vote on the resolution at the AGM to which the request
relates. Such request (a) may be sent to the Company in
hard copy form (by depositing at the principal office of the
Company at Suite 6406, 64/F., Central Plaza, 18 Harbour
Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong for the attention of the company
secretary) or in electronic form by email to public@hk217.com;
(b) must identify the resolution of which notice is to be given;
(c) must be signed by the shareholder(s) concerned; and (d)
must be received by the Company not later than 6 weeks
before the AGM to which the requests relate, or if later, the
time at which notice is given of that AGM.

Pursuant to section 616 of the Companies Ordinance,
the Company which is required under section 615 of the
Companies Ordinance to give notice of a resolution must
send a copy of it at the Company's own expense to each
shareholder entitled to receive notice of the AGM in the same
manner as the notice of the AGM and at the same time as, or
as soon as reasonably practicable after, it gives notice of the
AGM.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Company has not amended its constitutional documents during
the year.
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The Directors present the annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year.

PRINCIPAL BUSINESS

The principal business of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 16
to the financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss on page 91 of this annual report.

In order to enhance transparency of the Company and facilitate
the shareholders of the Company and investors to make informed
investment decisions relating to the Company, the Board adopted a
dividend policy on 25 February 2019 (“Dividend Policy”).

According to the Dividend Policy, when determining whether to
declare any dividend and the amount of dividend to be declared,
the Company shall consider a number of factors, including but not
limited to:

the Group’s actual and expected financial results;

o the general economic conditions and other internal or
external factors that may have an impact on the business or
financial performance and position of the Company;

o the Company’s business operation strategy, including
expected working capital requirements, capital expenditure
requirements and future expansion plans;

o the Company'’s liquidity position;

o retained earnings and distributable profit reserves of the
Company;

J the contractual restrictions on the payment of dividends
imposed by the Company’s lenders and other institutions; and

o any other factors that the Board considers to be applicable
from time to time.

The Company does not have any pre-determined dividend
distribution proportion or distribution ratio. The declaration,
payment and amount of dividends will be subject to the Board's
discretion. The Board will review the Dividend Policy on a regular
basis.
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After considering the Dividend Policy, the Directors have resolved
to recommend the payment of a final dividend of HKO0.34 cent
per ordinary share of the Company in respect of the year (2022:
HKO0.39 cent per ordinary share) subject to the approval of the
shareholders at the forthcoming AGM of the Company. The total
amount of final dividend is expected to be approximately HK$20.28
million and to be paid on Friday, 19 July 2024. Further details of
the final dividend are set out in the sub-section headed "“Results
and Dividend” in the section headed “Management Discussion
and Analysis” in this annual report and note 12 to the financial
statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment and
investment properties of the Group for the year are set out in notes
14 and 15 to the financial statements respectively.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of the share capital of the Company are set out in note 31

to the financial statements.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased,
sold or redeemed any of its listed securities during the year.

ASSET-BACKED SECURITIES

Details of the ABS issued by the Group in this year are set out in
note 29 to the financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group for the year
are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on
pages 95 to 96 of this annual report.

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Company for the
year are set out in note 33 to the financial statements.

As at 31 December 2023, the Company had approximately
HK$141,151,000 distributable reserves as calculated under sections
291, 297 and 299 of the Companies Ordinance (as at 31 December
2022: HK$178,993,000).
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DONATIONS

The Group did not make any monetary donation for charitable
purpose during the year (2022: Nil).

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in leasing, property development
and investment, and marine recreation services and hotel business.
The Group had suspended bulk commodity trade business during
the year.

A fair review of the business of the Group during the year,
an analysis of the Group’s performance using financial key
performance indicators, and an indication of the likely future
developments of the Group’s business are set out in the section
headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 11 to 33
of this annual report. These discussions form part of this directors’
report. There are no important events affecting the Group that
have occurred since the end of the year.

In addition, description of the major risks and uncertainties faced
by the Group, the Group's compliance with relevant laws and
regulations, discussions on the Group’s environmental policies and
performance, and the Group's relationships with its key employees,
customers and suppliers are also provided in the following sub-
sections of this directors’ report.

Major Risks and Uncertainties

The results and business operations of the Group may be
affected by various factors. The major risks and uncertainties are
summarised as follows:

l. Leasing

As the Group continues to grow its leasing business, the Group
may expand into new industries for new projects and customers.
However, there may be uncertainties about the development of the
Group's leasing business due to external economic environment
and changes to relevant laws and industry regulatory policies in the
PRC. Besides, there is a rising credit risk in terms of the Group's
leased assets portfolio due to the active development of the
Group's leasing business, which may affect the Group’s profitability.
In the future, the Group will continue to explore opportunities
to work with SOE and optimise the risk level of its leased assets
portfolio so as to maintain the overall business risk under control.
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IIl.  Property Development and Investment

"CCT-Champs-Elysees” is the only property development project
held by the Group which is located in Zhucheng City, Shandong
Province, the PRC and possesses a good brand image. The Group
also maintains certain commercial properties of the CCT-Champs-
Elysees project and certain office premises for rental income.
However, the ongoing sales and/or leasing of the properties are
subject to property market sentiment, general economic condition
and the government policies in the PRC. As all the construction
works of the CCT-Champs-Elysees project have been completed and
the Group is phasing out from this property development project,
and the investment properties accounted for less than 1% of the
Group’s total assets, the overall risks associated with this business
are not significant.

Ill.  Marine Recreation Services and Hotel

The operation of the marine recreation services and hotel business
is subject to, among others, the environmental protection policies,
weather conditions and public hygiene conditions. Adverse weather
conditions may affect the number of business days and the
profitability of tourism activities. The operation is thus facing a lot
of challenges, and the Group will actively pursue the restructuring
of marine recreation services and hotel business.

IV. Bulk Commodity Trade

Bulk commodity prices are affected by international and domestic
markets. Once there is a drastic volatility in prices, the profitability
of the Group may be affected. During the year, the Group had
suspended bulk commodity trade business.
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V. Operating Environment

The Group carries out most of its business activities in the PRC
and is therefore exposed to the interest rate risk derived from its
borrowings in the PRC and the foreign currency exchange risk
derived from the assets and liabilities denominated in RMB held
by the Group in Hong Kong. The fluctuation of exchange rate and
the adjustment of loan interest rate in the future may have an
impact on the performance of the Group. Although both foreign
currency exchange and interest rate have not posed significant risks
to the Group, and the Group does not currently have any hedging
measures against such exchange and interest rate risks, the Group
will continue to closely monitor such risks and adopt appropriate
measures to mitigate the risks.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

The Group constantly monitored the operation of its principal
businesses in the PRC and elsewhere to ensure compliance with the
relevant laws and regulations.

l. Leasing

During the year and up to the date of this directors’ report, the
Group has been in compliance in all material respects with the
laws and regulations in the PRC that have a significant impact
on its finance lease business, including the “Civil Code of the
People’s Republic of China”, the “Interpretations of the Supreme
People’s Court on Issues relating to the Application of Laws in the
Trial of Disputes over Finance Lease”, and judicial interpretations,
other regulations, local regulations and regulatory documents
issued or promulgated according to or in relation to these laws
and regulations. These laws and regulations aim to protect the
legitimate rights and interests of the contractual parties, maintain
social and economic order, guide the business activities of the
finance lease industry, promote the economic development of the
finance lease services, and guide the judicial authorities on hearing
the contractual disputes in respect of finance lease.
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IIl.  Property Development and Investment

During the year and up to the date of this directors’ report, the
Group has been in compliance in all material respects with the
laws and regulations in the PRC that have a significant impact on
its property development and investment businesses, including
the “Law on the Administration of Urban Real Estate of the
People’s Republic of China”, the “Law on Land Administration of
the People’s Republic of China”, the “Law on Urban and Rural
Planning of the People’s Republic of China”, the "Administrative
Regulations on Development and Operation of Urban Real Estate”,
and judicial interpretations, other regulations, local regulations and
regulatory documents issued or promulgated according to or in
relation to these laws and regulations. These laws and regulations
aim to strengthen the management of urban real estate, maintain
the order of real estate market, protect the legitimate rights and
interests of the parties interested in the real estate, and regulate
the infrastructure and housing construction on the state-owned
land within the urban planning area as well as the transfer of real
estate development projects or the sale or leasing of commercial
flats conducted by real estate development enterprises.

Ill.  Marine Recreation Services and Hotel

The Group is engaged in marine recreation services and hotel
business in Hainan Province, the PRC. During the year and up
to the date of this directors’ report, the Group has been in
compliance in all material respects with the laws and regulations
in the PRC that have a significant impact on its marine recreation
services and hotel business, including the “Tourism Law of the
People’s Republic of China”, the “Law on Maritime Traffic Safety of
the People’s Republic of China”, the “Administrative Measures for
Public Security in the Hotel Industry”, and judicial interpretations,
other regulations, local regulations and regulatory documents
issued or promulgated according to or in relation to these laws
and regulations. These laws and regulations aim to protect the
legitimate rights and interests of the tourists and the operators of
the tourism activities, maintain the order of the tourism market,
and specify the rules, the relevant supervision and management
system and the standards of punishment governing operators of
the hotel industry, vessels, seamen and operators that sail, berth
and operate in coastal area of the PRC.
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IV. Bulk Commodity Trade

During the year, the bulk commodity trade business of the Group
mainly comprised international trading of steel with a customer in
Hong Kong. There were no particular licence, permit or approval
requirements for the operation of the Group’s international
bulk commodity trade business and there were no regulatory
restrictions, such as quota restrictions and/or import and export
licensing restrictions, on the trading activities of the Group with the
customer in Hong Kong. During the year and up to the date of this
directors’ report, the Group has been in compliance in all material
respects with the laws and regulations in the PRC and Hong Kong,
as well as the relevant national and industrial standards of quality
of steel that have a significant impact on its bulk commodity trade
business.

The Group has established various management systems to ensure
the compliance with laws and regulations applicable to the Group’s
businesses and operations through measures such as internal
control and staff training. As at 31 December 2023 and the date
of this directors’ report, no material breach of laws and regulations
that have a material impact on the Group’s business and operation
during the year was noted by the Group.

Environmental Policies and Performance

The Group is mindful of the impact of environmental factors on
its long-term development and therefore has actively formulated
various corporate development strategies related to, amongst
others, energy conservation and environmental protection. During
the year, the ESG Committee monitored significant matters relating
to ESG issues and developed, formulated and implemented
environmental management policies and measures, such as water
and electricity conservation, wastewater treatment and reduction
of air pollutants and waste emissions corresponding to different
business aspects, so as to minimise the negative impact on
the environment during the business operation and commit to
implementing sustainable development.
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In order to reduce the negative impact of the supply chain on
the environment, the Group will give priority to purchasing
environmentally-friendly materials. In addition, we have
incorporated environmental protection requirements into contract
clauses, and requested our contractors and suppliers to strictly
comply with the relevant requirements of environmental protection
when performing their contractual obligations so as to promote
the sharing of responsibility for sustainable development in the
supply chain. In the future, the Group will continue to improve
its environmental policies to enhance the Group's performance in
environmental protection.

Further details of the Group’s environmental policies and
performance, together with the relevant key performance
indicators, are set out in the ESG report of the Company for the
year in compliance with the provisions set out in the ESG Reporting
Guide in Appendix C2 to the Listing Rules.

Key Relationship with Customers and Suppliers

The Group understands that it is important to maintain good
relationship with customers and provide them with quality
products and services. The Group enhances the relationship
through continuous interaction with customers to gain insight
on the changing market demand so that the Group can respond
proactively. The Group actively listens to the views of its customers
and has established various communication channels to strengthen
its communication with customers to collect their opinions. At the
same time, the Group has also established a system in place to
protect customers’ privacy. Please refer to the sections headed “3.1
Product and Service Responsibility” and “3.2 Customers’ Rights
Protection” in the ESG report of the Company for the year for
further information.

The percentage of revenue from sales of goods or rendering of

services attributable to the 5 largest customers combined was less
than 30% of the Group’s consolidated revenue for the year.
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The Group is also dedicated to maintaining good relationship with
suppliers as long-term business partners to ensure stability of the
Group's business. The Group has formulated supplier engagement
practices that regulate the procurement and/or bidding procedures
for suppliers and has established supplier evaluation system to
evaluate suppliers from different perspectives such as enterprise
qualifications, industry goodwill, financial condition and
performance of contracts etc. Please refer to the section headed
“3.3 Responsible Supply Chain Management” in the ESG report of
the Company for the year for further information.

The percentage of purchases attributable to the 5 largest suppliers
combined was less than 30% of the Group’s cost of sales for the
year.

Human Resources and Emolument Policy

The Group firmly believes that employees are important assets
and essential to its long-term success. The Group has therefore
established relevant human resources systems and implemented
people-oriented personnel policies and created an ideal career
platform for employees in order to attract more talents and build
an outstanding team. The systems cover policies which include,
but are not limited to, recruitment, promotion, dismissal, position
adjustment, working hour, remuneration and staff benefits,
attendance, performance management and appraisal and code of
conduct. The Group encourages and has enhanced communication
with the employees through meetings, performance evaluation
and intranet. The Group is obliged to protect employees’ rights, to
provide appropriate staff development and training, and safe and
healthy work environment so to enhance the Group’s sustainable
development.
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As at 31 December 2023, the Group employed a total of 253 full-
time and part-time employees (as at 31 December 2022: 269),
of which 8 (as at 31 December 2022: 11) were based in Hong
Kong and 245 (as at 31 December 2022: 258) were based in the
PRC. During the year, the total staff costs of the Group (including
directors’ emoluments and provident funds) were approximately
HK$72.62 million. Employee’s remunerations are determined in
accordance with their experiences, competence, qualifications,
nature of duties, and current market trend. Apart from basic
salary, discretionary bonus and other incentives may be offered
to employees of the Group to reward their performance and
contributions. The emoluments of the Directors are determined
having regard to the Company’s corporate goals, the roles and
duties of the Directors in the Group as well as in the group
members of the Company’s ultimate holding company.

During the year, the Company had a share option scheme (“Share
Option Scheme”) under which the Company might grant options
to the directors and eligible employees of the Group to subscribe
for shares of the Company. The Share Option Scheme expired on
26 June 2023. Details of the Share Option Scheme are set out in
the section headed “Share Option Scheme” in this directors’ report.

In addition, the Group provides or subsidises various training
programmes and courses to its employees according to business
needs, to ensure that its employees are kept abreast of the updates
in the relevant laws, regulations and guidelines, such as the Listing
Rules, accounting standards, risk management knowledge, labour
regulations and employees’ code of conduct.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and during the period beginning with
the end of the year and ending on the date of this directors’ report
are as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. ZHANG Bin (Chairman)

Mr. Gu Honglin (appointed as Managing Director
with effect from 12 January 2024)

Mr. YANG Tianzhou (resigned with effect from
12 January 2024)

Non-executive Director

Mr. WANG Daxiong (resigned with effect from
11 January 2023)
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Professor CHANG Qing
Mr. LEE Man Chun, Tony
Professor HE Jia

The biographies of the Directors are set out on pages 34 to 36 of
this annual report.

Detailed information of the Directors standing for re-election at the
forthcoming AGM of the Company will be set out in the circular
in relation to the forthcoming AGM. No Director proposed for re-
election at the forthcoming AGM has an unexpired service contract
which is not determinable by the Company within one year without
payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

The Company has received from each of the existing independent
non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of his
independence pursuant to the Listing Rules and considers that
each independent non-executive Director is independent of the
Company.

There was no arrangement under which a Director waived or
agreed to waive any emoluments during the year.

DIRECTORS OF SUBSIDIARIES

During the year and during the period beginning with the end
of the year and ending on the date of this directors’ report, the
directors of the Company’s subsidiaries incorporated in Hong Kong
and British Virgin Islands included Cui Lixia, Yu Xiongwei, Qi Hang,
Yao Yanli, Li Rui, Liu Wendong, Zhang Chuangyi, Ma Nan and Yang
Tianzhou.

During the year and during the period beginning with the end
of the year and ending on the date of this directors’ report, the
directors of the Company's PRC subsidiaries included Zhang Bin,
Yang Tianzhou, Yu Xiongwei, Zhang Chuanyi, Li Rui, Yan Ling,
Jiang Wenjie, Gu Yonglin and Huang Maozhu.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Subject to the applicable laws, every Director shall be entitled to
be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses
or liabilities which he may sustain or incur in the execution of his
duties or otherwise in relation thereto pursuant to the Articles of
Association of the Company. Such provisions were in force during
the course of the year and remained in force as of the date of this
directors’ report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS

Save for the Share Option Scheme, there has not subsisted, at any
time during the year or at the end of the year, any arrangement
to which the Group or the Company’s holding company or any
subsidiary of the Company’s holding company was a party and
whose objects were, or one of whose objects was, to enable the
Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares
in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to which
the Company, or any of its holding company, subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director (including any
person who at any time during the year was a Director) or an entity
connected with a Director had material interest (whether directly
or indirectly), was entered into or subsisted at any time during the
year.

COMPETING INTEREST

During the year, none of the Directors and their respective close
associates had any business or interests in business which competes
or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the
business of the Group.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group (other
than a contract of service with a Director or any person engaged
in the full-time employment of the Company) was entered into or
existed during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2023, the Directors and chief executive of the
Company who had any interests or short positions in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
as recorded in the register required to be kept under section 352
of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code are as follows:

Long Position

Interests in the
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Zhang Bin The Company Beneficial owner Ordinary 314,642 0.01%
SR 8, Z\N/NG] EnEEA =R

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, none of the
Directors or the chief executive of the Company had any interest
or short position in the shares, underlying shares or debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) that was required to be recorded
in the register required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO
or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

As at 31 December 2023, so far as was known to the Directors,
the following persons, other than the Directors or chief executive
of the Company, had interests or short positions in the shares
or underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register
required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO:
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Long Position wE
Approximate
percentage of
issued share
capital of the
Company as at
Class of Number of 31 December
Name of shareholder Nature of interest shares shares 2023
R-B-=F
+=BA=+—8
HIEERQ TS BT
BREHE EatE % 4 5 5l g g =
CCHK Beneficial owner (Note) Ordinary 3,169,656,217 53.14%
R E EmmA AN (M) H s
CCHG Interest in controlled Ordinary 3,169,656,217 53.14%
FiRGREE corporation (Note) TE

REHEEE S (HiF)

Note: The entire issued share capital of CCHK is beneficially owned by CCHG.
Under the SFO, CCHG is deemed to be interested in all the shares of the
Company held by CCHK.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, so far as was
known to the Directors, no other person, other than the Directors
or chief executive of the Company, had any interest or short
position in the shares or underlying shares of the Company as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 336 of the SFO.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company had adopted the Share Option Scheme on 27
June 2013. The purpose of the Share Option Scheme was to
provide incentives or rewards to participants thereunder for their
contribution to the Group and/or to enable the Group to recruit
and retain high-caliber employees and attract human resources
that were valuable to the Group and any invested entity. The Share
Option Scheme expired on 26 June 2023.

Under the then prevailing terms of the Share Option Scheme,
eligible participants of the Share Option Scheme include (a) any
employee (whether full time or part time, including any executive
director but excluding any non-executive director) of, or any
individual for the time being seconded to work for, the Company,
any subsidiary or any entity in which any member of the Group
holds any equity interest (“Invested Entity”) or any employee or
officer of the controlling shareholder of the Company; (b) any non-
executive director (including independent non-executive directors)
of the Company, any subsidiary of the Company or any Invested
Entity; (c) any suppliers of goods or services to any member of the
Group or any Invested Entity; (d) any customer of the Group or
any Invested Entity; (e) any person or entity that provides research,
development or other technological support to the Group or any
Invested Entity; (f) any shareholder of any member of the Group
or any Invested Entity or any holder of any securities issued or
proposed to be issued by any member of the Group or any Invested
Entity; (g) any adviser (professional or otherwise) or consultant to
the Group relating to any area of business or business development
of any member of the Group or any Invested Entity; and (h)
any joint venture or business partner of the Group who have
contributed or may contribute to the development and growth of
the Group. Following the amendments to Chapter 17 of the Listing
Rules which came into effect on 1 January 2023, the Company
had not granted any option to any person who was not an eligible
participant defined under the amended Listing Rules.
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Ordinary shares of the Company would be allotted and issued
upon the exercise of the options granted under the Share Option
Scheme. The total number of shares of the Company which might
be allotted and issued upon exercise of all options to be granted
under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option scheme
of the Group must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the shares of
the Company in issue as at the date on which the Share Option
Scheme was adopted (i.e. not exceeding 484,073,477 shares). As
no share option has been granted under the Share Option Scheme
since its adoption, the number of options available for grant
under the Share Option Scheme limit as at 1 January 2023 and the
maximum number of shares of the Company which might be issued
upon exercise of all options that might be granted under the Share
Option Scheme limit as at 1 January 2023 was 484,073,477 shares
(representing approximately 8.12% of the issued share capital of
the Company as at the date of this annual report). The maximum
number of shares which might be allotted and issued upon exercise
of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under
the Share Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of
the Group must not in aggregate exceed 30% of the issued share
capital of the Company (or its subsidiaries) from time to time.

The total number of shares issued and which might fall to be
issued upon exercise of the options granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of the Group
(including both exercised, cancelled or outstanding options) to each
participant in any 12-month period should not exceed 1% of the
issued share capital of the Company. Any further grant of options
in excess of such limit in any 12-month period up to and including
the date of such further grant should be subject to shareholders’
approval in general meeting of the Company with such participant
and his/her associates abstaining from voting.

An offer of the grant of an option under the Share Option Scheme
might be accepted within 21 days from the date of grant together
with a remittance of HK$1.00 by way of consideration for the
grant thereof. An option might be exercised during such period as
the Board might in its absolute discretion determine, save that such
period should not be more than 10 years from the date of grant.

Unless the Directors otherwise determine and state in the offer
to a grantee, a grantee was not required to hold an option for
any minimum period nor achieve any performance targets before
any options granted under the Share Option Scheme could be
exercised.
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The subscription price for the shares of the Company on the
exercise of the option should be determined at the discretion of the
Board which should not be less than the highest of (i) the closing
price of the Company's shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's
daily quotations sheet on the date of grant; (ii) the average closing
price of the Company’s shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheets for the five trading days immediately
preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the
Company'’s shares (note).

Please refer to the circular of the Company dated 28 May 2013 for
more details of the Share Option Scheme.

During the year, no option was granted, exercised, cancelled or
lapsed under the Share Option Scheme. There was no option
outstanding at the beginning of the year and on the expiry date of
the Share Option Scheme on 26 June 2023.

Note: Pursuant to the Companies Ordinance, which came into operation on 3

March 2014, the shares of the Company have ceased to have nominal
value

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

No equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Company
during the year or subsisted at the end of the year.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

On 20 July 2022, the Company and CCHG entered into the finance
lease services framework agreement (“Framework Agreement”),
pursuant to which the relevant member of the Group (as lessor) will
provide finance lease services, in relation to certain leased assets
to be selected, to the relevant member of the CCHG group (as
lessee) which comprises CCHG, its subsidiaries and 30%-controlled
companies but excluding the Group and Chengtong World Trade
Limited (“CCHG Group”) by way of, including but not limited to,
sale and leaseback services and direct finance lease services:

(i) under the sale and leaseback services, the relevant member
of the Group (as lessor) would purchase the leased assets
from the relevant member of the CCHG Group (as lessee) at a
purchase price (i.e. the principal amount), and then lease such
leased assets to the relevant member of the CCHG Group in
return for lease payments; and
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(i) under the direct finance lease services, the relevant member
of the Group (as lessor) would purchase the leased assets from
the relevant supplier or seller pursuant to the instructions
given by the relevant member of the CCHG Group (as lessee),
and then lease such leased assets to the relevant member of
the CCHG Group in return for lease payments.

The relevant member(s) of the CCHG Group and the relevant
member(s) of the Group may from time to time enter into
individual agreements (“Individual Agreements”) in relation to
the subject matters contemplated under the Framework Agreement
upon and subject to the terms and conditions in compliance with
those of the Framework Agreement.

The Framework Agreement is of a term effective from 8 September
2022, being the date of approval of the same by the independent
shareholders of the Company at a general meeting, to 31
December 2024 (both days inclusive), and the contract periods of
the Individual Agreements are expected to range from one year to
Six years.

The amount of lease payments to be received by the Group may be
calculated based on a fixed lease interest rate or a variable lease
interest rate linked to the LPRs, and shall be fair and reasonable,
determined after arm’s length negotiation between the relevant
member of the Group and the CCHG Group taking into account
the prevailing market conditions when the relevant Individual
Agreement is entered into. The lease payments shall be paid by
the lessee during the lease term by installments, which may be
quarterly, semi-annually or otherwise, in the manner to be specified
in the relevant Individual Agreement.

The annual caps on the total principal and lease payments (taking
into account the aggregate amounts of interests and other
payables (including handling fees)) receivable by the Group for the
transactions contemplated under the Framework Agreement for
the years ended 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2023 and
the year ending 31 December 2024 are RMB500 million, RMB1,021
million and RMB1,677 million respectively.

Further details of the Framework Agreement are set out in the
announcement and circular of the Company dated 20 July 2022
and 22 August 2022 respectively.
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As at 31 December 2023, the total outstanding balance of the
principal and lease payments (taking into account the aggregate
amounts of interests and other payables (including handling fees))
receivable by the Group for the transactions contemplated under
the Framework Agreement was approximately RMB55.60 million.
The maximum outstanding balance of the principal and lease
payments (taking into account the aggregate amounts of interests
and other payables) receivable by the Group for the transactions
contemplated under the Framework Agreement during the year
has not exceeded the relevant annual cap for the year ended 31
December 2023.

As at the date of the Framework Agreement, CCHG was interested
in approximately 53.14% of the total issued share capital of the
Company and was the ultimate holding company of the Company.
Thus, CCHG was a connected person of the Company under
the Listing Rules. As such, the transactions contemplated under
the Framework Agreement constituted continuing connected
transactions of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

The Company has established certain internal control and risk
management procedures to ensure that the continuing connected
transactions with the CCHG Group were conducted in accordance
with the Framework Agreement. All independent non-executive
Directors have reviewed the continuing connected transactions with
the CCHG Group and confirmed that such transactions have been
entered into:

(@) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(b) on normal commercial terms or better; and

(c) in accordance with the relevant agreements governing them,
and on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests
of the shareholders of the Company as a whole.
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The Company's auditor, Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited (“Baker
Tilly"), was engaged to report on the continuing connected
transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance
Engagements 3000 (Revised), “Assurance Engagements Other
than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and
with reference to Practice Note 740 (Revised), “Auditor’s Letter
on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Baker Tilly has issued a letter containing its
conclusions in respect of the continuing connected transactions
with the CCHG Group in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the
Listing Rules. The Board has reviewed such letter and acknowledged
that the auditor has confirmed the following:

(@) nothing has come to their attention that causes them to
believe that the continuing connected transactions with the
CCHG Group have not been approved by the Board;

(b) for transactions involving the provision of goods or services
by the Group, nothing has come to their attention that causes
them to believe that the transactions were not, in all material
respects, in accordance with the pricing policies of the Group;

(c) nothing has come to their attention that causes them to
believe that the transactions were not entered into, in all
material respects, in accordance with the relevant agreements
governing such transactions; and

(d) with respect to the aggregate amount of the transactions,
nothing has come to their attention that causes them to
believe that the continuing connected transactions with the
CCHG Group have exceeded the annual cap as set by the
Company.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTION

On 11 September 2023, Hainan Huandao Travel Investment Group
Co., Ltd ("Huandao Travel Investment”), an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, as lender, entered into an
entrusted loan agreement with Industrial Bank Co. Ltd. (Haikou
Branch) (“Bank”), as entrustee, and China Huandao Group Limited
(“China Huandao Group"”), as borrower, pursuant to which
Huandao Travel Investment agreed to entrust the Bank to provide a
loan in the principal amount of RMB25 million to China Huandao
Group for a term of two years from 11 September 2023 to 10
September 2025 or from the actual withdrawal date of such loan
(being 12 September 2023) (“Entrusted Loan Arrangement”).
The interest rate for the entrusted loan is 8% per annum and the
interest will be paid annually. China Huandao Group is a company
established in the PRC and a wholly-owned subsidiary of CCHG,
the ultimate holding company of the Company, and is therefore
a connected person of the Company and the Entrusted Loan
Arrangement constituted a connected transaction for the Company
under the Listing Rules. Further details of the Entrusted Loan
Arrangement are set out in the announcements of the Company
dated 11 September 2023 and 13 September 2023.

The Directors confirm that the related party transactions during
the year as disclosed in note 34(a) to the financial statements fall
under the definition of “connected transaction” or “continuing
connected transaction” (as the case may be) in Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules. The Directors confirm that the Company has,
where applicable, complied with the disclosure requirements in
accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The Directors confirm that the related party transactions during
the year as disclosed in notes 34(b) and 34(c) to the financial
statements do not fall under the definition of “connected
transaction” or “continuing connected transaction” (as the case
may be) in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed above and in note 34(a) to the financial
statements, (i) no contract of significance was entered into by and/
or subsisted between the Group and the controlling shareholder
or any of its subsidiaries during the year; and (ii) no contract of
significance in relation to provision of services by the controlling
shareholder or any of its subsidiaries to the Group was entered into
and/or subsisted during the year.
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ESEHRE

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the latest practicable date prior to the issue of this annual
report, based on information that was publicly available to the
Company and to the best knowledge of the Directors, the Directors
confirmed that the Company had maintained sufficient public float
as required under the Listing Rules.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the Group’s results and its assets and liabilities for
the year and the past four financial years is set out on pages 243
to 244 of this annual report.

CHANGE OF AUDITOR

BDO Limited ("BDO") has resigned as the auditor of the Company
with effect from 25 November 2022. With the recommendation
of the Audit Committee, the Board has resolved to appoint Baker
Tilly as the new auditor of the Company to fill the casual vacancy
arising from the resignation of BDO and to hold office until the
conclusion of the AGM held on 26 June 2023. By way of an
ordinary resolution passed in the AGM held on 26 June 2023,
Baker Tilly was re-appointed as the auditor of the Company to hold
office until the forthcoming AGM.

Save as disclosed above, there was no other change in the auditor
of the Company in any of the preceding three years.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year
have been audited by Baker Tilly.

A resolution will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM of the
Company to re-appoint Baker Tilly as auditor of the Company.

By order of the Board

Zhang Bin
Chairman

Hong Kong, 8 March 2024
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

@ bakertllly
7N 4 57] 5

Independent auditor’s report to the members of China
Chengtong Development Group Limited

(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Chengtong Development Group Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on
pages 91 to 241, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2023, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2023, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the
Group in accordance with the HKICPA's “Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants” (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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B BETRE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

AEETER

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional FEHEFFHEIZRBERMANDZLHE R A
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the ¥ ARHIM&A Hﬂ‘%#ﬁ%fﬂﬁ%ﬁ?%ixﬂ’]
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These FE - ELZBERAERMBFBREGEAUH
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the FHEARHEEARETEEN - HMISY
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our EEFHEREHEBFBHER -

opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on

these matters.

Key audit matter
HREETEE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BEMETELGRNNEERARETEE

Impairment assessment of finance lease receivables and loan receivables

BB R WA B R B ROz RE R

We identified the impairment assessment of finance lease
receivables and loan receivables as a key audit matter
due to the significance of finance lease receivables and
loan receivables to the consolidated financial statements
as a whole and the use of judgement and estimates by
management in assessing the recoverability of finance lease
receivables and loan receivables.

AP35 &L & 10 & FE W sk TE K e U B SR R (B T 1 B Rl R
REFFE DARNBREHERERERERERE RS W
BHREBEEMEBEERN BEBEERNTAREMERIKIE
K2 JE W B R A AT UK [B] 14 B 45 R e O R A e

Management performed periodic assessment on the
recoverability of the finance lease receivables and loan
receivables and the sufficiency of impairment loss
allowance based on information including credit profile of
the borrowers, historical settlement records, subsequent
settlement status, ageing of the finance lease receivables
and loan receivables, value of the collaterals and expected
timing and amount of realisation of outstanding balances.
Management also considered forward-looking information
that may impact the ability of the borrowers to repay the
outstanding balances in order to estimate the expected
credit losses for the impairment assessment.

ERBERBERAZEEEN BEERLHE HEREX
R RERERWFIARERER Rk BEFREEN
NERREREHR APRARSECTHTIEREREE
WHRIEREWRERZERATKE MR EEEEEET R -E
BENEZEEARTEERAEBERERERZS ﬁZmﬁ
HER  AEEHREMN G BREEEE-

As set out in note 20 to the consolidated financial
statements, as at 31 December 2023, the Group had
gross finance lease receivables and loan receivables of
approximately HK$8,932,432,000 and impairment loss
allowance of approximately HK$64,670,000.
WIS B MERMA 208 R E_=F+=-A=+—
H EBE5EREEHERKREREBRERABOR/BE
8,932,432,0007T N i 1B E5 18 # 1% 4 /58 64,670,000 7T ©

Our procedures in relation to the management’s
impairment assessment on finance lease receivables
and loan receivables included:

B ATt B HE S A A MOR TR R B IR R 2 R
BEFHETZIEFBEE:

o obtaining an understanding of the Group’s
expected credit loss policy and methodology
for impairment assessment;

TH EEECZEHGEEFSRARRNEABOM
B E A

° reviewing the reasonableness of management’s
estimation in expected timing of collection
and the credit quality of individual borrowers,
including the background of the borrowers and
their credit worthiness, collection history and
value of collaterals;

B EREENEHRFASEERENERAZ
12/\’%%213#(@%%%’(/\2”5 =8
Wik R EFRREE) RETAE

o checking the completeness and accuracy of
the ageing classification of the finance lease
receivables and loan receivables balances on a
sampling basis; and
MEAZE R EHE RUCRIE KB E A
ZHREDBERE TR MERE &

o Evaluating the reasonableness of the forward-
looking information management has taken
into account.

HEEEEMERMNATELEEN ZEE M-
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.
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BYZBA RS

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion solely to you,
as a body, in accordance with section 405 of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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BYZBA RS

From the matter communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine this matter that was of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and is therefore the key audit matter. We
describe this matter in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Chau Fong, Lily.

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 8 March 2024

Chau Fong, Lily

Practising Certificate Number PO8090

a0 China Chengtong Development Group Limited FEIFE# R EB AR AT

fEEREABZEET HMABTHAH
BMGEAVBBREZBIEBEEZTR
MEK S ET FH  RIIERBEN RS S
Wz E SR8 RIPDEAEIER T A AR
BEZEFER XEBRFERLZBERT K
EEBHAERMNRSTEBRFHEK
ZEEERBHARBRZ ARNEE IR
PPREFNEERETEEZEFSR-

HARBYZEMBRENEFTBRBEEER
JE35 o

ABEBGHMEEAERLA
HEDE A

EFEH - —ET-_WE=A/\H

Aax

HEFERILP0S090



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

= = 2
meEBEmK
For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE T =+ _A=+—HIFE

2023 2022
—_E_-= —EFE-=
(Re-presented)
(&)
Notes HK$’000 HK$°000
ik:3 BT T BT T
Revenue B 5 740,011 1,277,390
Cost of sales 56 A A (443,275) (1,025,044)
Gross profit and net interest EFMNEFE WA FE
income 296,736 252,346
Other income and gains, net N NN 7 22,281 24,829
Selling expenses HEEBA (12,112) (12,528)
Administrative expenses TEE R (101,202) (116,013)
Impairment losses under expected EHEEERENE 10
credit loss model, net of reversal TZRERE Mk (48,584) (4,604)
Fair value loss on investment KEMEZ N TFEER 15
properties (4,541) (6,238)
Finance costs Bl & AR 8 (31,077) (15,561)
Profit before tax RR B A0 % R 121,501 122,231
Income tax expense FriEBiF X 9 (53,084) (44,943)
Profit for the year FREF 10 68,417 77,288
Profit for the year attributable EAEFEREF
to:
Owners of the Company KARHER A 68,003 76,066
Non-controlling interests FE 12 iR 7 414 1,222
68,417 77,288
Earnings per share BRER
— Basic and diluted —EARREE 13 HK1.14 cents HK1.28 cents
1.145%8 4L 1.287%8 1
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

RERaRkHEMEEIER

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z_=_F+_RA=+—HIFE

2023 2022
—E=-= —E-—
HK$’000 HK$'000
BEF T BT
Profit for the year F i Fl 68,417 77,288
Other comprehensive (expense),” Hith 2@ (BAX) /EW
income, net of tax HEEH
Items that will not be reclassified to TR EF AL B
profit or loss: HH
Net change in fair value of equity BATFEFAEMEEK
investments at fair value through HHEmRENATE
other comprehensive income e (35,866) (11,526)
Revaluation surplus upon transfer of ERVEERIREMER
owner-occupied properties to B E &R
investment properties 1,049 -
Item that may be reclassified to AREEFN D IEEEm
profit or loss: HAH -
Exchange differences arising on HINFE 7 & EE A H BE 3,
translation of foreign operations =% (81,810) (240,005)
Total comprehensive expense for FRAZEHMAZAEE
the year (48,210) (174,243)
Total comprehensive (expense),” EE2E (X)) WE
income attributable to: B
Owners of the Company RARHEB A (48,624) (175,465)
Non-controlling interests FEIE IR R A 414 1,222
(48,210) (174,243)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

A BRI R

As at 31 December 2023
WZZEZ=F+=-—A=+—H

2023 2022
—_B—-= —EF-=
(Re-presented)
(4€E )
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
k23 BEET T JEMT T
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y- BENRRE 14 577,482 702,054
Investment properties "EME 15 80,993 85,096
Finance lease receivables and B E T E W FRIE X
loan receivables JE W E 3R 20 4,904,640 4,989,666
Other financial assets EMmemEE 22 4,656 8,477
Loans to related parties BYHERER 21(a) 27,500 -
Deferred tax assets REBIEEE 30 16,136 3,958
5,611,407 5,789,251
Current assets REBEE
Properties held for sale BIEHEWE 17 198,869 63,927
Properties under development BRAYE 17 - 182,767
Inventories FE 18 3,848 6,861
Trade and other receivables B 5 K E th fE YRR 19 52,899 108,326
Finance lease receivables and B E T E W FRIE &
loan receivables JE W E 3R 20 3,963,122 3,227,908
Loans to related parties BRY@EERER 21(a) — 33,900
Other financial assets HhemEE 22 27,686 60,706
Tax recoverable A Y [ 14 18 1,814 1,528
Pledged bank deposits BIEFRITTER 23 11,972 61,709
Bank balances and cash RITHEFELRS 23 698,579 472,852
4,958,789 4,220,484
Current liabilities REafE
Trade and other payables B 5 K E th B OB 25 239,374 390,832
Contract liabilities ARAE 26 136,065 139,246
Lease liabilities HEAE 27 3,767 3,874
Tax payables FER 1A 31,589 25,699
Bank borrowings RITEE 28 2,018,666 1,969,931
Asset-backed securities BEIR#S 29 1,510,200 1,472,916
Loans from related parties REBEFER 21(b) 165,000 101,700
4,104,661 4,104,198
Net current assets REBEEFE 854,128 116,286
Total assets less current liabilities BEERARBEE 6,465,535 5,905,537
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

REMBAARRR
As at 31 December 2023
RZBEZ=F+ZA=+—H
2023 2022
—E-= —E-—
(Re-presented)
(4 &%)
Notes HK$°000 HK$°000
B it B F T BT
Non-current liabilities FREBEE
Lease liabilities HEEE 27 3,227 4,399
Bank borrowings RITEE 28 1,729,237 1,197,074
Asset-backed securities BEIR/RES 29 1,496,017 1,229,353
Loans from related parties KEBEBEAER 21(b) = 237,300
Other payables H fth JE < 5RIB 25 333,191 252,529
Deferred tax liabilities BREHIAERE 30 43,760 49,632
3,605,432 2,970,287
Net assets EEFE 2,860,103 2,935,250
Capital and reserves B A R
Share capital [N 31 2,214,624 2,214,624
Reserves & 640,419 712,305
Equity attributable to owners of RNATHREB AEEZ
the Company iy 2,855,043 2,926,929
Non-controlling interests JEVER = 5,060 8,321
Total equity 48R 2 2,860,103 2,935,250
The consolidated financial statements on pages 91 to 241 FUNEE2MBZ2HEEMBRERER T
were approved and authorised for issue by the board of _HE=ZRAN\BHREFSHERRERT
directors on 8 March 2024 and are signed on its behalf by: WEHATEEREREZGHE:
Zhang Bin Gu Honglin
RIE B AR
Director Director

EBEF EF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BT - —F+-_A=+—HALLFE
Equity attributable to owners of the Company
ARAERAEEZER
Financial assets
Shares held Employee at fair value
forshare  share-based through other Non-
Share Capital ~ Statutory ~ General risk award  com comprehensi I Exchange  Retained controlling
capital reserve reserve reserve scheme reserve  income reserve reserve reserve profits — Sub-total interests Total
BRGEE RATEHAL
-RER  dERE MRGXAEH  B2EREZ
R EREE  ERHE L R EEMEHE  SREEEE  ERERE  EXEE  REEA Nt FBRER At
HK$000 HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000 HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000
BEFn  EETr BEFn BETr BEFn A¥Tr B¥Tn  ERTr BEFn BETT BRFn BT BRTn
At 1 January 2022 R-F--§-A-B 2,214,624 2814 110,416 - (6,494) 702 (126,537) 3970 15,745 919,363 3,134,603 7,099 3,141,702
Profit for the year EREH - - - - - - - - - 76,066 76,066 1,222 71,288
Other comprehensive expense: EHRERT:
Exchange differences arising on HENEEENELZE
translation of foreign
operations - - - - - - - - (240,005) - (240,005) - (240,005)
Net change in fair value of BRATEFALR2EREL
financial assets at fair value SREEIATERED
through other comprehensive
income - - - - - - (11,526) - - - (11,526) - (11,526)
Total comprehensive ER2E(BX) /hH4E
(expense),/income for
the year - - - - - - (11,526) - (240,005 76,066 (175,465) 122 (174243
Dividend paid (note 12) BRRE (Fi12) - - - - - - - - - (32209 (32,009 - (32209
Appropriation to statutory BRTETHE
reserve - - 16,495 - - - - - - (16,495) - - -
Appropriation to general risk GRE-RERRER
reserve - - - 91,899 - - - - - (91,899) - - -
At 31 December 2022 R=Bz=f+zf=1-A 2,214,624 2814 126,911 91,899 (6,494) 702 (138,063) 3970 (224260) 854,826 2,926,929 8321 2935250
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN

REERRER

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z_=_F+_RA=+—HIFE

Equity attributable to owners of the Company

EQUITY

ENRAREARG 2 EE
Financial assets
Shares held  Employee at fair value
for share  share-based through other Non-
Share Capital  Statutory General risk award compensati prehensi I Exchange  Retained controlling
capital reserve reserve reserve scheme reserve  income reserve reserve reserve profits ~ Sub-total interests Total
RAFEHAR
-RER ARGERT NROXGN  H2EKEZ
Bk ERBE  tEEE HE UEEZRH EEMERRE CMEERR  EMEE  EXER REEM Mt FERES Eh
HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000 — HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS000
E¥Tn  ERFn EETn ERTR ARF7 ERTR ARFr  BRTR ERFn E¥Tn ERFn EMTL ERFa
At 1 January 2023 R-B-Z%-A-B 2,214,624 2814 126911 91,899 (6,494) 702 (138,063) 3970 (2242600 854826 2,926,929 8321 2,935,250
Profit for the year ERER - - - - - - - - - 68,003 68,003 414 68,417
Other comprehensive 228 (F%) /h&:
(expense),/income:
Exchange differences arising SNEFEEENELZE
on translation of foreign
operations - - - - - - - - (81,810) - (81,810) - (81,810)
Net change in fair value of BATEF AR B2 EYEL
financial assets at fair value SREEZLTHEESD
through other comprehensive
income - - - - - - (35,866) - - - (35,866) - (35,366)
Revaluation surplus upon BRNEERRENERL
transfer of owner-occupied EffRH
properties to investment
properties - - - - - - - 1,049 - - 1,049 - 1,049
Total comprehensive ERRE(BR) /hELE
(expense) /income for
the year - - - - - - (35,866) 1,049 (81,810) 68,003 (48,624) 414 (48,210)
Dividend paid (note 12) BRRE (W) - - - - - - - - - (26) (326 - (3262
Dividend paid to Ef-HHER RN LR
non-controlling interests ERHRE
of a subsidiary - - - - - - - - - - - (3,675) (3,675)
Appropriation to statutory ERTETHE
reserve - - 26,592 - - - - - - (26,592) - - -
Appropriation to general risk ERE-FEREE
reserve - - - 1,763 - - - - - (7,763) - - -
At 31 December 2023 RZBZZE+Zf=1-8 2,214,624 2,814 153,503 99,662 (6,494) 702 (173,929) 5019 (306,070) 865212 2,855,043 5060 2,860,103
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
RERIRER

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE T =+ _A=+—HIFE

2023 2022
—_E_-= —_=E-=
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
bt &t BETF T BT T
Operating activities REEH
Profit before tax B 156 Bl & A 121,501 122,231
Adjustments for: TELATIEB FE
Interest income MEHKA 7 (18,628) (16,702)
Dividend income & 24 A 7 (46) (63)
Interest expense =N 8 288,570 171,332
Depreciation of property, M- BEREHZ
plant and equipment e 10 106,053 39,991
Fair value loss on investment "EMEZ ATFE
properties &8 15 4,541 6,238
Loss on disposal of property, HEME BEX
plant and equipment HE B E 10 123 342
Loss on lease modification HEBFEE 578 -
Gain on disposal of investment HEREMEZ W
properties 7 (255) (1,786)
Impairment loss on financial THMEEZRERSE
assets, net F 5 10 48,584 4,604
Operating cash flows before RETEEESBHA
movements in working capital KEBSRE 551,021 326,187
Decrease in properties held for sale/ FIELEME ERESP
properties under development eV 41,277 7,506
Decrease in inventories FE R D 2,899 16,144
Decrease,/ (increase) in trade and g 5 Kk E AW FRIA
other receivables A () 53,290 (28,308)
Increase in finance lease receivables B & 7H & R IE K
and loan receivables FE W E SR8 AN (914,390) (2,855,761)
(Decrease) increase in trade and 25N EMESFRIE
other payables CRA) /1 (46,538) 302,587
Increase in contract liabilities SRAEEM 466 12,143
Cash used in operations REERFTAZRS (311,975) (2,219,502)
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid EX B BENEH - (650)
PRC withholding tax paid EX R EENR (7,453) -
PRC Enterprise Income Tax paid EXMzHPBEEMEH (53,593) (53,746)
PRC Land Appreciation Tax paid Bz B LI ER (2,225) (2,389)
Net cash used in operating activities ZE& EZBH A 2B S EHE (375,246) (2,276,287)
Investing activities REEH
Interest received B U B 18,664 13,917
Dividend received 2 B 46 63
Purchase of property, plant and BEYWE BELERE
equipment (337) (456,077)
Purchase of investment properties BEREWE - (1,762)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME BELEZE
plant and equipment B BT 1S 318 = 98
Proceeds from disposal of HEREMENE
investment properties IE 1,024 4,327
Repayment of loan from a BEKE -—BHEETH
related party B 5,500 11,600
Release of pledged bank deposits BREEFRITER 57,411 -
Placement of pledged bank deposits FABEMRITFRK (9,312) (59,162)
Net cash generated from/ RETBEE
(used in) investing activities (FFA)ZBRSEEE 72,996 (486,996)
2023 Annual Report FEHE 97




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

MEEERER
For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE-_Z-_=F+-_A=+—HLFE
2023 2022
—_E_-= —EFE-=
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
iikz3 EB¥ T BT T
Financing activities REEE
Interest paid 2 AT HLE 24 (291,551) (170,814)
New bank borrowings raised MEEZHRITEE 24 3,050,075 3,383,125
Repayment of bank borrowings BEFETEE 24 (2,400,860) (1,539,480)
Repayment of lease liabilities EBEHEaRE 24 (3,597) (7,232)
Interest paid on lease liabilities HEBGBZEMME 24 (263) (224)
Loans from related parties KEBEBERHER 24 = 510,960
Repayment of loans to related BEKBBEETNER
parties 24 (165,000) (209,520)
Proceeds from issuance of BITEEYRBESLHN
asset-backed securities FriS k18 24 2,730,200 1,500,800
Repayment of asset-backed BEEEIRFES
securities 24 (2,356,834) (1,570,955)
Dividends paid to the shareholders EARBRFRE
of the Company 12 (23,262) (32,209)
Dividends paid to non-controlling BT E A SR
interests of a subsidiary FE T % B 16 (3,675) -
Net cash generated from METBELEZRS
financing activities FEE 535,233 1,864,451
Net increase/(decrease) in cash BHERBREEEY
and cash equivalents #h, CRd) BE 232,983 (898,832)
Cash and cash equivalents at REDzREREELE
beginning of the year B 472,852 1,380,259
Effect of foreign exchange rate NEEXEBITE
changes (7,256) (8,575)
Cash and cash equivalents at RERZREREESE
end of the year EWY 698,579 472,852
Analysis of components of RERESEEYWER
cash and cash equivalents: 2R
Bank balances and cash RITEFERS 698,579 472,852
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GENERAL INFORMATION

China Chengtong Development Group Limited (the
“Company”) is a public limited company incorporated
in Hong Kong. The address of its registered office and its
principal place of business is Suite 6406, 64/F., Central Plaza,
18 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong. The Company
is an investment holding company. The Company and its
subsidiaries (hereinafter referred to as the "Group”) are
principally engaged in investment holding, leasing, property
development and investment, marine recreation services and
hotel business. During the year ended 31 December 2023,
the Group has suspended the bulk commodity trade business,
which enable the Group to better focus on other core
business.

The Company’s shares are listed on the Main Board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). As at 31 December 2023, the Company’s
immediate holding company is China Chengtong Hong Kong
Company Limited, which is incorporated in Hong Kong and
the directors of the Company consider the Group’s ultimate
holding company to be China Chengtong Holdings Group
Limited (“CCHG"), a company incorporated in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC").

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong Dollar ("HK$"), which is also the functional currency of
the Company.

e MBRRIE
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6406%F c NN R B —EIREER AT -
KRR REMBAR (KB AIAXE
B )ZZREREER -HE WES
B A% & 5 £ R AR 35 A [E 275
BE T -_=F+-_A=+—HI#&F
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SAREBEREPNEE TR EMZLER -

ARBZENNREBABARIMAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

100

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

2.1 New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following new
and amendments to HKFRSs and Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first time,
which are mandatorily effective for the Group’s annual period
beginning on 1 January 2023 for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements:

HKFRS 17 (including the
October 2020 and February
2022 Amendments to
HKFRS 17)

Insurance Contracts

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates

Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from

a Single Transaction

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform-

Pillar Two model Rules

Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting
Policies

Except as described below, the application of the new
and amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had
no material impact on the Group’s financial positions and
performance for the current and prior years and/or on the
disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 8 — Definition of Accounting
Estimates

The amendments provide further guidance on the distinction
between changes in accounting policies and changes in
accounting estimates. The amendments do not have a
material impact on these financial statements as the Group’s
approach in distinguishing changes in accounting policies
and changes in accounting estimates is consistent with the
amendments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

2.1 New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year
(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2 —
Disclosure of Accounting Policies

The amendments require entities to disclose material
accounting policy information and provide guidance on
applying the concept of materiality to accounting policy
disclosure. The Group has revisited the accounting policy
information it has been disclosing and considered it is
consistent with the amendments.

Amendments to HKAS 12 — Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction

The amendments narrow the scope of the initial recognition
exemption such that it does not apply to transactions that give
rise to equal and offsetting temporary differences on initial
recognition such as leases and decommissioning liabilities. For
leases and decommissioning liabilities, the associated deferred
tax assets and liabilities are required to be recognised from
the beginning of the earliest comparative period presented,
with any cumulative effect recognised as an adjustment to
retained earnings or other components of equity at that
date. For all other transactions, the amendments are applied
to those transactions that occur after the beginning of the
earliest period presented. Following the amendments, the
Group has determined the temporary differences in relation to
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities separately. The change
primarily impacts disclosures of components of deferred tax
assets and liabilities in note 30, but does not impact the
overall deferred tax balances presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position as the related deferred tax
balances qualify for offsetting under HKAS 12.

2
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

102

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

2.2 New HKICPA guidance on the accounting
implications of the abolition of the MPF-LSP
offsetting mechanism

In June 2022, the Hong Kong SAR Government (the
“Government”) gazetted the Hong Kong Employment and
Retirement Schemes Legislation (Offsetting Arrangement)
(Amendment) Ordinance 2022 (the “Amendment
Ordinance”), which will come into effect from 1 May 2025
(the “Transition Date”). Once the Amendment Ordinance
takes effect, an employer can no longer use any of the
accrued benefits derived from its mandatory contributions
to Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”) scheme to reduce the
long service payment (“LSP”) in respect of an employee’s
service from the Transition Date (the abolition of the
"offsetting mechanism”). In addition, the LSP in respect of
the service before the Transition Date will be calculated based
on the employee’s monthly salary immediately before the
Transition Date and the years of service up to that date.

In July 2023, the HKICPA published “Accounting implications
of the abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting mechanism in Hong
Kong” that provides accounting guidance relating to the
offsetting mechanism and the abolition of the mechanism.
The abolition of the offsetting mechanism did not have a
material impact on the Group’s results and financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

2.3 Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective

The Group has not early applied the following amendments
to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture'

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback?

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to Hong

Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)?

Amendments to HKAS 1

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants?
Supplier Finance Arrangement?

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 7
and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be

determined.
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024.
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025.

Except for the amendments to HKFRSs mentioned below, the
directors of the Company anticipate that the application of
all other amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact
on the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable
future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

104

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

2.3 Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) (the “2020 Amendments”)
and Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants (the “2022 Amendments”)

The 2020 Amendments provide clarification and additional
guidance on the assessment of right to defer settlement for
at least twelve months from reporting date for classification
of liabilities as current or non-current, which:

o clarify that if a liability has terms that could, at the
option of the counterparty, result in its settlement by
the transfer of the entity’s own equity instruments,
these terms do not affect its classification as current
or non-current only if the entity recognises the option
separately as an equity instrument applying HKAS 32
“Financial Instruments: Presentation”.

o specify that the classification of liabilities as current
or non-current should be based on rights that are in
existence at the end of the reporting period. Specifically,
the amendments clarify that the classification should not
be affected by management intentions or expectations
to settle the liability within 12 months.

For rights to defer settlement for at least twelve months
from reporting date which are conditional on the compliance
with covenants, the requirements introduced by the 2020
Amendments have been modified by the 2022 Amendments.
The 2022 Amendments specify that only covenants with
which an entity is required to comply with on or before the
end of the reporting period affect the entity’s right to defer
settlement of a liability for at least twelve months after the
reporting date. Covenants which are required to comply with
only after the reporting period do not affect whether that
right exists at the end of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

2.3 Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) (the “2020 Amendments”)
and Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants (the “2022 Amendments”) (Continued)

In addition, the 2022 Amendments specify the disclosure
requirements about information that enables users of
financial statements to understand the risk that the liabilities
could become repayable within twelve months after the
reporting period, if an entity classifies liabilities arising from
loan arrangements as non-current when the entity’s right to
defer settlement of those liabilities is subject to the entity
complying with covenants within twelve months after the
reporting period.

The 2022 Amendments also defer the effective date of
applying the 2020 Amendments to annual reporting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024. The 2022
Amendments, together with the 2020 Amendments, are
effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2024, with early application permitted. If an entity
applies the 2020 Amendments for an earlier period after the
issue of the 2022 Amendments, the entity should also apply
the 2022 Amendments for that period.

Based on the Group’'s outstanding liabilities as at 31
December 2023, the application of the 2020 Amendments
and 2022 Amendments will not result in reclassification of the
Group'’s liabilities.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. For the purpose
of preparation of the consolidated financial statements,
information is considered material if such information is
reasonably expected to influence decisions made by primary
users. In addition, the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis except for certain properties and
financial instruments that are measured at fair values at the
end of each reporting period, as explained in the accounting
policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value
of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing
the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for
measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for
share-based payment transactions that are within the scope
of HKFRS 2 “Share-based Payment”, leasing transactions that
are accounted for in accordance with “Leases” ("HKFRS 16"),
and measurements that have some similarities to fair value
but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS
2 “Inventories” or value in use in HKAS 36 “Impairment of
Assets”.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements (Continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.

For financial instruments and investment properties which
are transacted at fair value and a valuation technique that
unobservable inputs are to be used to measure fair value in
subsequent periods, the valuation technique is calibrated
so that at initial recognition the results of the valuation
technique equals the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements
are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair
value measurement in its entirety, which are described as
follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

° Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset
or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

° Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the
Company:

° has power over the investee;

. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss from
the date the Group gains control until the date when the
Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial

statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in
line with the Group's accounting policies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which represent
present ownership interests entitling their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries
upon liquidation.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over
time by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction
of the relevant performance obligation if one of the following
criteria is met:

° the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the
Group performs;

o the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

° the Group’'s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date.

3

e MBRRIE

RASECUBRREEREKX
ITBERER (8)

32 EXREFAHEREN (E)

RERBEE(E)

EREARRHEENRAEG -
WA AXREAEBEKERATHER
ZERNREREAREKEAAKRKE
BrHfEH -

RMBRAFERERBREER
ERNEEORZN EETERA
AR BE R IR L ] 2016 18 78 I B
RABEEFENREAAEEZ -

REEEFEHNzWE

AN
AREBRTREDE TR (i) iE
Rl IR EFERORTAERBD
Bmx RGN ZEFHEIEETER

fiF o

BHELE —HAESmIRS (X
—HEREIR) H— R KBAER K
AR 7 2 AR A ©

i 75 & AT Eip —IRAR % B4 6l 4
RERBER MEER2RT2EK
TR B 40 B (E 6 HE T T B By R AR

s FFEAKBEANRKRRE
78 FE AN 52 B B #0 P 7 2R 0 48O

Rz

s AEEMEHNELARRIT-EBEE
E-MZBEERAEEREDE
o & P Bk

s AEEMENARELZANEE
EERAgNEE BEAKEY
LESERKBEHNNRABA®
BT R

2023 Annual Report FEH &

109



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

110

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract liability represents the Group’'s obligation to
transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Group
has received consideration (or an amount of consideration is
due) from the customer.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of
progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation

Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on output method, which is to
recognise revenue on the basis of direct measurements of the
value of the goods or services transferred to the customer
to date relative to the remaining goods or services promised
under the contract, that best depict the Group's performance
in transferring control of goods or services.

Existence of significant financing component

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the
promised amount of consideration for the effects of the time
value of money if the timing of payments agreed (either
explicitly or implicitly) provides the customer or the Group
with a significant benefit of financing the transfer of goods or
services to the customer. In those circumstances, the contract
contains a significant financing component. A significant
financing component may exist regardless of whether the
promise of financing is explicitly stated in the contract or
implied by the payment terms agreed to by the parties to the
contract.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Existence of significant financing component
(Continued)

For contracts where the period between payment and transfer
of the associated goods or services is less than one year, the
Group applies the practical expedient of not adjusting the
transaction price for any significant financing component.

For advance payments received from customers before the
transfer of the associated goods or services in which the
Group adjusts for the promised amount of consideration
for a significant financing component, the Group applies a
discount rate that would be reflected in a separate financing
transaction between the Group and the customer at contract
inception. The relevant interest expenses during the period
between the advance payments were received and the
transfer of the associated goods and services are accounted
for on the same basis as other borrowing costs.

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or services
to a customer, the Group determines whether the nature
of its promise is a performance obligation to provide the
specified goods or services itself (i.e. the Group is a principal)
or to arrange for those goods or services to be provided by
the other party (i.e. the Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good
or service before that good or service is transferred to a
customer.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
Principal versus agent (Continued)

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to
arrange for the provision of the specified good or service by
another party. In this case, the Group does not control the
specified good or service provided by another party before
that good or service is transferred to the customer. When the
Group acts as an agent, it recognises revenue in the amount
of any fee or commission to which it expects to be entitled in
exchange for arranging for the specified goods or services to
be provided by the other party.

Further information about the Group's accounting policies
relating to contracts with customers is provided in note 5.

Leases
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date
of initial application of HKFRS 16 or arising from business
combinations, the Group assesses whether a contract is or
contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at
inception, modification date or acquisition date, as appropriate.
Such contract will not be reassessed unless the terms and
conditions of the contract are subsequently changed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee
Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of
the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of
the non-lease components, including contract for acquisition
of ownership interests of a property which includes both
leasehold land and non-lease building components, unless such
allocation cannot be made reliably.

Non-lease components are separated from lease component
and are accounted for by applying other applicable standards.

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

. the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives received;

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

o an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in
dismantling and removing the underlying assets, restoring
the site on which it is located or restoring the underlying
asset to the condition required by the terms and
conditions of the lease.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets (Continued)

Except for those that are classified as investment properties
and measured under fair value model, right-of-use assets
are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of
lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain
to obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the
end of the lease term are depreciated from commencement
date to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use
assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter
of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the
definition of investment property or inventory in “property,
plant and equipment”, the same line item within which the
corresponding underlying assets would be presented if they
were owned.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9
“Financial Instruments” (“HKFRS 9") and initially measured at
fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments and included in the
cost of right-of-use assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of
lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating
the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable.

The lease payments include:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments)
less any lease incentives receivable;

° amounts expected to be payable by the Group under
residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

° payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising an option to
terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by
interest accretion and lease payments.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities (Continued)

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets)
whenever:

o the lease term has changed or there is a change in
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the date of reassessment.

o the lease payments change due to changes in market
rental rates following a market rent review, in which cases
the related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the
revised lease payments using the initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on
the consolidated statement of financial position.

Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate
lease if:

(1) the modification increases the scope of the lease by
adding the right to use one or more underlying assets;
and

(2) the consideration for the leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the
increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments to
that stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances of the
particular contract.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease modifications (Continued)

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a
separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability, less
any lease incentives receivable, based on the lease term of
the modified lease by discounting the revised lease payments
using a revised discount rate at the effective date of the
modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities
by making corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-
of-use asset. When the modified contract contains a lease
component and one or more additional lease or non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in the
modified contract to each lease component on the basis of
the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the
aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

The Group as a lessor
Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance
or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership
of an underlying asset to the lessee, the contract is classified
as a finance lease. All other leases are classified as operating
leases.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessor (Continued)
Classification and measurement of leases (Continued)

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recognised
as receivables at commencement date at amounts equal to
net investments in the leases, measured using the interest rate
implicit in the respective leases. Initial direct costs (other than
those incurred by manufacturer or dealer lessors) are included
in the initial measurement of the net investments in the leases.
Interest income is allocated to accounting periods so as to reflect
a constant periodic rate of return on the Group’s net investment
outstanding in respect of the leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit
or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant
lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging
an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
leased asset, and such costs are recognised as an expense on
a straight-line basis over the lease term except for investment
properties measured under fair value model.

Interest and rental income which are derived from the Group's
ordinary course of business are presented as revenue.

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

When a contract includes both leases and non-lease
components, the Group applies HKFRS 15 “Revenue from
Contracts with Customers” ("HKFRS 15") to allocate
consideration in a contract to lease and non-lease components.
Non-lease components are separated from lease component on
the basis of their relative stand-alone selling prices.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessor (Continued)
Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to
fair value at initial recognition are considered as additional
lease payments from lessees.

Lease modification

Changes in considerations of lease contracts that were not
part of the original terms and conditions are accounted for
as lease modifications, including lease incentives provided
through forgiveness or reduction of rentals.

(i)  Operating leases

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating lease
as a new lease from the effective date of the modification,
considering any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to
the original lease as part of the lease payments for the new
lease.

For rent concession under which the Group legally releases
the lessee from its obligation to make specifically identified
lease payment, of which some of these lease payments are
contractually due but not paid and some of them are not yet
contractually due, the Group accounts for the portions which
have been recognised as operating lease receivables (i.e. the
lease payments which are contractually due but not paid) by
applying the expected credit losses (“ECL"”) and derecognition
requirements under HKFRS 9 and applies lease modification
requirements for the forgiven lease payments that the Group
has not recognised (i.e. the lease payments which are not yet
contractually due) as at the effective date of modification.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessor (Continued)
Lease modification (Continued)

(ii)  Finance leases

The Group accounts for a change in the lease payments
of a finance lease as a lease modification, that is not
accounted for as a separate lease, in accordance with
the requirements of HKFRS 9. If the change represents a
substantial modification, the finance lease receivables of the
original lease are derecognised and a derecognition gain or
loss calculated using the revised lease payments discounted
at the revised discount rate is recognised in profit or loss on
the date of the modification. If the change does not represent
a substantial modification, the Group continues to recognise
the finance lease receivables in which such carrying amount
will be calculated at the present value of the modified
contractual cash flows discounted at the related receivables’
original discount rate. Any adjustment to the carrying
amount is recognised in profit or loss at the effective date of
modification.

Sale and leaseback transactions

The Group applies the requirements of HKFRS 15 to assess
whether sale and leaseback transaction constitutes a sale by
the Group.

The Group as a buyer-lessor

For a transfer of asset that does not satisfy the requirements
of HKFRS 15 to be accounted for as a sale of asset, the Group
as a buyer-lessor does not recognise the transferred asset and
recognises a loan receivable equal to the transfer proceeds
within the scope of HKFRS 9.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
Sale and leaseback transactions (Continued)
The Group as a buyer-lessor (Continued)

For a transfer of asset that satisfies the requirements of
HKFRS 15 to be accounted for as a sale of asset, the Group as
a buyer-lessor accounts for the purchase of the asset applying
applicable standards, and for the lease applying the lessor
accounting requirements in accordance with HKFRS 16.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the
rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions.
At the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at
that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group's operations
are translated into the presentation currency of the Group
(i.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each
reporting period. Income and expenses items are translated at
the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange
rates fluctuate significantly during that period, in which case
the exchange rates at the date of transactions are used.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the
heading of exchange reserve.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost
of those assets until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants
are intended to compensate.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for
the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the
Group with no future related costs are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they become receivable. Such
grants are presented under “other income and gains, net”,
rather than deducted from the related expense.

Employee benefits
Retirement benefits costs

Payments to the defined contribution retirement benefit plans
are recognised as an expense when employees have rendered
services entitling them to the contributions.

Retirement benefits to employees are provided through
defined contribution plans.

The Group participates in the MPF scheme under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those
employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF scheme.
The MPF scheme is a defined contribution retirement benefit
plan and contributions to the scheme are made based on a
percentage of the employees’ relevant income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Employee benefits (Continued)
Retirement benefits costs (Continued)

The employees of the Company’'s subsidiaries which operate
in the PRC are required to participate in a central pension
scheme operated by the local municipal government. The
subsidiaries are required to contribute certain percentage of
their payroll costs to the central pension scheme.

There were no forfeited contributions under the defined
contribution scheme above and no forfeited contribution
available to reduce the contribution in future years.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
as and when employees rendered the services. All short-
term employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless
another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit
in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after
deducting any amount already paid.

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
Shares/Share options granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others
providing similar services are measured at the fair value of the
equity instruments at the grant date. When share options are
exercised, the amount previously recognised in share-based
payments reserve will be transferred to share capital. When
the share options are forfeited after the vesting date or are
still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously
recognised in employee share-based compensation reserve
will be transferred to retained profits.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
(Continued)

Share award scheme

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together
with a corresponding increase in the employee share-
based compensation reserve in equity, over the period in
which the granted conditions are fulfilled. When the share
award is cancelled, it is treated as if it vested on the date
of cancellation, and any expense not yet recognised for the
award is recognised immediately.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of current and
deferred income tax expense.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit before tax because of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other
years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in
the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which those deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets
and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction that
affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit
and at the time of the transaction does not give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary differences.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability
is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model,
the carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be
recovered entirely through sale, unless the presumption is
rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the investment
property is depreciable and is held within a business model
whose objective is to consume substantially all of the economic
benefits embodied in the investment property over time, rather
than through sale.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to the
right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS
12 requirements to the lease liabilities and right-of-use assets
separately. The Group recognises a deferred tax asset related
to lease liabilities to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible temporary
difference can be utilised and a deferred tax liability for all
taxable temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied to the same taxable entity by the same taxation
authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are
held for use in the production or supply of goods or services,
or for administrative purposes. Property, plant and equipment
are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of
properties which includes both leasehold land and building
elements, the entire consideration is allocated between the
leasehold land and the building elements in proportion to
the relative fair values at initial recognition. To the extent
the allocation of the relevant payments can be made reliably,
interest in leasehold land is presented within “property, plant
and equipment” in the consolidated statement of financial
position, except for those that are classified and accounted
for as investment properties under the fair value model.
When the consideration cannot be allocated reliably between
non-lease building element and undivided interest in the
underlying leasehold land, the entire properties are classified
as property, plant and equipment.

If a property becomes an investment property because its use
has changed as evidenced by end of owner-occupation, any
difference between the carrying amount and the fair value
of that item (including the relevant leasehold land classified
as right-of-use assets) at the date of transfer is recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in revaluation
reserve. On the subsequent sale or retirement of the property,
the relevant revaluation reserve will be transferred directly to
retained profits.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets
less their residual values over their estimated useful lives,
using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives,
residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the
end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes
in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss
arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference between
the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognised in profit or loss.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/
or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including
any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are measured at fair value,
adjusted to exclude any prepaid or accrued operating lease
income.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of
investment properties are included in profit or loss for the
period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn
from use and no future economic benefits are expected from
its disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of
the property (calculated as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is
included in profit or loss in the period in which the property
is derecognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets to determine whether there is any
indication that these assets have suffered an impairment loss.
If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the
relevant asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of
the impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets are estimated individually. When it is
not possible to estimate the recoverable amount individually,
the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit ("CGU") to which the asset belongs.

In testing a CGU for impairment, corporate assets are
allocated to the relevant CGU when a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be established, or otherwise
they are allocated to the smallest group of CGUs for which a
reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be established.
The recoverable amount is determined for the CGU or
group of CGUs to which the corporate asset belongs, and is
compared with the carrying amount of the relevant CGU or
group of CGUs.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets (Continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset (or a CGU) for which the estimates of
future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is estimated
to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of
the asset (or a CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which
cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis to
a CGU, the Group compares the carrying amount of a group
of CGUs, including the carrying amounts of the corporate
assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to that group
of CGUs, with the recoverable amount of the group of
CGUs. In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment
loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-
rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the
unit or the group of CGUs. The carrying amount of an asset
is not reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs
of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable)
and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would
otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro
rata to the other assets of the unit or the group of CGUs. An
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets (Continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or CGU or a group of CGUs) is increased
to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset (or a CGU or a group
of CGUs) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated
statement of financial position include:

(a) cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand
deposits, excluding bank balances that are subject to
regulatory restrictions that result in such balances no
longer meeting the definition of cash; and

(b) cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term
(generally with original maturity of three months or less),
highly liquid investments that are readily convertible
to a known amount of cash and which are subject to
an insignificant risk of changes in value and restricted
deposits arising from pre-sale of properties that are
held for meeting short-term cash commitments. Cash
equivalents are held for the purpose of meeting short-
term cash commitments rather than for investment or
other purposes.

Bank balances for which use by the Group is subject to third
party contractual restrictions are included as part of cash
unless the restrictions result in a bank balance no longer
meeting the definition of cash. Contractual restrictions
affecting use of bank balances are disclosed in note 23.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Costs of inventories are determined on actual cost
basis. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling
price for inventories less all estimated costs of completion and
costs necessary to make the sale. Costs necessary to make the
sale include incremental costs directly attributable to the sale
and non-incremental costs which the Group must incur to
make the sale.

Properties under development/properties held for sale

Properties under development which are intended to be sold
upon completion of development and properties held for
sale are classified as current assets. Except for the leasehold
land element which is measured at cost model in accordance
with the accounting policies of right-of-use assets, properties
under development/properties held for sale are carried at the
lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined
on a specific identification basis including allocation of
the related development expenditure incurred and where
appropriate, borrowing costs capitalised. Net realisable value
represents the estimated selling price for the properties less
estimated cost to completion and costs necessary to make the
sales. Costs necessary to make the sale include incremental
costs directly attributable to the sale and non-incremental
costs which the Group must incur to make the sale.

Properties under development for sale are transferred to
properties held for sale upon completion.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event,
it is probable that the Group will be required to settle that
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of
the consideration required to settle the present obligation
at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the
risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a
provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle
the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present
value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time value
of money is material).

Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a present obligation arising from past
events but is not recognised because it is not probable that
an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation.

Where the Group is jointly and severally liable for an
obligation, the part of the obligation that is expected to be
met by other parties is treated as a contingent liability and it
is not recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

The Group assesses continually to determine whether an
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits has
become probable. If it becomes probable that an outflow
of future economic benefits will be required for an item
previously dealt with as a contingent liability, a provision is
recognised in the consolidated financial statements in the
reporting period in which the change in probability occurs,
except in the extremely rare circumstances where no reliable
estimate can be made.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the market
place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value except for trade and bills receivables arising
from contracts with customers which are initially measured
in accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial
assets and financial liabilities are added to or deducted from
the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and
of allocating interest income and interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs
and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of
the financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate,
a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial
recognition.

Interest income which are derived from the Group’s ordinary
course of business are presented as revenue.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"):

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both selling and collecting
contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at fair
value through profit or loss (“FVTPL"), except that at initial
recognition of a financial asset the Group may irrevocably
elect to present subsequent changes in fair value of an
equity investment in other comprehensive income if that
equity investment is neither held for trading nor contingent
consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business
combination to which HKFRS 3 “Business Combinations”
applies.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(Continued)

A financial asset is held for trading if:

° it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling
in the near term; or

° on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group manages
together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term
profit-taking; or

° it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial
asset that are required to be measured at the amortised cost
or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or
significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.

(i) Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on
the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that the
financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset from the beginning
of the reporting period following the determination that the
asset is no longer credit-impaired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(Continued)

(i) Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are subsequently
measured at fair value with gains and losses arising from
changes in fair value recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in the finance assets at fair value
through other comprehensive income reserve; and are not
subject to impairment assessment. The cumulative gain or
loss will not be reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of the
equity investments, and will be transferred to retained profits.

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments are
recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s right to receive
the dividends is established, unless the dividends clearly
represent a recovery of part of the cost of the investment.
Dividends are included in the “other income and gains, net”
line item in profit or loss.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under ECL model
on financial assets (including trade and other receivables,
finance lease receivables and loan receivables, loans to related
parties, pledged bank deposits, bank balances and cash)
which are subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS
9. The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to
reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the relevant
instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL")
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to
result from default events that are possible within 12 months
after the reporting date. Assessments are done based on the
Group's historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors
that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions at the
reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade and bills
receivables.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in
which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment
of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on
significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default
occurring since initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i)  Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of
a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers both
guantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience and forward-
looking information that is available without undue cost or
effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account
when assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

o significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit
spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations;
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i)  Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor; or

o an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of
the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Group presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition when contractual payments are more
than 30 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk
on a debt instrument has not increased significantly since
initial recognition if the debt instrument is determined to
have low credit risk at the reporting date. A debt instrument
is determined to have low credit risk if (i) it has a low risk of
default, (ii) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term and (iii)
adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the
longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability
of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.
The Group considers a debt instrument to have low credit
risk when it has an internal or external credit rating of
“investment grade” as per globally understood definitions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i)  Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that the Group
becomes a party to the irrevocable commitment is considered
to be the date of initial recognition for the purposes of
assessing impairment. In assessing whether there has been a
significant increase in the credit risk since initial recognition
of financial guarantee contracts, the Group considers the
changes in the risk that the specified debtor will default on
the contract.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria
used to identify whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that
the criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in
credit risk before the amount becomes past due.

(i)  Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that the
debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in
full (without taking into account any collaterals held by the
Group).
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i)  Definition of default (Continued)

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default has
occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days past due
unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information
to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more
appropriate.

(iii)  Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events
that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data
about the following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s financial
difficulty, having granted to the borrower a concession(s)
that the lender(s) would not otherwise consider;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRI

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3 MEGEUBHRREEREKX

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL S BERESR (5)

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information 32 EXEFAHEER (&)
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued) SBMIAE(E)

Financial assets (Continued) ERMEE (8)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment RIRE B W E LR EREITIRE

assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued) FEmemEERE (&)

(iii)  Credit-impaired financial assets (Continued) (i) =ARE2HEE (B)

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter (d) fEFRABAREHESETEME
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or THEMHE %k

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that financial () ZeRMEEMTRMEAMBRE
asset because of financial difficulties. K-

(iv)  Write-off policy (iv) T EHBUR

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is WEENBTIHEF I EREN BHRE -

information indicating that the counterparty is in severe B mERKEBAE(NEFHEE

financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of TERNEAWERT) AEBEH

recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been placed HEMEE - RBEASENKEREF

under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings. WEEREEER (ER)%E BEM

Financial assets written off may still be subject to enforcement HHEmMEEDNI I B RITEEDL

activities under the Group's recovery procedures, taking ReoMEHBAR R IEERE M- FWER

into account legal advice where appropriate. A write-off WEIFIE R B R

constitutes a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries
are recognised in profit or loss.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given default
is based on historical data and forward-looking information.
Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-
weighted amount that is determined with the respective
risks of default occurring as the weights. The Group uses
a practical expedient in estimating ECL on trade and bills
receivables using a provision matrix taking into consideration
historical credit loss experience and forward looking
information that is available without undue cost or effort.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with the
contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition. For a lease receivable, the cash flows used for
determining the ECL is consistent with the cash flows used in
measuring the lease receivable in accordance with HKFRS 16.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

For a financial guarantee contract, the Group is required
to make payments only in the event of a default by the
debtor in accordance with the terms of the instrument that
is guaranteed. Accordingly, the ECL is the present value of
the expected payments to reimburse the holder for a credit
loss that it incurs less any amounts that the Group expects to
receive from the holder, the debtor or any other party.

Lifetime ECL for certain finance lease receivables and loan
receivables are considered on a collective basis taking into
consideration past due information and relevant credit
information such as forward looking macroeconomic

information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into consideration the
following characteristics when formulating the grouping:

. Past-due status;
° Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

° External credit ratings where available.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure
the constituents of each group continue to share similar credit
risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is
credit-impaired, in which case interest income is calculated
based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or
loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their carrying
amount, with the exception of trade and other receivables,
finance lease receivables and loan receivables where the
corresponding adjustment is recognised through a loss
allowance account.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.
If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest
in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may
have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset,
the Group continues to recognise the financial asset and
also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds
received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument which
the Group has elected on initial recognition to measure at
FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in
the FVTOCI reserve is not reclassified to profit or loss, but is
transferred to retained profits.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including bank borrowings, trade and
other payables, asset-backed securities and loans from related
parties are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using
the effective interest method.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires
the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails
to make payments when due in accordance with the terms
of a debt instrument. Financial guarantee contract liabilities
are measured initially at their fair values. It is subsequently
measured at the higher of:

. the amount of the loss allowance determined in
accordance with HKFRS 9; and

o the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate,

cumulative amortisation recognised over the guarantee
period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRI

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3 REAGSUBBRREEREK
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL I RERESR (@)
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information 32 EXEFAHEER (&)
(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued) SWMIA(E)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued) cHmesEnER (8)
Derecognition of financial liabilities mitEReRAE
The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only EREEEARAEENETERK. E‘Ifﬁ
when, the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or LERE TEBE T eXRIEERLH
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of BE-KIEROSHEBEN Hﬁ@ﬁ
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid HENRENMNREZHNEZENER
and payable is recognised in profit or loss. R -
Related parties BES
(a) A person or a close member of that person’s family is (@) MEBTHIBER BIEALHZA
related to the Group if that person: TR RIEK B BI AR A B R
EEERE
(i) has control or joint control over the Group; () HAEEBFEZEHERKLR

bR

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or (i) HAEEBFEAFE

(i) is a member of key management personnel of the (i) BAEEIANEELRA
Group or the Group's parent. ZEFEERAE-

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following (b)y W TIEMIBRER BIXEE
conditions apply: MaRAEBEERE

(i)  The entity and the Group are members of the same () ZEREAEEBR—%£E
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary B B A A (EHR!/AT
and fellow subsidiary is related to the others). MEARKRRARMBAR

EiERE) -

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the iy —EAEBAES —HEEME
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a eRRgEERE (S AR
member of a group of which the other entity is a —SEMHKNE QR RS
member). NAFEGELE MEZA—

ERAREEEMNKE) -

(i) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third (i) MEBEEABERE=F

party. VERERE-
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Related parties (Continued)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions apply: (Continued)

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of the employees of the Group or an
entity related to the Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the
entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which
it is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced
by, that person in their dealings with the entity.
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4

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group's accounting policies, which
are described in note 3.2, the directors of the Company are
required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
underlying assumptions are based on historical experience and
other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results
may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end
of the reporting period that may have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

4.1 Fair value of investment properties

Investment properties are stated at fair value based on the
valuation performed by independent professional valuer.
In determining the fair value, the valuers have based on
a method of valuation which involves certain estimates of
market conditions. In relying on the valuation report, the
directors of the Company have exercised their judgement
and are satisfied that the methods, inputs and assumptions
used in the valuation are reflective of the current market
conditions. Changes to inputs and assumptions used would
result in changes in the fair values of the Group’s investment
properties and the corresponding adjustments to the amount
of gain or loss reported in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

4.2 Estimated net realisable value of inventories of
properties

In determining whether allowances should be made for the
Group's inventories of properties under development and
properties held for sale, the Group takes into consideration
the estimated selling price, the estimated costs to completion
in cases for properties under development, and the costs
to be incurred in selling the properties based on prevailing
market conditions, current market environment and the
sales performance in previous years for all the properties.
An allowance is made if the net realisable value is less than
the carrying amount. If the actual net realisable value of
inventories of properties is less than expected as a result of
change in market conditions and/or significant variation in the
budgeted development costs, material allowance may result.

4.3 Impairment allowance on financial assets and
finance lease receivables and loan receivables

The measurement of impairment losses under HKFRS 9 across
all categories of financial assets and finance lease receivables
and loan receivables requires an estimation of the amount
and timing of future cash flows and collateral values when
determining impairment losses and the assessment of a
significant increase in credit risk. These judgements and
estimates are driven by a number of factors, changes in which
can result in different levels of allowances.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group assesses
whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk of
exposures since initial recognition by comparing the risk of
default occurring over the expected life between the reporting
date and the date of initial recognition. The Group considers
reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and
available without undue cost or effort for this purpose. This
includes quantitative and qualitative information and also,
forward-looking analysis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

4.4 Depreciation

The Group depreciates the property, plant and equipment in
accordance with the accounting policies stated in note 3.2.
The estimated useful lives reflect the directors’ best estimates
of the periods that the Group intends to derive future
economic benefits from the use of these assets.

4.5 Estimated impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators
of impairment for all non-financial assets at the end of
each reporting period. Non-financial assets are tested for
impairment when there are indicators that the carrying
amounts may not be recoverable. For the purposes of
impairment testing, assets are allocated to its respective
CGUs. Management judgement and estimation is required
in the area of asset impairment particularly in assessing: (i)
whether the carrying amount of an asset can be supported
by the recoverable amount, being the higher of fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use; and (ii) the appropriate key
assumptions to be applied in preparing cash flow projections
including whether these cash flow projections are discounted
using an appropriate discount rate.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

4.6 Deferred tax asset

As at 31 December 2023, no deferred tax asset has been
recognised on the tax losses of HK$208,966,000 (2022:
HK$171,985,000) due to the unpredictability of future profit
streams. The realisability of the deferred tax asset mainly
depends on whether sufficient future profits or taxable
temporary differences will be available in the future, which
is a key source of estimation uncertainty. In cases where the
actual future taxable profits generated are less or more than
expected, or change in facts and circumstances which result
in revision of future taxable profits estimation, a material
reversal or further recognition of deferred tax assets may
arise, which would be recognised in profit or loss for the
period in which such a reversal or further recognition takes
place.

4.7 Land appreciation tax

The Group is subject to land appreciation tax in the PRC.
However, the implementation and settlement of the tax varies
and the Group has not finalised its land appreciation tax
calculation and payments with local tax authorities for the
properties already sold in the PRC. Accordingly, significant
judgement and estimation is required in determining the
amount of the land appreciation tax and its related income
tax provisions. The Group recognised the land appreciation
tax based on management’s best estimates. The final tax
outcome could be different from the amounts that were
initially recorded, and these differences will impact the tax
provisions in the periods in which such tax is finalised with
local tax authorities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRI

REVENUE

(i) Disaggregation of the Group’s revenue from
contracts with customers

5 EXH
REEREEFENZEFE
270 5B

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-_Z-_=F+-A=t+-HLEE

(i)

Property

Bulk development

Marine
recreation

commodity and services and
Segments Leasing trade investment hotel Total
AREm NERER 5 L ik
78 HE g5 RE BREBENEE @5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BETF T BYEFT BETF T BEF T
Types of goods or services BmRREER
Sales of: HE
~ properties e //ES - - 84,067 - 84,067
- steel and chemical products - @M RIEIER - 13,641 - - 13,641
Consultancy service income from B Z B2 #ARE
leasing arrangements LON 29,065 - - - 29,065
Marine recreation, hotel and 8 IR RS RIRkTT
travel agency services income BRI A - - - 35,531 35,531
Revenue from contracts with REEPENZEERE
customers 29,065 13,641 84,067 35,531 162,304
Rental income from investment RERENMENHS
properties LON - - 2,752 - 2,752
Rental income under operating BEHREERRRSBREY
lease in respect of owned meMEETHES
machineries and equipment A 128,494 - - - 128,494
Interest income from loan EWER 2 F WA
receivables 442,086 - - - 442,086
Finance lease income BMEEERA 4,375 - - - 4,375
Total Fo 604,020 13,641 86,819 35,531 740,011
Timing of revenue recognition: B X¥ERIAEMH:
A point in time RE—EHEE 29,065 13,641 84,067 29,764 156,537
Over time & 5 - - - 5,767 5,767
29,065 13,641 84,067 35,531 162,304
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

5 REVENUE (Continued) 5 EXF®
(i) Disaggregation of the Group’s revenue from (i) XEBREEFEHNZEREE
contracts with customers (Continued) 20 FNERF (4E)

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-Z--—F+-A=+—HLFE

Property Marine
Bulk  development recreation
commodity and services
Segments Leasing trade investment and hotel Total
REEm  MEERE 8 Lk
28 HE 25 RE  RBWERE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BETTL BETT BETT BETT BETT

Types of goods or services BmRREER
Sales of: HE:
— properties -mE - - 84,262 - 84,262
- steel and chemical products MM RIEIER - 761,745 - - 761,745
Consultancy service income from  FEZH 2 FHRE

leasing arrangements ON 54,763 - - - 54,763
Marine recreation, hotel and 8 LR OBE RIRTT

travel agency services income BRI YA - - - 14,017 14,017
Revenue from contracts with REBEFANZERD

customers 54,763 761,745 84,262 14,017 914,787

Rental income from investment REREMENHS

properties WA - - 2,788 - 2,788
Rental income under operating R L

lease in respect of owned HEHEETHS

machineries and equipment WA 32,022 - - - 32,022
Interest income from loan B ER 2 FEBA

receivables 316,756 - - - 316,756
Finance lease income BMERERA 11,037 - - - 11,037
Total Fo 414,578 761,745 87,050 14,017 1,277,390

Timing of revenue recognition: & ¥BERAEMH:

A point in time RE—BBEY 54,763 761,745 84,262 9,875 910,645
Over time & B - - - 4,142 4,142
54,763 761,745 84,262 14,017 914,787
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REVENUE (Continued)

(ii) Performance obligations for contracts with
customers

Bulk commodity trade

Revenue from sales of goods is recognised at a point in time
when the goods are delivered to customers and title has
passed.

Property development and investment

Revenue from sales of properties is recognised at a point in
time when the completed property is transferred to customers,
being at the point that the customer obtains the control of
the completed property and the Group has present right to
payment and collection of the consideration is probable. The
Group receives 20% —100% of the contract value as deposits
from customers when they sign the sale and purchase
agreement for sale of properties, while the remaining portion
of the total contract value will be paid to the Group from the
banks once the customers meet the requirements of the banks
for applying mortgage loans. The amount is generally made
by the bank before the delivery of property to the buyer. The
advance payment schemes result in contract liabilities being
recognised throughout the property construction period until
the customer obtains control of the completed property. The
amount of advance payments is not adjusted for the effects
of the time value of money due to the insignificant difference
between the amount of promised consideration and the cash
selling price of completed units by reference to the expected
timing in delivery of completed units to customers.

Marine recreation services and hotel

Revenue from marine recreation services is generally
recognised at point in time when the services are provided.
Revenue from hotel operation is recognised over time during
the period of stay for the hotel guests using output method.

Consultancy service income

Revenue from consultancy services are recognised when
services are rendered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

5 REVENUE (Continued)

(iii) Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligation for contracts with
customers

Except for contracts with customers from the sales of
properties, all other contracts with customers are for periods
of one year or less. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the
transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is
not disclosed.

The transaction price allocated to the remaining performance
obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) for sales
of properties as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 and the
expected timing of recognising revenue are as follows:

EERE(E)

(i) ?EHEZEEFEHEGTEHEMT
X Z1EH

BRREBHEMENEFPANIN A
HtEFPANE R —FRIAT -
& B B % S A RSB 558 AT A
TERBEIREZFABITENNR
HIEE -

RZEZ=FR_ZFT__F+=A
—t— B 2EEHEEVENGR TR
HNET(KBITHBL KRBT RS
BEREBEHERRZOERDT

2023 2022
—_E_=F —=E-=
HK$’000 HK$°000
BT T BT T
Sales of properties HEWE
Within one year —F RN 41,484 52,197
More than one year ZHR—F = 41,369
41,484 93,566
(iv) Leases (iv) HE
2023 2022
—=EE=-= —_F-_—-
HK$’000 HK$°000
BT T BT T
For operating leases: MELHEEMS
Lease payments that are fixed & F &R 131,246 34,810
For finance leases: MRMEHEmMS -
Finance income on the net HEFREZBERA
investment in the lease 4,375 11,037
Total revenue arising from leases HEEAMRAERE 135,621 45,847
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REVENUE (Continued)

(iv) Leases (Continued)

5

e MBRRIE

EERE(E)
(iv) HE (%)

Operating lease income-properties

Operating lease income-machinery
and equipment

Finance lease income-machinery
and equipment

Total revenue arising from leases

REMERA-M%
REHEWA -2 RE

BMEMEWA —Has L&

HEEEMRALE

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 6

Information reported to the executive directors of the
Company, being the chief operating decision makers
("CODM"), for the purpose of resources allocation and
assessment of segment performance, focuses on types of

goods or services delivered or provided.

The Group’'s reportable segments under HKFRS 8 are as

follows:

(1) Leasing — providing leasing services including finance
lease, sale and leaseback and operating lease services

(2) Bulk commodity trade — trading of steel and chemical

products

(3) Property development and investment — holding land for
property development projects, sales of properties, and
holding investment properties for appreciation and/or

providing rental services

(4) Marine recreation services and hotel — providing marine
recreation, hotel and travel agency services

2023 2022
—E2=-= —_=_
HK$°000 HK$'000
BETT BETT
2,752 2,788
128,494 32,022
4,375 11,037
135,621 45,847

AARRIRTEF (NEREERK
HE(EEEEBREE]) )M RAH
DEEREFEIDERIANEHAE
P P 325 S 32 fFR A 7 m S AR S AR AL ©

AT RAKERERBEHM GRS ER
FR 2 MENIH:

(1) HE-RHEEERB (BERE
ME EREOERLEEERS)

2) ARFEmEZ MM RCTEM
g5

(3) PEEREIEE-HBELIHED
XBURFEBAE LEMERE
BREMENFHER SR H
& BR %5

(4) B LIREE RS MNEE-RHE L
T ~ B E R RTT AL RS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 6 RKEIWEH
(Continued)
Segment revenue and results DK R FEE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results NTARAEERBEDFEE D 2 W=
by reportable segments: REBEDHT:
For the year ended 31 December 2023 BE-_ZE-_=F+-A=+—HLHF
E
Property Marine
Bulk development recreation
commodity and services and
Leasing trade investment hotel Total
KR @ MERRR 8 Lk
HE g5 RE BRENEE @t
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$000
BETF T BET T BETF T BET T BET T
Revenue as presented BEBRRENZ
in the consolidated HEE
statement of profit
or loss 604,020 13,641 86,819 35,531 740,011
Segment results DELHE 155,192 742 26,742 (3,732) 178,944
Fair value loss on REMEZANTEEE
investment properties (4,541)
Unallocated finance AOBREKAK
costs (29,353)
Unallocated corporate AAMEERT
expenses (29,144)
Unallocated corporate RABEERA
income 5,595
Profit before tax B B A A 121,501
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e M BRI

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

6 RESBEE (®

Segment revenue and results (Continued) TG RFEE (E)
For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE-Z-_—_F+-A=+—HBLHF
3

Property Marine

Bulk  development recreation

commodity and  services and
Leasing trade investment hotel Total

REE @ MEHRER 8 iR
HE 25 RE BRBEWEE et
HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000

BETT EBETT EBETT BETT BETT

Revenue as presented REBR&RENZ

in the consolidated HEE

statement of profit

or loss 414,578 761,745 87,050 14,017 1,277,390
Segment results DHEEE 176,315 3,253 24,060 (25,356) 178,272
Fair value loss on BEMEZANTFEEE

investment properties (6,238)
Unallocated finance ROBEREKAK

costs (13,484)
Unallocated corporate AOEEERL

expenses (41,689)
Unallocated corporate AOEEERA

income 5,370
Profit before tax W 35 A1 7 122,231

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the
same as the Group's accounting policies. Segment profit/
(loss) represents the profit earned by/loss from each segment
without allocation of corporate expenses and income,
directors’ emoluments, fair value loss on investment properties
and finance costs. This is the measure reported to the CODM
for the purposes of resource allocation and performance
assessment.

Unallocated corporate income mainly comprised interest
income from deposits and related parties (2022: net exchange
gain and interest income from deposits and related parties)
which are not directly attributable to the business activities of
any operating segment.

RESFENEBRRERNEE G R
RER - abEF, (BR)EESR
WEUE A, WESREEMX R
WA BEEME REVELAFEER
RBERA - W SRERIERKR
FEMEZLERRERENEER

o

AOBEERATERREREFALK
ESTZMBEBA(ZT_—_F [EX
Wan R R REFRRBEETZHNE
WA) Y TEERBREMNEED R
SESVIEIK
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6 OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 6 RESBER (&)
(Continued)

2\ K

Segment revenue and results (Continued) Wz RFE ()
AORPERAXTEBENE K&
EaHrE TRANEEREXR
X W TEEEBRNEMLE D EH
EBED -

PEAEREM
NTRARENEERRBRRED

Unallocated corporate expenses mainly comprised depreciation,
staff costs and legal and professional expenses of the Group's
headquarter which are not directly attributable to the business
activities of any operating segment.

Segment assets and liabilities

The following is an analysis of the Group's assets and

liabilities by reportable segments: HooM:

2023 2022
—E_=F B F
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
bt &t BT T BT T
Segment assets NEEE
Leasing HE 9,669,393 9,113,630
Bulk commodity trade ArEmES 10,798 25,901
Property development and MEZERRKE

investment (a) 397,497 431,602

Marine recreation services 8 - B 3 AR 75 AR S
and hotel 143,302 153,320

Total segment assets DEEERE 10,220,990 9,724,453

Unallocated ROE

— other financial assets —EmemEE 32,342 69,183

— bank balances and cash —RITEFERS 258,034 140,885

— other unallocated assets —HEtARoBEE 58,830 75,214

Consolidated assets REEE 10,570,196 10,009,735

Segment liabilities SEBE

Leasing HE 6,935,212 6,246,782
Bulk commodity trade AEEmES 469 8,787
Property development and MEZERRKEE

investment 194,058 234,620
Marine recreation services R 5 R A AR S

and hotel 44,197 43,406

Total segment liabilities NEBERE 7,173,936 6,533,595

Bank borrowings RITEBE 500,000 500,000

Other unallocated liabilities HibARpBAE 36,157 40,890

Consolidated liabilities meafal 7,710,093 7,074,485

Note: B &t -

(@) Segment assets of property development and investment segment (@) VEERERAESBZHNBREBRRER
include investment properties but segment results exclude the EWME BoBEETREFANREL
related fair value loss of HK$4,541,000 (2022: HK$6,238,000) for FEBEBELS541,0000(ZF ==
the year. 1 %%6,238,0007T) °
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

Segment assets and liabilities (Continued)

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and

allocating resources between segments:

o all assets are allocated to reportable segments other
than assets held by head office and the inactive

subsidiaries; and

o all liabilities are allocated to reportable segments other
than borrowings and liabilities incurred by head office

and the inactive subsidiaries.

Other segment information

For the year ended 31 December 2023

e MBRRIE

REBIBRAIROBERIEER:

s KRENBRNTIERME QAR
BZBEEN REBEEEBHIER

wEIE R

. BRaesER Nk NERMNBARE
EZEBEEREBEIIN TEEED
PHEERE DL

Hith 7 HEF

BE_E_=+"A=+—HILLEE

Property Marine
Bulk development recreation
commodity and  services and
Leasing trade investment hotel  Unallocated Total
NEBER 8 Lk
HE ARBRES RE  RENEE AR @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
BRTT BETT BRTT BETT BETT BETT
Amounts included in the measure of segment results or
segment assets
FANBEBANREENEZEH
Additions to non-current REXRDEE (EREER
assets (other than financial BREBIEEERIN)
assets and deferred tax
assets) 200 - - 5,345 25 5,570
Depreciation neE 90,030 15 2,338 11,474 2,196 106,053
Impairment losses under BHEEFAEAET Y
expected credit loss model, REBE GNREER)
net of reversal 48,602 (18) - - - 48,584
Loss on disposal of property, HENE BERREZER
plant and equipment 2 - 10 1m - 123
Gain on disposal of HEREME 2 W
investment properties - - (255) - - (255)
Interest income from deposits FRREMEREEZHE
and other financial assets WA (11,861) (486) (690) (59) (3,284) (16,380)
Interest expenses (included FEZH (FAABERK)
in cost of sales) 257,493 - - - - 257,493
Finance costs BEKAK 1,577 18 - 129 29,353 31,077
Amount regularly provided to the CODM but not included
in the analysis of the segment’s performance or
segment assets:
FHRFEEERFERBERAASERALHEEE
Az &HE:
Fair value loss on investment REMEATEESR
properties - - 4,541 - - 4,541
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6 OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 6 RKEIWEH
(Continued)
Other segment information (Continued) Bt g HER (&)
For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE-_Z_—_F+-A=+—HLEFE
Marine
Bulk Property recreation
commodity  development services and
Leasing trade and investment hotel Unallocated Total
ARE M MEERR & LR
HE 25 RE& PR %5 7B & AOE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BETFT BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT

Amounts included in the measure of segment results or
segment assets
AADERBEANREENBZEE

Additions to non-current REXRPEE (EREER

assets (other than financial EEREEERIN)

assets and deferred tax

assets) 460,458 - 1,793 1,951 6,179 470,381
Depreciation nE 22,311 15 22 12,727 4,916 39,991
Impairment losses under BHEEFEEEABT ZRE

expected credit loss model, BB (nREm)

net of reversal 4,586 18 - - - 4,604
Loss on disposal of property, HEME BERIMELHE

plant and equipment - - - 342 - 342
Gain on disposal of HEREME 2 Wi

investment properties - - (1,786) - - (1,786)
Interest income from deposits FRREMEREEZF WA

and other financial assets (11,220) (5) (551) (57) (1,847) (13,680)
Interest expenses (included FEXZH (FFABERK)

in cost of sales) 155,771 - - - - 155,771
Finance costs BAKA 100 1,952 - 25 13,484 15,561

Amount regularly provided to the CODM but not included
in the analysis of the segment’s performance or
segment assets:

EHREIREERARERREABADERRADEEEN T2 28

Fair value loss on investment REMEATEESE
properties - - 6,238 - - 6,238
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

Geographical information

The Group’s operations are located in Hong Kong, the PRC
and others.

Information about the Group's revenue from external customers
is presented based on the location of the customers.
Information about the Group’s non-current assets (other than
financial instruments and deferred tax assets) is presented
based on the physical location of the assets.

e MBRRIE

REFFER (8

1 B2 B F)

AEBENEBOHREE FERE
fb [ -

AEERBIIFEF ZWmEH TR
BEEPHMEMMEIN AEEFERD
BE(ERTAREEHREEERI)
ZEMDRBEZEFEECERMUEM

25

Revenue from external Non-current

customers assets (note)
REMBEFE 2K REBEE (KaE)
2023 2022 2023 2022
—ECo=EE - ZEBZ=FE —T-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T VoL e BT T BT T
Hong Kong &% 11,013 584,780 3,707 5,892
The PRC 2] 724,076 514,239 654,768 781,258
Others EAh 4,922 178,371 = -
740,011 1,277,390 658,475 787,150
Note: Non-current assets excluded financial instruments and deferred tax Wit FRBEETEEEMIAENRETLR
assets. HEE-
Information about major customers FEEFEH
Revenue from customer of the corresponding year REBFEGEREBEBEZETEI0% U
contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the Group is as FOEFPEROKABNT
follows:
2023 2022
—E-= —F-—
HK$'000 HK$000
BT BT T
Customer A BEFA N/A RiE R 379,434

1 The corresponding revenue does not contribute over 10% of the ! A E R EE B A K TR T iR
total revenue of the Group. 10% °
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7

166

OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, NET

oAt WA R W 3 3 R

2023 2022
—E-= —T=-=
HK$°000 HK$°000
B F T BT T
Interest income from: KRENUNTIEE ZFERA:
— deposits and other financial assets —FREEMESRMEE 16,380 13,680
— related parties —fEs 2,248 3,022
Dividend from equity instruments BRATFEFAEMEZE
at FVTOCI WarEw T ARRE 46 63
Government subsidies (note) BT+ B (M1 aE) 442 989
Gain on disposal of investment HEREME 2 W
properties 255 1,786
Others HAty 2,910 5,289
22,281 24,829
Note: Bfat -

For the year ended 31 December 2023, HK$442,000 (2022: HK$797,000)
are government grants obtained from Mainland local government
supporting the tourism business. The Group has complied with the
requirements set out by the local government for both years.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, among the government
subsidies, HK$192,000 (2023: nil) represented government grants
obtained from the Employment Support Scheme (“ESS”) under the Anti-
epidemic Fund launched by the Government of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region supporting the payroll of the Group’s employees.
Under the ESS, the Group had to commit to spend these grants on payroll
expenses, and not to reduce employee head count below prescribed levels
as set out in the ESS.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

meEMBEmRME
FINANCE COSTS 8 ®EKRSK
2023 2022
—Z=-= —E-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
EBEF T BT T
Interest on bank borrowings RITIEEZF B 158,797 75,423
Interest on asset-backed securities BEIRHBERFZTE 120,121 89,715
Interest on loans from related parties REBEFERZHE 9,389 7,766
Interest on lease liabilities HEBEHNE 263 224
288,570 173,128
Less: Do
Amounts included in cost of sales: STABEEKRAZER:
— Interest on bank borrowings —IRITEEZFE (129,532) (61,226)
— Interest on asset-backed —BEIRBERZ
securities & (120,121) (89,715)
— Interest on loans from related —REBEEFERZ
parties FE (7.,840) (4,830)
(257,493) (155,771)
Amounts capitalised on properties BERMEZBIEER
under development fbz a8 - (1,796)
31,077 15,561

In 2022, the borrowing costs had been capitalised at a rate of

2.40% per annum.

RZZBEZZF BEERABZRFF X
2.40% &K1t o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBmRME
9 INCOME TAX EXPENSE 8B X
2023 2022
—_E-= B
HK$’000 HK$'000
BEF T BT T
Current tax: BIHEARL 1A -
Hong Kong Profits Tax BEAMEN 27 283
PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT") PR ERTSR
([EmEHI) 61,552 47,358
PRC Land Appreciation Tax (“LAT") RE i E R
([ ER]) 7,936 2,641
69,515 50,282
Under/(over)provision in prior years: BREFEEETR/
(EBmaEE) -
Hong Kong Profits Tax HEABENER 4 (10)
PRC EIT REREMRED - (56)
4 (66)
Deferred tax (note 30) EERIE (H7E30) (16,435) (5,273)
53,084 44,943

Under the two-tiered profits tax rate regime of Hong Kong
Profits Tax, the first HK$2,000,000 of profits of the qualifying
group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above
HK$2,000,000 will be taxed at 16.5%. Accordingly, the Hong
Kong Profits Tax of the qualifying group entity is calculated
at 8.25% on the first HK$2,000,000 of the estimated
assessable profits and at 16.5% on the estimated assessable
profits above HK$2,000,000. The assessable profits of other
subsidiaries in Hong Kong are taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

Under the Law of the PRC on EIT (the "EIT Law”) and
Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of
the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for both years. The current tax
also comprised LAT which is estimated in accordance with
the requirements set forth in the relevant PRC tax laws and
regulations. LAT has been provided at ranges of progressive
rates of the appreciation value, with certain allowable

deductions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IR ERMEE
INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) 9 MMBHEXE)

BERBREAEZAEHAEG
Az BERINE

Reconciliation between income tax expense and accounting
profit at applicable tax rates:

2023 2022
—BC-=5F —EF-—
HK$°000 HK$°000
B F T BT T
Profit before tax B 35 Bl A 121,501 122,231
Tax calculated at PRC EIT rate of 25% R EPEREHE25%
(2022: 25%) T :25%)
AEZHIA 30,375 30,558
Effect of different tax rates of group TR AR BN E At R A ME =
entities operating in jurisdictions KRE2EEERZ A
other than the PRC MERFE 4,285 2,365
PRC LAT A+ b R (E Y 7,936 2,641
Tax effect on LAT T I E R 2 B e & (1,984) (660)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible MBS HIBRAS 2
for tax purpose M E 922 2,794
Tax effect of income not taxable for BERTWA Z R E
tax purpose (777) (646)
Tax effect of temporary difference RIERGERMEEE 2B
not recognised - 929 (44)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERBVEBB BB E 7,171 7,847
Utilisation of tax losses previously not BABERERBIABE
recognised (197) (347)
Withholding tax for undistributed PR E AR 2R B R T
profits of PRC subsidiaries Z B 4,420 501
Under/(over)provision in prior years BAFEREBTIR (BHE
BE) 4 (66)
Income tax expense s 53,084 44,943
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e MR

10 PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

170

10 FREF

2023 2022
—E-= —E- =
HK$’000 HK$'000
B F T BT
Profit for the year has been arrived FREME MR (FFA) -
at after charging/(crediting):
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BMELEB2ZITE
equipment 106,054 39,996
Less: Amounts capitalised on B EERYEZBIEEAR
properties under development bz a5 (1) (5)
106,053 39,991
Staff costs (including directors’ BEIRK (BRESFHE)
emoluments) 59,851 69,165
Contributions to retirement benefits RORAE B 5T 85K
schemes (including directors’ (BREE=HL)
emoluments) 12,765 14,359
Total staff costs B I AN 72,616 83,524
Less: Amounts capitalised on W ERPYEBIEAR
properties under development bz & (1,123) (1,833)
71,493 81,691
Impairment losses under expected EHEEEFEBEEREBETZ
credit loss model, net of reversal WEEE (RER)
— trade and other receivables — B 5 K H b e FKIE (18) 18
— finance lease receivables and —mEMRE R FRIAR
loan receivables FERE 48,602 4,586
48,584 4,604
Auditor's remuneration ZE AN & 2,510 2,080
Cost of commodities sold EmEERAK (GTABEE
(included in cost of sales) B AS) 13,442 752,844
Cost of properties sold MEHERR (FFAHE
(included in cost of sales) A ) 51,689 57,970
Exchange loss, net M 5 B 18)F 88 2,374 7,584
Loss on disposal of property, LEME BEREHEZ
plant and equipment, net EEFEE 123 342
Gross rental income from REEZREMEZHERA
investment properties B (2,752) (2,788)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRI

11 DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S

EMOLUMENTS

(a) Directors’ emoluments

Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant
to applicable Listing Rules and the Hong Kong Companies

Ordinance, is as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2023

11 EENGHREEEMS

(a) EFM=

REBEER EHRAREE R RE

BOAFEEEMEOT

BE-_E-_=F+-A=+—HILEE

Non-
executive Independent non-executive
Executive directors director directors
FH1T
HITES 3 BYFHTES
Lee Man
Zhang Gu Yang Wang Chang Chun,
Bin Honglin Tianzhou  Daxiong Qing Tony He Jia Total
iR B BHEMN IR BE ZE2 i &5t
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
BT EEFr EEFr BTt BETrT BTt EBETrT EETx
(note (a)) (note (b))
(Miat(a)) (KiaE(b))
Fees we - - - 10 360 360 360 1,090
Salaries and other allowances ~ ¥& R H )28 - - - - - - - -
Discretionary bonus [lER(EAN - - - - - - - -
Contribution to retirement RNEFIFTEIE R
benefits schemes - - - - - - - -
Total emoluments FeXe - - - 10 360 360 360 1,090
For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE-_ZE-__S+-_A=+—HLFE
Non-
executive
Executive directors director  Independent non-executive directors
AT
WITEF E BUFNTESF
Zhang Yang Wang Chang Lee Man
Bin Gu Honglin  Tianzhou Daxiong Qing Chun, Tony He Jia Total
R, B 15 B BN ®E B2 £ A
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
¥ BEFT EBEFT BEFrT BEFr BEFr BEFT BEFT
(note (c))
(Hizt(c)
Fees we - - - 180 360 360 360 1,260
Salaries and other allowances ¥ R H )28 - - - - - - - -
Discretionary bonus [lER(EAN - - - - - - - -
Contribution to retirement RNEFIFT B
benefits schemes - - - - - - - -
Total emoluments e - - - 180 360 360 360 1,260
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

11 DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S

172

EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

Notes:

(a) Mr. Yang Tianzhou has resigned as an executive director with effect
from 12 January 2024.

(b)  Mr. Wang Daxiong was appointed as a non-executive director with
effect from 1 July 2022 and resigned with effect from 11 January
2023.

(c) Mr. Gu Honglin was appointed as an executive director with effect
from 23 December 2022.

The executive directors are not paid directly by the Company
but receive emoluments from the Company’s holding company,
in respect of their services to the larger group which includes
the Group. No apportionment has been made as the qualifying
services provided by these directors to the Group are incidental
to their responsibilities to the larger group. There was no
arrangement under which a director waived or agreed to waive
any remuneration during the year.

(b) Five highest paid individuals

None (2022: none) of the director of the Company was
included in the five highest paid individuals of the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2023. The emoluments of
the five (2022: five) highest paid individuals who are neither
a director nor chief-executive of the Company for the year
ended 31 December 2023 were as follows:

EENERAEEEME (&)

(a) EEHZ (%)
it -

(@ HEMEEEHERTEERYE 8=
TOME-A+ - BRER-

(b) FABELEEEAENTES B
T-o-FLA-BRAN IR-F
—=F—A+—BBfE-

(0 BEAMNEEERZERNTESF B=F
T+ A+ =BEAEM-

HITEENESTMEAFBARAE
BXf MaERAREHEBR AR
BE EAREFRERAKEENRN
MEAEBIRHERENKE BRZ
FEERAAKERHENEERREE
HESTREENEETER WA EE
ho#E-MEEERNRIARNERRESF
NERB S & 2Bk~

(b) LERSFHMAL

He—_Z-_ =+ _A=+—HI#
B J\(ZEZ_F :\)ARTES
FARSEBERAEZGESFMAL -HE
—E_ZF+-_A=+—BLFE"
AE(ZEZ__F - AR)FARAE
ERERTHRAENESTFMALZ
BT

2023 2022
—=Z==-= —E-=

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Salaries and other benefits FekEAmETF 3,874 4,359

Performance-based bonus EWED 2,359 3,075
Contributions to retirement benefit RAKAE FIFT 845K

schemes 919 739

7,152 8,173
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBEmRME
11 DIRECTORS’' AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S 1M EEREREEEME (&)
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
(b) Five highest paid individuals (Continued) (b) BEZEHMWAL (4E)
The number of the highest paid individuals who are not the TN FUTHENERATESTD
directors of the Company whose remuneration fell within the BEoFMATHOAZKRDT

following bands is as follows:

Number of individuals

ABH®E
2023 2022
—E-=fF —E-—
HK$1,000,001 to HK$ 1,500,000 751,000,001 L&
7 #1,500,0007T 3 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 & #1,500,001 T E
75 %2,000,0007T 2 4
5 5
During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, no RBE_Z_=FR_FT__F+=
remuneration was paid by the Group to the directors or the A=T—BLEE AEELERE
five (2022: five) highest paid individuals as an inducement to ERAR (CE - —F AR EaE
join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of B E A S R E AT BN © - 1E R sk B E
office. AR EE R HE A& B 2 52E) -
HIEREBER 1 -
(c) Senior management’s emolument (c) EREZEEME
The remuneration paid to the senior management (other than RER MaRERE (K EXXHT
the directors as disclosed in note 11(a) above) for the years M@QEENESZIN A ES N T
fell within the following band: T34 5
Number of individuals
AB¥EH
2023 2022
—ECZ=H —EF-—
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 7&#1,000,001TE
75 %1,500,0007C 1 1
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e MR

12 DIVIDENDS 12 RE
2023 2022
—E-= —T=-=
HK$°000 HK$'000
B F T BT T
Dividends proposed: BREIRKRE:
Proposed final dividend of HK0.34 B FEREZS RER
cent (2022: HK0.39 cent) per TEBM0.347F M (==
ordinary share in respect of the T 039812
current financial year FEIE B 20,280 23,262
Dividends paid in cash: ENBESKRE:
Final dividend of HK0.39 cent BEMBEFESRER
(2021: HK0.54 cent) per LMAR039BI(=F
ordinary share in respect of the ——F 054810z
previous financial year REARR B 23,262 32,209
The final dividend of HK0.34 cent per ordinary share proposed RBEARERZEERBEE_T ==

after the reporting date for the year ended 31 December
2023 were not recognised as a liability at the end of the
reporting date. In addition, the final dividend is subject to
the shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming annual general

meeting.

FE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE KM RME
13 EARNINGS PER SHARE 13 B8REF
The calculation of the basic earnings per share attributable to KRG EEANEBEERERZN THE
owners of the Company is based on the following data: RUATEIEE
2023 2022
—E_-= S ——
HK$°000 HK$'000
B F T BT T
Earnings 2R
Profit for the year attributable to ARTAEERERERNZ
owners of the Company for the RRRHEEAEBIEERA
purpose of basic earnings per share i 68,003 76,066
2023 2022
—E-= - ——
‘000 ‘000
FR F AR
Number of shares R & B
Weighted average number of ARFAEERERANZ
ordinary shares for the purpose of i FHEmREE
basic earnings per share 5,952,885 5,952,885
Diluted earnings per share for the years ended 31 December HREBE_ZE_=Fk_ZF_=
2023 and 2022 are not presented as there were no dilutive T AZ=T-BLEFETEGFEAE
potential ordinary shares in issue during both years. BEN2BEBTERAR BILEZT
MEFE 2 BREFERT -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14 Y% BERSKHE
Marine  Land and
Motor travel other
Furniture vehicles  facilities properties Machineries
and and and leased for and
Buildings equipment vessels equipment  ownuse  equipment Total
FFERAZ
BRR AER BLEKE fHREM BHR
BF  BORE Ml RERRE NEEE RE At

HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
BT BETT  BETT  BETT BRI BETT  BETIL

Cost
At 1 January 2022 164,497 21,259 75,627 7,640 74,303 134,308 477,634
Exchange adjustments (12,134) (2,283) (5,755) (564) (4,800) (20,603) (46,139)
Additions - 42,494 28 - 12,543 413,555 468,620
Disposals - (4,920) (2,970) - - - (7,890)
Eliminated upon end of leases - - - - (10,308) - (10,308)
At 31 December 2022 and

1 January 2023 152,363 56,550 66,930 7,076 71,738 527,260 881,917
Exchange adjustments (4,045) (1,409) (1,867) (188) (1,697) (13,998) (23,204)
Additions - 337 - - 5,233 - 5,570
Disposals - (252) - - - - (252)
Lease modifications HEBR - - - - (4,718) = (4,718)
Transfer to investment BREREME (Kit15)

properties (note 15) (3,831) - - - - - (3,831)
At 31 December 2023 RZZFZ=F+=A=1+—H 144,487 55,226 65,063 6,888 70,556 513,262 855,482
Accumulated depreciation RAFERAE

and impairment
At 1 January 2022 R-E--%—-f—H 43,960 13,054 49,473 6,445 33,453 23,878 170,263
Exchange adjustments [ERE R (3,422) (492) (4,068) (468) (1,893) (2,295) (12,638)
Provided for the year FREE 6,918 2,281 2,669 - 7,483 20,645 39,996
Eliminated on disposals R - (4,569) (2,881) - - - (7,450)
Eliminated upon end of leases HELREEKHE - - - - (10,308) - (10,308)
At 31 December 2022 and R-ZB-—_#+-R=+—-A

1 January 2023 k-—Z-=#—-F—H 47,456 10,274 45,193 5,977 28,735 42,228 179,863
Exchange adjustments fE e (1,260) (123) (1,353) (156) (708) (1,121) (4,721)
Provided for the year FRERE 6,467 7,994 2,448 - 6,169 82,976 106,054
Eliminated on disposals BRI 8 - (129) - - - = (129)
Lease modifications HEBH - - - - (1,302) - (1,302)
Transfer to investment BREREME (Kit15)

properties (note 15) (1,765) - - - - - (1,765)
At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=F+=-A=1+—-8H 50,898 18,016 46,288 5,821 32,894 124,083 278,000
Carrying amounts REE
At 31 December 2023 R-ZZFZ=F+-A=+—H 93,589 37,210 18,775 1,067 37,662 389,179 577,482
At 31 December 2022 R-ZFZZF+=-A=+—A 104,907 46,276 21,737 1,099 43,003 485,032 702,054
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14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

The above items of property, plant and equipment, after
taking into account the residual values, are depreciated on a
straight-line basis at the following rates per annum:

Buildings

Furniture and equipment

Motor vehicles and vessels

Marine travel facilities and
equipment

Machineries and equipment

Right-of-use assets

The Group as lessee

4%

10% to 33%
6.67% to 33%
6.67% to 33%

16.67%

Over the shorter of the
assets’ useful life or
the lease term

Right-of-use assets (included in the property, plant and

equipment)

e MBRRIE

14 VE - BERRE®H

UEME BELREBEERERBEINEE
M BEROE TIFRAERER
= .

BF 4%

BRI R 55 10% £33%
YTE A AR 6.67% £33%
B EIREREN  6.67% £33%
B

R N2 5% 1B 16.67%

EREEE BEMNERFHR
HE (ABmEE
RBEE)

AR EEERAHEA
EREEE (FFAREWE  BREMRE)

Leasehold Leased
lands properties Total
et HEWE a5

HK$000 ~ HK$'000  HK$'000
BETT  BETIT  EETT

As at 31 December 2023
Carrying amount

As at 31 December 2022
Carrying amount

For the year ended
31 December 2023
Depreciation charge

For the year ended
31 December 2022
Depreciation charge

R-ZB-=%+=-A=+—H

FREE

R=ZB=-=%t+=-A=+—H

BREE
BE-ZE-=+=AH

=t+—HILEE
WEXH

BE-Z-_—_+=H
=t+—HLEE
et

29,475 8,187 37,662
32,272 10,731 43,003
1,940 4,229 6,169

2,046 5,437 7,483
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e MR

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

178

The Group as lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets (included in the property, plant and
equipment) (Continued)

14 VE - BERRE®H

AEBEFERABA (H)

EREEE (FFAEYE BENRE)
(%)

2023 2022
—E2-= - —
HK$'000 HK$°000
B F T BT
Total cash outflow for lease HEMR &Rtz 3,860 7,456
Additions to right-of-use assets REFTHEEE 5,233 12,543

For both years, the Group leases various offices for its
operations. Lease contracts are entered into for fixed term
of 3 years (2022: 3 years) without extension and termination
options.

The Group has obtained the land use right certificate for all
leasehold lands.

The Group as lessor

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group leases out all
the machineries and equipment under operating leases to
generate rental income.

Impairment assessment

In respect of the Group’s marine recreation services and hotel
CGU, due to recurring operating losses, the management of
the Group concluded there was indication for impairment
and conducted an impairment assessment on the recoverable
amounts of certain property, plant and equipment under this
CGU.

The Group estimates the recoverable amounts of the relevant
assets under the CGU based on the higher of fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. The carrying amount of the
relevant assets does not exceed the recoverable amount based
on fair value less costs of disposal and no impairment has
been recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The Group leases out various offices and stores under
operating leases with rentals payable monthly. The leases
typically run for an initial period of 3 — 10 years (2022: 3 - 10
years), with unilateral rights to extend the lease beyond initial
period held by lessees only.

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as a result
of the lease arrangements, as all leases are denominated in
the respective functional currencies of group entities. The
lease contracts do not contain residual value guarantee and/

e MBRRIE

15 REWE

AEERBEEHELEZEARAE
MIEH e AYN ZERE—R
%}J*thﬁmimi(_z\::ﬁ:a?tm
F) EABABREFASHEBLTER
EHHR 215

HAMEREOUNEEERSBENY
EERGE BASEYEANAE L
BEmmEERNERR-HEANL TS
ERHBEEERELAEARESR

or lessee’s option to purchase the property at the end of lease ERISEEMENEERE-
term.
2023 2022
—E=-= T F
HK$°000 HK$°000
BT T BT T
Fair value BATHE
At 1 January Rn—H—H 85,096 99,255
Exchange adjustments PE 52 (2,258) (7,142)
Changes in fair value recognised in REHEFERZD 2%
profit or loss (4,541) (6,238)
Additions NE - 1,762
Disposals & (769) (2,541)
Transfer from property, plant and EEYE - WEREE
equipment (note 14) (Hizt14) 3,465 -
At 31 December R+=—A=+—H 80,993 85,096
Fair value loss on investment FABRENREVELATE
properties included in EiE
profit or loss (4,541) (6,238)

The carrying amount of investment properties shown above
represents properties situated in the PRC held under medium-
term leases.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, buildings with
carrying amount of HK$2,066,000 (2022: nil) included in
property, plant and equipment (note 14) were transferred to
investment properties and revaluation gain of approximately
HK$1,049,000 (2022: nil), net of tax, was credited to
revaluation reserve as operating lease agreements were
entered into with a third party for these buildings since the
prior year to generate rental income.

EXFARZEBEEMEZREERRE
FREARTEREZYE-

HE-_T-="F+-A=+—HIHF
E-st AW HWERZE (ME14) 2
R (E A B 2,066,000 (2 = =
F R )ZEFEEZREYWE MH
BFEE BEh B 1,049,000
TECF B)EBERAEGBRE D
HREFFE—ZE-FTRZFET
Rl EEREAEERS WA -
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B B SRR MY RE

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

The fair values of the Group’'s investment properties at
31 December 2023 and 2022 have been arrived at on the
basis of a valuation carried out on the respective dates by
Jones Lang Lasalle Corporate Appraisal and Advisory Limited,
an independent qualified professional valuer not connected
to the Group. Jones Lang Lasalle Corporate Appraisal and
Advisory Limited is a member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Surveyors and possesses appropriate qualifications and
recent experience in the valuation of similar properties in the
relevant locations.

In estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest and
best use of the properties is their current use.

The following table presents the fair value of the Group’s
investment properties measured at the end of the reporting
period on a recurring basis, categorised into the three-
level fair value hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13 “Fair value
measurement”. The level into which a fair value measurement
is determined with reference to the observability and
significance of the inputs used in the valuation technique as
follows:

Fair value hierarchy as at 31 December 2023

15 REWXE (&)

AEEBRZZE_=ZFR_F=-=
+ZA=+—BZREVEZATFAE
LBy AEREXGEMPEHTH
X HEFERBRAR (BAEEW
ﬂﬁ% E)RSEREMRAZHERE

P EBMITEETHRBRNER
“T%E%M;%%@@E HmEE
BEK AN EEBELIEUDE
ZHE”LS -

RETMEZ R FER ﬁﬁ%%%Z
EakRERRINAEERNAR

TREJNRBEHRZEFEE LT
ENASEREMENATFE FE
REEMBREENFIIR(AFE
AEIEBRN =GR FESH - 2FE
ARERBNERE2EGHES AR
ANBABBENABRERERZNEE
EWR

RIBE-_=ZF+-A=+—HH L
FEZER

Level 2 Level 3 Total
— & ] =% A&t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
BYTT BETT BETT EBETFT
Investment properties: HEME:
Property units — the PRC VB —F - 2,134 78,859 80,993

Fair value hierarchy as at 31 December 2022

A =—FE——FE+=—HA=+—HHAR
FlEZER

Level 2 Level 3 Total
— & =& =& ast
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BEFT BEFrT BEFrT BETT
Investment properties: BEME:
Property units — the PRC M EA—HF - 10,485 74,611 85,096

China Chengtong Development Group Limited FEIFE# R EB AR AT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023, due to the disappearance of the
observable input (that is the market price), an investment
property of HK$10,208,000 was transferred from Level 2 to
Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy. Besides, an investment
property of HK$1,551,000 was transferred from Level 3 to
Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy as the fair value is based on
recent transaction price of sales agreement concluded with an
independent third party.

Except as disclosed above, there were no transfers between
Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers into or out of Level 3 during
the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: no transfers
between Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers into or out of Level
3). The Group's policy is to recognise transfers between levels
of fair value hierarchy as at the end of the reporting period in
which they occur.

Fair value is determined by applying the income approach for
the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 and based on
the following significant unobservable inputs.

15

e MBRRIE

BEWE (&)

R-E-—=F+=-_A=+—8 #\HR
AEREGASE (HEEIK)EX
75 #10,208,000 MR EME B A F
BEER _-_BEAB=HK LI - ARA
FEDBDEREBTFE = LAHE
EmE iR SERGE B
1,551,000 I EMHE R A FEER
—RE R

BREXEEEN BHEZ_ZTZ=F
+ZA=ZF+—BLHFE HE—HR
“HRZENEBRE RN DR E AKE
B (Z2Z—F B E—RE_fH
MEBRIR=HHEAED) A%
EZHREARBLEER 2 REHER
BRAFESEH Z2EEE-

HE-_ZT-_=FfR-_ZF=-=_F+=A8
—t+—HLEE AFEDNEBER
WASERBIEATER ARG A
HEET -

Significant Relationship of unobservable
unobservable inputs Range inputs to fair value
TUREBABBH
EXTUEHEBARE #E D EZBE
Term yield 3.0% - 4.5% per annum The higher the term yield, the
(2022: 3.0% — 4.5% per annum) lower the fair value.
F HI Ol 3R HF3.0% -4.5% FHEREDS AL FERE-

(ZE-—F :5E3.0% -45%)

Expected vacancy rate 0% - 10.0% (2022: 0% — 10.0%)

TBHIZEE X 0% - 10.0% (ZE==%:0% - 10.0% )
3.5% - 5.0% per annum

(2022: 3.5% — 5.0% per annum)
FHE35% -5.0%

(ZEZZF :8%F35% -50%)

Reversionary yield

SRRk

Daily rent RMB1.40 — RMB8.00 per square meter
(2022: RMB1.09 — RMB6.02 per
square meter)

FRHED FEHARARE 40T - AR#S.007T

The higher the expected vacancy
rate, the lower the fair value.
AHzEEERS  NAFEREK.

The higher the reversionary yield,
the lower the fair value.
EmmEas  MATERR:.

The higher the daily rent, the
higher the fair value.

BHEERS MAFELR

(ZEBEZ=F:FF¥HRKARE1.09T - AR¥6.0270)
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 15

For the investment properties under Level 3 recurring fair value
measurement, a reconciliation of the opening and closing fair

REWE (&)

HRREMEZRAFEB=RKEM
RFEAE FOEFRAFERR

value balances is provided below.

ZHERWMT -

2023 2022
—=s=:== —E—-=
HK$'000 HK$°000
BT T BT T
Opening balance F AR
(Level 3 recurring fair value) (ZREEFHERNTFE) 74,611 87,933
Exchange adjustments IE W2 (2,564) (6,305)
Fair value change NFEEES (3,142) (6,238)
Addition NE 1,762
Disposals e (769) (2,541)
Transfer from property, plant and EEYE - WEREE
equipment (note 14) (Btat14) 2,066 -
Transfer from Level 2 L= i) 10,208 -
Transfer out of Level 3 B = (1,551) -
Closing balance FRERTE
(Level 3 recurring fair value) —REFHERTFE) 78,859 74,611

Information about Level 2 fair value measurement -

Property unit in the PRC

For the investment property of which the sales agreement
was concluded, it was valued by recent transaction price
without any significant adjustment being made to the market
observable data. The fair value measurement was classified as

Level 2.

China Chengtong Development Group Limited FEIH B R EBERAA

BB =R FEAEBZEN -RFP

] 59 ) 5 B {7

HREFTVHEBRZNREY R K
RIS EREMSAIBRAER
FEFREAFHENER TETHE

RFEFEDBRR _F-
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THE COMPANY

16 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF

Details of the principal subsidiaries directly/indirectly held by
the Company at the end of the reporting period are set out

below:

Place of
incorporation/
registration/

Paid-up capital/issued

16 XABETEMBRAZFE

ARARBERRER HEFEN
TZMBARFBOT:

Effective equity interest

held by

Name of subsidiary operations share capital the Company Principal activities
HMmK I/ BHRELR/
W 2 B £ i e BRITRE ERERECEREE TEXR
2023 2022
—B-=f —-T--F
% %
Directly held:
EERR:
Galactic Investment Limited Hong Kong HK$2 100 100 Investment holding
BIREERAA e LYo BAER
Indirectly held:
MEsE:
Chengtong Trading (International) Hong Kong HK$429 100 100 Finance leasing
Limited
HABES (BR)ERAA B 429 BEHRE
Chengtong World Trade Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000,000 51 51 Bulk commodity trade
B EERRA ) #1%10,000,0007T ARERE S
Zhucheng Phoenix Landmark The PRC RMB50,000,000 100 100 Property development
Company Limited*A and investment
ZRBEEBRDF A Gl AR #50,000,0007 NEBRRRE
Chengtong Financial Leasing The PRC RMB2,000,000,000 100 100 Finance leasing and
Company Limited*A operating leasing
HEREMEBRAF A i AR #2,000,000,0007T MEHERKEHE
Chengtong Development Trading The PRC RMB 100,000,000 100 100 Bulk commodity trade
Company Limited*A
BBEREHERRA HE AR®100,000,0007T AREME S
Hainan Yalong Bay Underwater The PRC RMB96,000,000 100 100 Provision of marine
World Travel Company Limited*A recreation services
BETEEEEERREARD R A FE AR #96,000,0007T REE LIRERE
Hainan Huandao Underwater The PRC RMB8,000,000 100 100 Hotel business
World Hotel Company Limited*#
BEEEERE RBEEFERAR A HE AR #8,000,0007T BIEER
* A limited liability company established in the PRC. * —ERPBKL 2 BRAF -
A The English names are for identification only. A B EBEMBA -
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16 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF

184

THE COMPANY (Continued)

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the directors of the Company, principally
affected the results of the year or formed a substantial portion
of the assets and liabilities of the Group. To give details of
other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors of the
Company, result in particulars of excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities, except
that Chengtong Financial Leasing Company Limited, the
Company's wholly-owned subsidiary, had issued asset-backed
securities. As at 31 December 2023, the outstanding balance of
the issued asset-backed securities amounted to approximately
RMB3,046,925,000 (equivalent to HK$3,351,617,000) (2022:
RMB2,596,388,000 (equivalent to HK$2,933,919,000)),
among which the Group held an interest in approximately
RMB314,000,000 (equivalent to HK$345,400,000) (2022:
RMB205,000,000 (equivalent to HK$231,650,000)).

The following table lists out the information relating to
Chengtong World Trade Limited, the subsidiary of the Company
which has non-controlling interests (“NCI”) in the respective
years. The summarised financial information presented below
represents the amounts before intragroup eliminations.

China Chengtong Development Group Limited FEIFE# R EB AR AT

16 XABETEMBRAZFE

(%)

FRINEARBDEERRIEFER
SEFAXREXTEXAEERNDBN B
ERBEBEZARAKERGR - ANQA
EEZTEIRWAR BALHES HE
Ay PNCIA K

WEMBARBITEIMNERES
WARNRZZENBRARAHBRE
HEARARDETEEIHE S
RZZEBE_=%F+-_A=+—R80 2%
NTEEIREBEF2AEBERSAY
AR #3,046,925,000T (B E R B
#3,351,617,000L) (=& ==

A R 12 596,388,0007T (18 & M5 I
2,933,919,0007T) ) * M AL B R H &
B 4 A R1314,000,0007T (% R
7 #345,400,000T) (Z &2 = =
AR #205,000,0007T (& R B H
231,650,0007T) ) By #E %5 -

TRINHBBEARFMME QR B
SARARNSEFEFEFERES
(TkERBEHE | DNEH -UAT22Z
MEEMBERRTEEBMEHA
B -
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16 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF 16 AATRTFTEMEB AR ZHE

THE COMPANY (Continued) (&)
Chengtong World Trade Limited HEMEERA A
2023 2022
—E=-= -
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BB F T
As at 31 December R+=—A=+—H
NCI percentage FERERBEDL 49% 49%
Current assets REEE 10,776 25,864
Non-current assets FRBEE 22 37
Current liabilities MENEE (474) (8,922)
Non-current liabilities FEnRBERE = -
Equity attributable to owners of the Company ZNARIEEA A B 2 5,264 8,658
NCI of Chengtong World Trade Limited Mt AR A A RS 5,060 8,321
For the year ended 31 December BE+-A=+T—HLEE
Revenue Wz 13,641 761,745
Profit for the year F N m 845 2,493
Total comprehensive income THNRZREE 845 2,493
Profit and total comprehensive FENHEt EAR AR FEE
income attributed to NCI of RN FE RS WA BE
Chengtong World Trade Limited 414 1,222
Dividend to disclosure RERE
Dividend paid to NCI of Chengtong BBt D AR A A FFER
World Trade Limited i Engpdl o) 3,675 -
For the year ended 31 December BZ+-A=+—-HLEE
Net cash flows from operating activities KERPELEZHERE 19,245 31,467
Net cash flows from investing activities REEHEL2RERE 486 22
Net cash flows from financing activities REEFHELECRERE (12,763) (44,263)
Net cash outflows RentFaE 6,968 (12,774)

2023
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17 PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE/PROPERTIES
UNDER DEVELOPMENT

17 FEHENE BRETYE

2023 2022

—E-= —E_—
HK$’000 HK$'000
B F T BT T
Properties held for sale BIEHEWE 198,869 63,927
Properties under development BRPYE - 182,767
198,869 246,694

As at 31 December 2022, properties held under development
comprised leasehold lands in the PRC under medium-term
lease for commercial use and long lease for residential use
and certain construction costs. The amount was expected to
be recovered within the Group's operating cycle, thus, it was
classified as current assets as at 31 December 2022. Upon
completion of construction works, completed properties under

RZZBE-_—_F+-A=+—8 %E
PEBERBEIEREPHEOR
FEABRBHOAPEBFANEE
TH R E TREREKR AN - ZRBBETE
RASEZLERARKE AR =
T —F+-_A=+—8 AR
BE -BRIRTIE TINEED

development were transferred to properties held for sale. MECEABELNEDE-
Analysis of leasehold lands: ME T
HK$'000
BT
As at 31 December 2023 R-ZBZ=F+=HA=+—8H
Carrying amount FREE 116,633
As at 31 December 2022 R-ZB--F+=-A=+—H
Carrying amount FREE 119,337

During the year ended 31 December 2023, there are neither
additions of nor any cash outflow on the leasehold lands
(2022: nil).

The carrying amount of leasehold lands is measured at cost
less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
The residual values are determined as the estimated disposal
value of the leasehold land component. No depreciation
charge is made on the leasehold lands taking into account the
estimated residual values as at 31 December 2023 (2022: nil).

186 China Chengtong Development Group Limited FEIFE# R EB AR AT

KRBT -_=F+-_A=+—H81t
FE - MET T ELENNTAIRS
B (ZEZZF &) -

T E £ b 10 B T (B DA AR AN R 1T ] 2 5t
WERRBREBRTE -FHEERET
ABRELTHHINGBHHEEE =
BN -_E-_=ZF+-_A=+—HHK
HErRGEE BEL W AIRFE
BRH(ZZ=-_—_F:\)-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRI

INVENTORIES 18 &L
2023 2022
—Z=-= —E-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Bulk commodities KR E & = 2,557
Merchandises and consumables & & OB FE 3,848 4,304
3,848 6,861
TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 19 ESZRHEMERRKE
2023 2022
—Z=-= —E- -
HK$’000 HK$°000
EBEF T BT T
Trade and bills receivables (note (a)) B RWNREREWRERE
(Kiat(a)) 4,067 21,643
Less: Allowance for credit losses B EEEERE (1) (19)
4,066 21,624
Other prepayments and deposits HEMBEARBERES 3,220 3,458
Other receivables (note (b)) E b GRIE (B b)) 15,604 15,449
Other tax recoverable E b a] Y [ 77 18 28,338 64,337
Amount due from a related FEU —REFE R R FRIE
company (note (c)) (Mt (c)) 1,671 3,458
52,899 108,326

Notes:

(a)

As at 31 December 2023, the amounts mainly represented
trade and bills receivables of nil (2022: HK$19,486,000) from
bulk commodity trade business and HK$3,708,000 (2022:
HK$2,022,000) from leasing out owned machineries and equipment
under operating lease arrangement. Credit period of 1 to 30 days
was granted to customers for trade and bills receivables as at
31 December 2023 and 2022.

The Group normally grants credit terms to its customers according
to industry practice together with consideration of their credibility
and repayment history. The Group maintains strict control over its
outstanding receivables. Overdue balances are regularly reviewed by
senior management.

As at 31 December 2023, loss allowance of HK$1,000 (2022:
HK$19,000) was made against the gross amount of trade and bills
receivables.

B et -
(a)

2023 Annual Report FEH &

RZBE_=F+-_A=+—H0 %=
CHIEEREBEATEARESIEBH
BESRMURERBERKRERAT(ZZF
— —F:E%19,486,0007T) KK B £
EHERHETHEHEEBERMR
S 3,708,000t (ZZE = ZF : B
2,022,0000)  R-_ZE_=ZFR_F
¥+ A=Z+—R BREHEKRX
EREREERMNS TPEXT1E30
AERBRE] -

AEEBERBEEANERLEREPH
ERAREREZEDS AREXHRIE
Hi o AN SR B S E R UG 2 8 U RROR A 5%
BERES AR MRREREEE
HimaR o

R-_ZB-=#+-F=+—H B#=
SEBFEREREEBEFELEIE
BEBE1000 (ZE - —_FFK
19,0007T) °
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EFZRHEHMEWRRIE (&)
Biat: (%)

19 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued) 19

Notes: (Continued)
(@)  (Continued) (a) (#)

RMEHRRLERZAHNER2EFEK
RENERER (MBEEBERE)

The following is an ageing analysis of trade and bills receivables,
net of allowance for credit losses presented based on the invoice

date at the end of the reporting period: ZERTHT
2023 2022
—E-=F —E - F
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T B F T
1 - 30 days 1230k 2,447 2,616
31 - 90 days 31290k 1,619 18,991
Over 90 days HBRI0K - 17
4,066 21,624

REBRSHRNAHINHAA KRERR
ERREZE S BEERERRE (10
BEREBBRER) ZRERITIT:

The ageing analysis of trade and bills receivables, net of allowance
for credit losses presented that are not considered to be credit-

188

impaired based on the past due date at the end of the reporting
period is as follows:

2023 2022

—EBE-=F —EF-
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T B F T
Not yet past due 18 A 180 ER 4,066 21,559
Less than one month past due BEI DR —1{E A - 65
4,066 21,624

As at 31 December 2023, trade receivables with carrying amount of
approximately HK$728,000 (2022: HK$412,000) and HK$2,814,000
(2022: HK$1,610,000) have been pledged as security for bank
borrowings (note 28) and asset-backed securities (note 29),
respectively.

As at 31 December 2023, loss allowance of HK$186,000 (2022:
HK$186,000) were made against the gross amount of other
receivables.

As at 31 December 2023, the amount due from a related company
included HK$468,000 (2022: HK$3,100,000) interest receivable
arising from loan to a related company and the remaining balance
is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 36(b).

China Chengtong Development Group Limited FEIFE# R EB AR AT

(b)

(c)

R-ZZE-_=%+-_F=+—H EEE
K EWET28,000 (Z T ZF B W
412,00070) K8 #2,814,000T (=&
— 4 :%%1,610,0007T) B E 5 E U
REEDREMIERRTEE (M F
28) REEZFES (MH29) R -

RZE-_=F+-_A=+—80 2%
Hi R EREFIREBREELEE
186,0007C ( — & — — 4 : j#186,000
T e

RZBEZ=F+=ZA=+—H8 Ek—
RAERFRREBEARERERTHER
B E A BB #468,000 (= =
5 3,100,0007T) B FE UL A & -
Fersp B AEET 2B NERENRE
ﬁo

BB RY {4 & B B FE36(b) ©
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20 FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES AND LOAN 20 BEHEERREREKRER

RECEIVABLES
2023 2022
—Z=-= —E-=

HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T JE M T T
Finance lease receivables BhE T E U GRIE 44,612 90,492
Loan receivables FEUE 3K 8,887,820 8,143,585
8,932,432 8,234,077
Less: Allowance for credit losses B EE R RS (64,670) (16,503)
8,867,762 8,217,574

Analysed for reporting purposes as: DITER2 WA E
Current assets MBEE 3,963,122 3,227,908
Non-current assets ERBEE 4,904,640 4,989,666
8,867,762 8,217,574

The Group is engaged in finance lease arrangements and sale
and leaseback arrangements.

For finance lease arrangements, the ownership of the leased
assets will be transferred to the lessees at a purchase option
price upon settlement of the principal of finance lease
receivables and the interest accrued under the finance lease
arrangements. The terms of finance lease entered into usually
range from 2 to 5 years (2022: 2 to 5 years).

As at 31 December 2023, loss allowance of HK$64,670,000
(2022: HK$16,503,000) was made against the gross amount of
financial lease receivables and loan receivables.

AEERERERERHFARERE
M2k

FMEHETHENS F%SMER

ELHBTITzRERERRFELRS

MEGNEGEER HEEEZMA

ERIERERREER A A A

FIVREHEMNHRBEN F285F
TR ZFQESF) o

R-_E-_=#F#+_A=+—80 %
MERERKRGFAELERE BB
RSB R BB %64,670,000L (=&
— % :7%%16,503,0007T) °
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20 FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES AND LOAN 20 BEHEERREREKRER

RECEIVABLES (Continued) (%)

The finance lease receivables are due as follows:

MEMERYFENIHBFEROT

2023 2022
—E-= —F--
Present Present
value of value of
Minimum minimum Minimum minimum
lease lease lease lease
payments payments payments payments
REHRE REHE =EAE REBE
% ARZBEE 3 HRzEE
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BT T B F T
Finance lease receivables BEHERKFIERE:
comprise:
Within one year —FR 35,569 34,038 47,682 44,159
In the second year REZF 11,326 10,574 36,599 34,927
In the third year RE=F - - 11,665 11,406
46,895 44,612 95,946 90,492
Gross investment in the lease HEREREE 46,895 N/ATEH 95,946 N/ATiER
Less: Unearned finance income B AR BREUELE WA (2,283) N/ATEH (5,454) N/ATREB
Present value of minimum lease REEEENFMRE
payment 44,612 44,612 90,492 90,492
Less: Allowance for credit losses W EEEEES - (11)
44,612 90,481
Analysed for reporting purposes STEEZ AR
as:
Current assets TEEE 34,038 44,148
Non-current assets ERBEE 10,574 46,333
44,612 90,481

China Chengtong Development Group Limited FEIFE# R EB AR AT
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20 FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES AND LOAN

RECEIVABLES (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023, the effective interest rates of
finance lease receivables ranged from 3.93% to 5.55% (2022:
from 4.36% to 7.06%) per annum.

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as a result of
the lease arrangements, as all leases are denominated in the
respective functional currencies of the group entities.

Loan receivables arose from the sale and leaseback
arrangements. Under these arrangements, customers (i.e.
lessees) disposed of their equipment and facilities to the Group
and leased back the equipment and facilities. In addition, the
ownership of the leased assets will be transferred back to
the lessees at a purchase option price upon settlement of the
principal of the loan receivables and the interest accrued under
the sale and leaseback arrangements. The lessees retain control
of the equipment and facilities before and after entering into
the sale and leaseback arrangements, which do not therefore

20

e MBRRIE

MEHERURERERE R

(%)

R-_EBE-_=F+-_A=+—H @&
MERBGBENERFFNENF3.93%
ZE555% (22 - —F:436%2%
7.06% ) °

HRAEHEYUEEERZTENI
EEEHE BMASEYEREER

B B

HE T [ 2R SN LB o

ZEERDELHFELRKRER R
BERERY - FEP (AABEA)RAE
BHEERBLRRE YEHEEHER
whRERE U FERBERZHEET
ZEREEFRAEREAFNEEER:
HEEEZHMARKEBENRES
BEABA BRZEEABEAR L
EROMERHF AR ZBRRERE R
R zEHIE RN ETR
BmMEX A AEKRES- s £ EE

constitute a lease for accounting purposes. As such, the sale and ZHARABEERET UREEB
leaseback arrangements have been accounted for as a secured B RS RE E RO FERR o
loan and recognised in accordance with HKFRS 9.
2023 2022
—ECZ=H =
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Fixed-rate loan receivables EUE BB 1,834,789 1,913,516
Variable-rate loan receivables FEUZ B E R 7,053,031 6,230,069
8,887,820 8,143,585
Less: Allowance for credit losses W EEEERE (64,670) (16,492)
8,823,150 8,127,093
Analysed for reporting purposes as: DITEZ2 WA S
Current assets TENE E 3,929,084 3,183,760
Non-current assets ERBEE 4,894,066 4,943,333
8,823,150 8,127,093
2023 Annual Report FEH &
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20 FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES AND LOAN 20

192

RECEIVABLES (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023, included in the Group's loan
receivables balance are debtors with aggregate carrying
amount of HK$26,341,000 (2022: HK$11,851,000) which
are past due as at the reporting date, of which nil (2022:
HK$11,851,000) has been past due 90 days or more. The
directors of the Company are of the view that it is not
considered as default based on the financial background of
the customers.

The exposure of the Group's fixed-rate loan receivables to fair
value interest rate risk and their contractual maturity dates
are as follows:

MEHERURERERER

(%)

R-FE-_=%F+=-"A=+—R8B A&
BrvRNEREHBEREREMEAEAE
#26,341,000c (=22 —F %
11,851,0007T ) 2 FEWBR K - HR &
REEAE EdEKES (=2 ==
35 #11,851,00000) B @ HI90 H =X
LNE-ARBEERE HREREFPH
FBESETHRIEELY-

AEBZERRESERAH Z AFE
MERBIEEAGOIMANMT :

2023 2022
—g-= —E-C
HK$°000 HK$'000
B F T BETF T
Fixed-rate loan receivables FEWESER (BREME) :
(gross carrying amount):
Within one year Nl —F 1,065,013 819,782
In more than one year but not more HRE—FE DB E
than two years 662,321 675,730
In more than two years but not more BiEMFEETHBIRRF
than five years 107,455 412,897
In more than five years A aF - 5,107
1,834,789 1,913,516
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20 FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES AND LOAN 20 RMEHERUFRERERERN
RECEIVABLES (Continued) (&)
The exposure of the Group's variable-rate loan receivables AEEERUBOZEEFREHE RSN
to cash flow interest rate risk and their contractual maturity EMNERRERERESHOIEANT:

dates are as follows:

2023 2022
—_E_=F —E-F
HK$’000 HK$°000
BT T BT T
Variable-rate loan receivables EUWZEER (BEEAE) :
(gross carrying amount):
Within one year THEBE—F 2,928,741 2,380,470
In more than one year but not more MBE—FETNHBBRE
than two years 2,541,317 1,870,803
In more than two years but not more MRBEMFTENHBBRT
than five years 1,582,973 1,276,973
In more than five years AT = 701,823
7,053,031 6,230,069
The above variable-rate loan receivables carries interest at a FiiEOZEEREFBEERT ISR
premium over Loan Prime Rate in PRC. BNENHEERTE -
The ranges of effective interest rates on the Group's loan AEERKERZERFEHE DT -
receivables are as follows:
2023 2022
—s=-= — T
Effective interest rate: B A =
Fixed-rate loan receivables BT BER 3.80% — 8.83%  4.59% — 8.06%
Variable-rate loan receivables EWFEBEER 3.71% - 7.67%  3.90% - 8.77%
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20 FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES AND LOAN

194

RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The Group's loan receivables that are denominated in
currencies other than the functional currencies of the relevant
group entities are set out below:

MEHERURERERER

(%)

AEBARBEEEERIIESE I
ZEBFEZBRKREREINT

2023 2022
—_E_=F —_E-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
United States dollars (“USD") ET([ER]) 64,456 96,657

As at 31 December 2023, all of the finance lease receivables
and loan receivables are secured by the leased equipment
and facilities, among which nil (2022: HK$10,536,000) are
further secured by land from the related party of the lessee
and HK$4,260,343,000 (2022: HK$5,202,714,000) are further
guaranteed by the related parties of the lessees. The lessees
are obliged to settle the amounts according to the terms set
out in the relevant contracts. The Group is not permitted
to sell or repledge the collateral in the absence of default
by lessees. Also, certain finance lease receivables and loan
receivables were secured by deposits received from customers
of HK$363,446,000 (2022: HK$262,247,000).

As at 31 December 2023, finance lease receivables and
loan receivables with a carrying amount of approximately
HK$3,757,860,000 (2022: HK$2,289,693,000) was pledged
as security for bank borrowings (note 28) and a carrying
amount of approximately HK$3,019,024,000 (2022:
HK$2,555,035,000) was pledged as security for the asset-
backed securities (note 29).

Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 36(b).

China Chengtong Development Group Limited FEIFE# R EB AR AT

R-—E-—=F+_A=+—8 A
MERERKGERERERARE
REMEBEARER EREBT
T (ZF - — % :%%10,536,0007T)
SUEM A Z &R 2 L 1F B
o K B #4,260,343,000 (Z T = =
3B 15,202,714,0007T) B B A
AZBETER - ZBAGEBRE
HEANMBKEREEEBERE-T
ABATEZLONBLT A£BT
BHEXBFERERF 1IN BT A
EHERKFBREREZFUNBERE
F 17 38 363,446,000 (— & — —
& 8262,247,0007T ) fEH A -

R-EBE-_=F+-_A=+—H EH
BE# A#BH3,757,860,000T (==
— 4 ##2,289,693,0007T ) B @&
HERKERERERBIRAES
RITEEER (28 MEMED
A713,019,024,000T (=2 ==

75 2,555,035,0000) Mgt BT &€ &
WHBBLEREZRBEBIEREES
BEFER (W:E29) -

BB RY 7 1B B P FE36(b) ©
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21 LOANS TO/FROM RELATED PARTIES

(a) Loans to related parties

As at 31 December 2023, the balance of HK$27,500,000
(2022: HK$33,900,000) represented the outstanding loan
principal due fromd BlE &% BB R A 7 (unofficial English
translation being China Huandao Group Limited), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of CCHG. The loan bears interest at 8%
(2022: 8%) per annum. The loan has been renewed on
11 September 2023 and the repayment date of the loan has
been extended to 11 September 2025 (2022: the repayment
date of the loan was 2 September 2023). The Group has the
right to request the related party to provide a security by
pledging certain office premises held by the related party at
any time before the full repayment of the loan.

Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 36(b).

(b) Loans from related parties

As at 31 December 2023, the balances of HK$143,000,000
(2022: HK$203,400,000) and HK$22,000,000 (2022:
HK$33,900,000) represented two tranches of outstanding
loan principals payable to Chengtong (Shenzhen) Investment
Co., Limited, a subsidiary of CCHG. The loans are unsecured,
bear interest at 4.60% and 4.30% (2022: 4.60% and 4.30%)
per annum, respectively, and will be repayable on 29 June
2024 and 29 November 2024, respectively.

As at 31 December 2022, the balance of HK$101,700,000
represented the outstanding loan principal from China
Chengtong Hong Kong Company Limited, the immediate
holding company of the Company. The loan was unsecured,
bore interest at 4.30% per annum. The loan was repaid on
29 December 2023.

21

e MBRRIE

BT REBESTEN
(a) RFEZHEM

RZBEZ=F+ZA=+—H &%
75 27,500,000 0 (ZE = = F 1 B
33,900,000 EEEKNFEESEEH
RAGR (BBEZERz2Z2EHNBRAR)Z
REBEEFASE BERIEFF LY (=
T _F 8% ) E-BEREN-FE
“T=ZENAt+—BHEE MERZE
FEHEEE—_ZEZ_HAFAAT+—B
(ZEZZF BERzEXBHA=-Z
TZFENAAZH) AEEBEERER
EERBEEZAMTWREEREES
BEAEKABESBEZETHAME
REER

BB AT {4 & B B FE36(b) ©

4 =+
B

(b) XKEEE

RZE_=Z=F+=_A=+—H &%
7B #143,000,0000 (Z B = —F 8
#203,400,0007T ) K& % #22,000,000
gL (=—ZF = — & :%%33,900,0007T)
BEMAHBCOFRIDEEBR AR (B
BIER 2 MBAR) 2 ML KREEER
e BERDNEEF ZFEFNEDR A
4.60% N4.30% (T - —F:460%
F430% )T B WD BIR =T =Y
FRA-tTABEZ-ZZ-_WME+—A4
“thBEEE-

N-ZE-_—F#+-_A=+—0 %58
75 #101,700,000 T 36 FE R B ik 3B
BERAB (ARRIZEEERAR)
ZAEEERAS - BERIERR
BREMELIZ0%:TE-BERER_ZF
—=F=+-_AZ-thBEE-
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22 OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS 22 HittE@EE
2023 2022
—EB-=F —E=-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Financial assets measured at BAFEFAHMEEKE
FVTOCI ZEMEE
— Listed equity investments in —REBLTHEREE
Hong Kong 27,686 60,706
— Unlisted equity investments —RETMHEREE 4,656 8,477
32,342 69,183
Analysed for reporting purposes as: DTIEEMAE
Current assets MEEE 27,686 60,706
Non-current assets EMBEE 4,656 8,477
32,342 69,183

196

These investments are not held for trading, instead, they are
held for long-term strategic purposes. The directors of the
Company have elected to designate these investments in
equity instruments at FVTOCI as they believe that recognising
short-term fluctuations in these investments’ fair value in
profit or loss would not be consistent with the Group’s
strategy of holding these investments for long-term purposes
and realising their performance potential in the long run.

(i)  For listed equity investments in Hong Kong, the fair
value is based on the quoted market bid price available
on the Stock Exchange.

(i)  The unlisted equity investments represent the Group’s
equity interest in certain private entities established in
the PRC. As at 31 December 2023, the fair values of
these equity investments amounted to HK$4,656,000
(2022: HK$8,477,000). The fair values of these unlisted
equity investments were assessed by a professional
independent valuer.

(iii) During the year ended 31 December 2023, a loss
on change in fair value of HK$35,866,000 (2022:
HK$11,526,000), net of tax, has been recognised in
other comprehensive income.

China Chengtong Development Group Limited FEIFE# R EB AR AT

ZERAVIEFEEEMEFERD
BEAR - ARREZCREBZSE
BEREARAFEFAEM2ER
mHMREZTA HIHEREEEAR
BRERZERELNFENE KD
THEAEEREHENEAEZSER
BURREMEERZSEREETN
H RS o

() BRRBEBOLTHREREHE
DB T E B R A 35
BAEHY -

i)y RETHRZREEBLAEERSA
FTRABEKZHOFLE BEEBOR
W AT -_=F+-_RA=+—
H ZERERELNTEABK
4,656,000 ( Z T — —F: B
8,477,0007L) *ZEF R =
BENATEDDHEXEBIGE
EaEESH o

Giy BHEZZ-_=%+=-_H=+—H
EFE AFEEYEE (K
i 18 ) 78 #35,866,0007C (- &
— — 4 :#11,526,0000T) B R
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e M BRI

23 BANK BALANCES AND CASH AND PLEDGED 23 BITEEREEUREIKEE

BANK DEPOSITS TEX
2023 2022
—E-= -T2
HK$°000 HK$'000
B F T BT T
Bank balances and cash ROEFRRES
Cash at banks and on hand RITEFHERS 698,579 472,852
Pledged bank deposits SEARITER
Deposits pledged against banking M TIRBAZRITRE
facilities granted to mortgagors R TR 2,555 3,973
Other secured deposits H b | F 9,417 57,736
11,972 61,709
As at 31 December 2023, bank balances deposited in RZEZ=F+ZA=+—H RE
the financial institutions in Hong Kong carry interest at B BIEIE ZRITA T?E'Jiﬂ s
rate ranged from 0.01% to 5.57% (2022: from 0.01% to 0.01% &Z5.57% (ZE=Z=F: N F
3.69%) per annum. Bank balances deposited in the financial 0.01% £3.69% ) - A E 2 & g1k
institutions in the PRC carry interest at benchmark rate CHRITEFRFRARRITAMZE
offered by The People’s Bank of China. EMEREFE-
Bank balances and cash and pledged bank deposits held AEBZHBEWMBEARMFESBEAS
by the Group's subsidiaries in the PRC amounting to #501,814,000c (ZE G B
HK$501,814,000 (2022: HK$449,668,000) were denominated 449,668,0007T) 2 IR1T AT MR 2 LA
in Renminbi (“RMB"), which are not a freely convertible LEEBETERUAARE(TAR
currency in the international market. The remittance of these WIIE AR TR RS
funds out of the PRC is subject to exchange restrictions BEHRAL B -BHRHERBEHEESEAR
imposed by the Government of the PRC. R B BT B e 2 SN Bl P AR BR o
As required by the PRC State-Owned Land and Resources BIEFEE T ERBOFE NEEH
Bureau, the property development company of the Group is MEZRARARBERITFAGFTA
required to place in designated bank accounts the pre-sale %%ﬁ’%ﬁﬂ%m RIE - {ER SR
proceeds of properties to finance the construction of the MENER - ZTFREATRAERER
related properties. The deposits can only be used for purchase EMB RRAA + &R &6 8t /& 48
of construction materials and payments of construction fees HMMEEBRINEZEER -R_F
of the relevant property projects when approval from the =+ ZHA=T—B -EHEERT]T
PRC State-Owned Land and Resources Bureau is obtained. PHOGFRELMSEEREZRE /B
The cash deposited in the designated bank accounts for the #22,311,000c (ZEZZF : %
aforesaid specific usage as at 31 December 2023 amounted 41,462,00070) * AR B EERAE EZ
to HK$22,311,000 (2022: HK$41,462,000). The directors of ERTEABREAEER -—REER
the Company considered these bank deposits form part of the B—&o -  WEEA fﬁﬁﬂ,mr&i@uﬁJ
Group’s normal operating fund, which was included in “bank LERBEERBeEFEMH — 557
balances and cash”, and was presented as part of cash and AR o
cash equivalents.
Details of impairment assessment of bank balance and RITEETF R EFRITFFORENE
pledged bank deposits are set out in note 36(b). BN M 5E36(0) ©

2023 Annual Report FEH & 197



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ERRME
24 RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 24 BMETHELEANBEEBEYHIER

FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities TRAVNAEERMEETHELENE
arising from financing activities, including both cash and non- EEE EREReRIREH -ME
cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are EHEFANAGRTEEREIRKE
those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, emERASEGEBReRERY D

classified in the Group's consolidated statement of cash flows HAmEZYMERERENEAE.
as cash flows from financing activities.
Loans from
related Lease Bank Asset-backed
parties liabilities  borrowings securities
(note 21(b)) (note 27) (note 28) (note 29)
REBER BEXR
HER HEEE RITEE EH
(Btat21(b)) (Bat27) (Kfzt28) (BaE29)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
BT BT BT BT
At 1 January 2023 NZE-_=%—8—H 339,000 8,273 3,167,005 2,702,269
Changes from financing REBREREREN
cash flows: 2
Proceeds from new loans %ﬁ‘ﬁmﬁﬁﬁﬁ - - 3,050,075 =
Proceeds from issuance of BUOIBEIHESRZ
asset-backed securities FTiS A - - - 2,730,200
Repayment of loans BEER (165,000) = (2,400,860) =
Repayment of asset-backed BREEXHES
securities - - - (2,356,834)
Interest paid REEE (9,389) (263) (164,365) (117,797)
Repayment of lease BEHREARE
liabilities - (3,597) - -
Total changes from REBEHLREN
financing cash flows ga)an (174,389) (3,860) 484,850 255,569
Exchange adjustments IE 5 = (9,000) (77) (62,749) (71,742)
Other changes: Himg
Interest expenses FESHX 9,389 263 158,797 120,121
New lease WHE = 5,233 = =
Lease modification HEE® (2,838) = =
Total other changes Hi &g aE 9,389 2,658 158,797 120,121
At 31 December 2023 N\ —E-=
+-A=+—H 165,000 6,994 3,747,903 3,006,217
198 China Chengtong Development Group Limited FEIFE# R EB AR AT
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24 RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES (Continued)

24

e MBRRIE

METHELENEBHER (&)

Loans from
related Lease Bank  Asset-backed
parties liabilities borrowings securities
(note 21(b)) (note 27) (note 28) (note 29)
REHER ﬁ?i%
FER HEBE BOEE e
(Kizt21(b)) (Htet27) (ftit28) (WEZW
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BEF T BEF T BEF T BEF T
At 1 January 2022 RZEZ—F—HF—H 47,556 3,098 1,441,775 2,932,607
Changes from financing REBMEFESREDN
cash flows: 2EH:
Proceeds from new loans %ﬁﬁ QK= 0] 510,960 - 3,383,125 -
Proceeds from issuance of BOBEIHESLZ
asset-backed securities Fri5 5 A - - - 1,500,800
Repayment of loans BEER (209,520) - (1,539,480) -
Repayment of asset-backed BEEEIHES
securities - - - (1,570,955)
Interest paid ERFE (8,382) (224) (74,903) (87,529)
Repayment of lease liabilities EEHEaE - (7,232) - -
Total changes from financing 7€ E BEREREN
cash flows 2y 293,058 (7,456) 1,768,742 (157,684)
Exchange adjustments PE 5 S (9,380) (136) (118,935) (162,369)
Other changes: Hih g
Interest expenses FERZ 7,766 224 73,627 89,715
Capitalised borrowing costs BRI EER A - - 1,796 -
New leases mEE - 12,543 - -
Total other changes Hi g agE 7,766 12,767 75,423 89,715
At 31 December 2022 WN-ZZE-—4F
+-A=1+—H 339,000 8,273 3,167,005 2,702,269
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25 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 25 EFRHMEMNRKE
2023 2022
—=s== —E_-=
(Re-presented)
(&&E5)
HK$’000 HK$°000
B F T JE M T T
Trade and bills payables (note (a)) B RNRBRENERE
(Ktat(a)) 70,492 192,778
Other payables and accruals H b B FRIE N B AT 5B 74,904 78,212
Deposits received (note (b)) BlEe (Haib)) 391,345 292,043
Accrual of construction costs EstIRER 22,782 64,712
Amount due to ultimate holding FE S ER 4R P2 BR A R FUE
company (note (c)) (K1t (c)) 11,043 14,482
Amount due to immediate holding R EEZERARRIE
company (note (c)) (Kt (c)) 1,766 800
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries FE R 2 Bt /B8 A &) 5/ I8
(note (c)) (Kt (c)) 233 334
572,565 643,361
Analysed for reporting purposes as: AITER2 WA
Current liabilities mEBBE 239,374 390,832
Non-current liabilities SEmMBAE 333,191 252,529
572,565 643,361

200

Notes:

(a) As at 31 December 2023, bills payables were secured by pledged
bank deposits of HK$9,312,000 (2022: HK$57,630,000).

The ageing analysis of the trade and bills payables presented based
on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

et -

(@) M-ZTE-_=F+-_A=+—H EHE
BB EIFIRITFRE9,312,0007T
(ZZF - — % :#%57,630,0007T ) EK
o

RBEPRRLZEZAMERNEZEN
RERENREZRRINTAT

2023 2022

—EB_=F —ET—-—
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
1 - 30 days 1£230K 70,377 192,374
31 - 90 days 31E90K 115 403
Over 90 days HBIEI0K - 1
70,492 192,778
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25 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

26

(b)

The amounts mainly represent deposits received from customers
under operating lease, finance lease and sale and leaseback
arrangements which will be returned to the customers at the end
of the lease terms. As at 31 December 2023, the deposits received
amounting to approximately HK$333,191,000 (31 December 2022
(re-presented): approximately HK$252,529,000) are presented as
non-current liabilities based on the final lease instalment due date
stipulated in the finance lease and sale and leaseback agreements,
which are beyond twelve months at the end of the reporting
period. Accordingly, the comparative figures have been reclassified
to conform with the current year’s presentation.

The amounts due to ultimate holding company, immediate holding
company and fellow subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand.

CONTRACT LIABILITIES

25

(b)

e MBRRIE

EFZRHEMEMNRE (&)
Bt -

(%)

ZESHEITELETE REAER
ERLDAZHETHNEREF RS
HERHAERLERBRETFTERL, -
—E-=ZF+-A=+—8 B2k
4 4974 %333,191,0000 (—Z & = —
FH+ZA=+—H (KFY) OEE
252,529,0007) IRIERE A E R ERE
fipER AN REAES #5RE
HA(RBREHRT=-A%R)RI A
nEAE Al ERBEFEEFHE-
UHEAAFENEN AN -

BN S&EERAR BEEZERRFRA
AMBARFEREER 28 RARK

BREE-

26 EEEE

2023 2022

—g=-= —ZT=-=
HK$°000 HK$°000
B F T BT T
Sales of properties e 136,065 137,360
Bulk commodity trade ArEmES - 1,886
136,065 139,246

As at 1 January 2022, contract liabilities amounted to

HK$136,724,000. All contract liabilities arising from the
Group’s sales of properties are within the Group's normal
operating cycle.

w=

T - H#—F—H - ARABEGEE

7B #136,724,000c - NEE EE Y E
EXNEAREBEHUNALEELES
EIEEEA o
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e MBERRME

26 CONTRACT LIABILITIES (Continued) 26 SEIEE (&)
The following table shows how much of the revenue TRERAFEEHERRZ P ELE
recognised in the current year relates to carried-forward ERAEBEENSRE:

contract liabilities:

Bulk
Sales of commodity
properties trade
HEWE ATFXERES
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT
For the year ended BE-Z-_=%+=A
31 December 2023 =+—-HLEHFE
Revenue recognised that was FFAFYE R A EESRD
included in the contract ERERKA
liabilities balance at the
beginning of the year 50,485 1,886
For the year ended BE-Z-_—_f+=H
31 December 2022 =+—HLEFEE
Revenue recognised that was FFAFERABEEHRD
included in the contract 2R A
liabilities balance at the
beginning of the year 39,247 15,240
As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of contract WZEZ=F+-A=+—H0 &M
liabilities of HK$136,065,000 (2022: HK$139,246,000) E\LE”JEEETE/%%”% 065,0007T (=
represented unsatisfied performance obligations arising T - —4F:5%139,246,0007T) 5 H
from property sales and bulk commodity trade, of which %%%&kmﬁﬁuﬁ%éiﬁ’ﬂ%%ﬁi
HK$5,738,000 (2022: HK$22,152,000) was expected to be BHEME  HFE%KS5,738,000T (=
recognised as income after more than one year. == —F 122,152,000 ) B H &

NBB—FRERBUEA -
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meEMBEmRME
27 LEASE LIABILITIES 27 HE&E®E
2023 2022
—Z==-= —E-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
BEF T BT T
Lease liabilities payable: EREERE:
Within one year —FR 3,767 3,874
After one year but within two years —FRERMFA 3,227 2,976
After two years but within three years MFBER=FN - 1,423
6,994 8,273
Less: Amount due for settlement B YMEREIBE 2128 A
with 12 months shown under W R H 45 B 508
current liabilities (3.767) (3,874)
Amount due for settlement after TIEEREI B E 21218 A
12 months shown under “EIBEE B
non-current liabilities 3,227 4,399

The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied to
lease liabilities range from 2.27% to 7.60% (2022: 2.27% to

4.00%) per annum.

BARHEABENIMEFHEEER
FRENF227% E7T.60% (ZE ==
F:227%FE4.00%) °
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28 BANK BORROWINGS

204

28 RITEE

2023 2022
—E-= —T=-=
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Secured H/HE A 3,099,246 2,667,005
Unsecured B 648,657 500,000
3,747,903 3,167,005
Carrying amount of above borrowings THEE 2 EEBEERUT
are repayable: RFREER:
Within one year or on demand —FUARNFIRER 2,018,666 1,969,931
After one year but within two years —FHRERRFN 1,140,904 663,335
After two years but within five years MEFBERAFRN 588,333 533,739
3,747,903 3,167,005
Less: Amounts shown under current R BERE) B E 2 IR
liabilities (2,018,666) (1,969,931)
Amounts shown under non-current FIVESER B B B 2 KIE
liabilities 1,729,237 1,197,074
Bank loan which contains a repayable BEREREERIZE
on demand clause (shown under TEZ(GEREEE)
current liabilities) and the scheduled MERBZEAE 25 E
payment set out in loan agreement: EEAH:
Within one year —F LR = 115,738
After one year but within two years —FHRERRERN - 135,957
After two years but within five years MEBBRAEFER = 83,260
- 334,955

China Chengtong Development Group Limited FEIFE# R EB AR AT



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE KM RME
28 BANK BORROWINGS (Continued) 28 RITHEE (&)
The exposure of the Group’s bank borrowings are as follows: AEBERTEEEH 2BRBRAT
2023 2022
—ETZ-= —ZF-=
HK$°000 HK$'000
B F T BT T
Fixed-rate bank borrowings EERITEE 958,627 1,023,929
Variable-rate bank borrowings FERITEE 2,789,276 2,143,076
3,747,903 3,167,005
The above variable-rate bank borrowings carry interest at L FERTEERBEARITRER
Hong Kong Inter Bank Offered Rate and Loan Prime Rate. BHERERTISHREF KL F
Interest is reset every six months and year respectively. EORSREARBFEE R
The ranges of effective interest rates (which are also equal to AEERTEBEEZERMNE(TFHEE
contracted interest rates) on the Group’s bank borrowings are RENE)BEEWT :
as follows:
2023 2022
—E-= —E-—
Effective interest rate: BRRAE
Fixed-rate bank borrowings EERITEE 2.80% - 4.70%  2.59% - 4.85%
Variable-rate bank borrowings FEIRITEE 2.70% - 6.96%  3.20% - 6.77%
As at 31 December 2023, the Group’'s bank borrowings RZEZ=F+-A=+—H K&
with carrying amount of approximately HK$3,099,246,000 B 8% | 1B 498 13,099,246,0007T ( =
(2022: HK$2,667,005,000) were secured by the finance T = % :%%2,667,005,0007T) K]
lease receivables and loan receivables of the Group RITEERBEAAEEREELAEY
with an aggregate carrying amount of approximately & #3,757,860,000c (=& = =
HK$3,757,860,000 (2022: HK$2,289,693,000) (note 20) 75 #2,289,693,0007T) (FF&E20) 2
and trade receivables under operating lease arrangement MERERKREBERERERUR
with carrying amount of approximately HK$728,000 (2022: BREE A E®728,000 (= F ==
HK$412,000) (note 19) and secured bank borrowings G E412,0000T) (BFsE19) 2 &
with carrying amount of nil (2022: HK$334,955,000) was EHETHET 28 5 BWRIEIEE
guaranteed by the Company. R MEEEAS(ZE__F 8%
334,955,0007T) 2 B IR R 1T & & M
KRABPER -
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29 ASSET-BACKED SECURITIES
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29 BEXRES

2023 2022
—E2-= - —
HK$°000 HK$'000
BEFT BT
Secured /A 3,006,217 2,702,269
Carrying amount of above T EESRHESCREE
asset-backed securities are repayable: AR A TRy (B
Within one year —F R 1,510,200 1,472,916
After one year but within two years —FHRERRFR 1,149,742 823,131
After two years but within five years WEBERAEN 346,275 406,222
3,006,217 2,702,269
Less: Amounts shown under current R FERE) B E 2 IR
liabilities (1,510,200) (1,472,916)
Amounts shown under non-current HIVEIETRE) B & 2 FIE
liabilities 1,496,017 1,229,353
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

29 ASSET-BACKED SECURITIES (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
publicly launched two asset-backed securities schemes
(2022: one asset-backed securities scheme) on the Shanghai
Stock Exchange. The purpose of launching the asset-backed
securities schemes is to securitise certain loan receivables and
trade receivables under operating lease arrangements of the
Group and to fund the expansion of the leasing business of
the Group. Details of the asset-backed securities schemes
launched during the years ended 31 December 2022 and
31 December 2023 are as follows:

On 20 September 2022, the Group publicly launched an
asset-backed securities scheme known as “Phase One of
Chengtong Financial Leasing Stated-Owned Enterprise Asset-
backed Securities Scheme”. The total issuance of the scheme
was RMB1,405,000,000 (equivalent to HK$1,573,600,000)
and the asset-backed securities are divided into (i) priority
class with a total principal of RMB1,340,000,000 (equivalent
to HK$1,500,800,000) which are listed and traded on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange with maturity date ranging from
26 August 2023 to 26 August 2026 and with coupon rate
ranging from 2.88% to 3.09% per annum. The principal
and interest of the priority class asset-backed securities shall
be repaid quarterly; and (ii) subordinated class with a total
principal of RMB65,000,000 (equivalent to HK$72,800,000)
with no coupon rate and with maturity date on 26 February
2027. The subordinated class asset-backed securities are not
listed. As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group held all
the subordinated class asset-backed securities.
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EzETEUERRELHEELHR
TZESRWFE BERAEEZ
HEXBRBEES - BHE-_T=-=F
+ZA=F+—BERZZE=Z=F+=A
T+ HLEFEHEZEELRFESE
STEIZHBIT

RZEZ_FALAZ+H KEERQ
ML —EBZAHEREAERD
BE-HEEIREZHEFAEIZEE
STHEBREAE R AEITHRE
A AR #1,405,000,0007T (MEE R
7 #1,573,600,0007T)  MEE X £
BEWOR(NEBEBHRARNE A A
R #1,340,000,000 T (#H & R /B
1,500,800,000T) T R L BEHRX 5
FrEmRESE HIBMBER-_T-=
FNAZF+ABEZZZANENA
T RETE ZEERNTEF2.88%
E3.09% BAEBHREEIEESLEZ
AERFESEFTEEE M) XEK
[ AR& s AR#65,000,0007T (18
BB #72,800,0000T)  EEZE KK
HIHEA-ZE-_tF_A=-+/"H-
AP EREESTRESFTE LT - R
E-_HER-_E-_—_F+-_RA=+—
B AEEEEMEBEAREREES
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29 ASSET-BACKED SECURITIES (Continued)

208

On 16 February 2023, the Group publicly launched an
asset-backed securities scheme known as “Phase Two of
Chengtong Financial Leasing State-Owned Enterprise Asset-
backed Securities Scheme”. The total issuance of the scheme
was RMB1,370,000,000 (equivalent to HK$1,548,100,000)
and the asset-backed securities are divided into (i) priority
class with a total principal of RMB1,322,000,000 (equivalent
to HK$1,493,860,000) which are listed and traded on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange with maturity date ranging from
26 November 2023 to 26 August 2026 and with coupon
rate ranging from 3.95% to 4.26% per annum. The principal
and interest of the priority class asset-backed securities shall
be repaid quarterly; and (ii) subordinated class with a total
principal of RMB48,000,000 (equivalent to HK$54,240,000)
with no coupon rate and with maturity date on 26 November
2027. The subordinated class asset-backed securities are
not listed. As at 31 December 2023, the Group held all the
subordinated class asset-backed securities.

On 6 July 2023, the Group publicly launched another
asset-backed securities scheme known as “Phase Three of
Chengtong Financial Leasing State-Owned Enterprise Asset-
backed Securities Scheme”. The total issuance of the scheme
was RMB1,221,000,000 (equivalent to HK$1,318,680,000)
and the asset-backed securities are divided into (i) priority
class with a total principal of RMB1,160,000,000 (equivalent
to HK$1,253,800,000) which are listed and traded on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange with maturity date ranging from
26 June 2024 to 26 September 2027 and with coupon rate
ranging from 2.85% to 3.30% per annum. The principal
and interest of the priority class asset-backed securities shall
be repaid quarterly; and (ii) subordinated class with a total
principal of RMB61,000,000 (equivalent to HK$65,880,000)
with no coupon rate and with maturity date on 26 March
2029. The subordinated class asset-backed securities are
not listed. As at 31 December 2023, the Group held all the
subordinated class asset-backed securities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ASSET-BACKED SECURITIES (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023, the Group's asset-backed securities
with carrying amount of approximately HK$3,006,217,000
(2022: HK$2,702,269,000) were collateralised by the
finance lease receivables and loan receivables of the Group
with an aggregate carrying amount of approximately
HK$3,019,024,000 (2022: HK$2,555,035,000) (note 20),
trade receivables under operating lease arrangements with
carrying amount of approximately HK$2,814,000 (2022:
HK$1,610,000) (note 19) and were guaranteed by CCHG, the
ultimate holding company of the Company.

Since the Group holds all subordinated class asset-backed
securities and substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the finance leases receivables and loan
receivables are retained, the Group continues to recognise the
finance leases receivables and loan receivables in its entirety
and recognises a financial liability for the consideration
received.

The effective interest rate of the asset-backed securities
ranged from 2.85% to 4.30% (as at 31 December 2022:
2.92% to 3.76%) per annum at 31 December 2023.

DEFERRED TAXATION

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement
of financial position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities
have been offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred
tax balances for financial reporting purpose:
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EEXERS @B

R-ZE-_=ZF+-_A=+—H &&E
BrEEYREFREBELABE
3,006,217,000c (=T = —F : B
2,702,269,0007T) A A £ B R E @&
#4776%3,019,024,0007 (ZE ==

7 #2,555,035,0007T) (FY5E20) 2 @4
EHERKFBREREZ XIEmME
#) 78 12,814,000L (ZE = —F 1 /8
#1,610,0007T) (MIzE19) v E&EHE
ZHETZEZEWEEERE I
AR R 2 &R A B BTk 1
iR

HRAEEREMBAREREEX
KRS BREREMERKFER
FEU B SR PT A 2 B K ED oy A B K Bl
B MAEEEEREREBRERORE
HERKREBERERER Lt W
REEZTRAE-

NRZEBE-_=Ff+_A=+—BE&E
SEEHFCEBRFEMNENTF2.85% =
430% (AT -_—#F#+_-_QHF=+—
H:2.92% %3.76% ) °

i 3E B 1/

RENNEAMBMRARTNE B TR
EHRBEEERBBECHFE - UTRH
MBREN S NEEHRBERDN:

2023 2022

—EB-=F —E-=
HK$’000 HK$°000
BT T BT T
Deferred tax assets EEFIRE E 16,136 3,958
Deferred tax liabilities EERIBEEE (43,760) (49,632)
(27,624) (45,674)
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30 DEFERRED TAXATION (Continued)

The followings are the major deferred tax liabilities and assets
recognised and movements thereon during the current and

210

30 ELEHIE (#)

RAFERNEFERRBRIENEL
MAREBEREERELE ZZEHEIIM

prior years: ™~
Fair value
Expected  Revaluation Undistributed adjustment on
credit loss  of investment  profits of PRC  other financial  Right-of-use Lease
provision properties  subsidiaries* assets assets liabilities Total
REEE REN% TEMEAR HtLREE
EERR Bff ASENE* HATESRE EREEE HEEME @zt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
BT BETT BETT BEFT EETT BETT BT
At 1 January 2022 R-B-=%-H-H - (35,170) (19,687) (310) 310 (54,857)
(Credited)/charged to profitor R B#H (FFA) /H1k
loss (note 9) (Hrit9) 4,063 1,711 (501) - (643) 643 5,273
Exchange adjustments EHAR (105) 2,550 1,465 - - - 3,910
At 31 December 2022 and MWZBZZ§+ZB=t-HR
1 January 2023 —E-=%-A-AH 3,958 (30,909) (18,723) - (953) 953 (45,674)
(Credited)/charged to profitor R BEH (tA) /41K
loss (note 9) (Hri29) 12,283 1,135 3,033 - 357 (373) 16,435
Charged/(credited) to other REME ARG
comprehensive income nk/ (Gt A) - (350) - 751 - = 401
Exchange adjustments ERAZ (105) 822 497 - - - 1,214
At 31 December 2023 RZBZ=E+-B=1-H 16,136 (29,302) (15,193) 751 (596) 580 (27,624)

* Under the EIT Law of the PRC, withholding tax is imposed on
dividends declared in respect of profits earned by PRC entities to a
non-PRC holding company from 1 January 2008 onwards.

The Group has estimated unused tax losses not recognised in
the consolidated financial statements as follows:

* RIEFECEMBHE A-_FTTNF
— R — B Bl R R AT s A JE
B A R E R BB B R TR0 -

AEEBRREAMBRRTPER M
AAARBAREBREIWT

2023 2022
—Z=-= —E- =
HK$’000 HK$°000
BT T BT T
Estimated unused tax losses HErRB A IEEE 208,966 171,985

No deferred tax assets in respect of the above-mentioned
estimated unused tax losses have been recognised due to
unpredictability of future profit streams. Included in the
unrecognised estimated unused tax losses are losses of
approximately HK$58,552,000 (2022: HK$63,838,000)
that will expire on various dates within five years from the
reporting dates. Other estimated unused tax losses may be
carried forward indefinitely.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRIE

SHARE CAPITAL 31 B
Number of
shares
&l Q=]
‘000 HK$°000
F AR JEBE T T
Issued and fully paid: EERTREHE:
At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022, WKZ-Z-_—_F—H—H"
1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023 Z—ZE-_—F+-_A=+—8"
—E=F—-F—-BK
—E_=f+=-A=+—8 5,964,635 2,214,624

SHARE OPTION SCHEME AND SHARE AWARD
SCHEME

(a) Share option scheme

The Company has adopted the share option scheme (the
“Scheme”) on 27 June 2013. The purpose of the Scheme is
to provide incentives or rewards to participants thereunder for
their contribution to the Group and/or to enable the Group to
recruit and retain high-caliber employees and attract human
resources that are valuable to the Group and any invested
entity.

Under the terms of the Scheme, eligible participants of the
Scheme include (a) any employee (whether full-time or part-
time, including any executive director but excluding any non-
executive director of the Company) of, or any individual
for the time being seconded to work for the Company,
any subsidiary or any entity in which any member of the
Group holds any equity interest (“Invested Entity”) or
any employee or officer of the controlling shareholder of
the Company; (b) any non-executive director (including
independent non-executive directors) of the Company, any
subsidiary or any Invested Entity; (c) any suppliers of goods
or services to any member of the Group or any Invested
Entity; (d) any customer of the Group or any Invested Entity;
(e) any person or entity that provides research development
or other technological support to the Group or any Invested
Entity; (f) any shareholder of any member of the Group or
any Invested Entity or any holder of any securities issued or
proposed to be issued by any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity; (g) any adviser (professional or otherwise) or
consultant to the Group relating to any area of business or
business development of any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity; and (h) any joint venture or business partner
of the Group who have contributed or may contribute to the
development and growth of the Group. For the proposes of
the Scheme, the offer may be made to any company wholly
owned by one or more eligible participants.
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32 SHARE OPTION SCHEME AND SHARE AWARD

212

SCHEME (Continued)
(a) Share option scheme (Continued)

The Scheme was valid and effective for a period of 10 years
commencing on the date it was adopted and expired on
26 June 2023.

An offer of the grant of an option under the Scheme (the
“Option”) might be accepted within 21 days from the date
of grant together with a remittance of HK$1.00 by way of
consideration for the grant thereof. An Option might be
exercised during such period as the board of directors might
in its absolute discretion determine, save that such period
would not be more than 10 years from the date of grant.
The total number of shares of the Company which might be
allotted and issued upon exercise of all Options to be granted
under the Scheme and any other share option scheme of the
Group must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the shares of
the Company in issue as at the date on which the Scheme
was adopted. In addition, the maximum number of shares
which might be allotted and issued upon exercise of all
outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under
the Scheme and any other share option schemes adopted by
the Group would not exceed 30% of the share capital of the
Company in issue from time to time.

The subscription price for the shares on the exercise of the
Option would be determined at the discretion of the board of
directors which would not be less than the highest of (i) the
closing price of the Company’s shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of grant; (ii) the
average closing price of the Company’s shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five trading
days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the
nominal value of the Company’s shares (note). Holding period
would be determined by directors upon granting.

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, no
Option was granted, exercised, cancelled under the Scheme.
There was no Option outstanding as at 31 December 2022
and the scheme has expired on 26 June 2023.

Note: Pursuant to the Companies Ordinance, which came into operation
on 3 March 2014, the shares of the Company have ceased to have
nominal value.
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32 SHARE OPTION SCHEME AND SHARE AWARD

SCHEME (Continued)
(b) Share award scheme

To provide a means to (i) recognise the contributions by
any full-time employees and directors (including executive
directors, non-executive directors and independent
nonexecutive directors) of the Group selected by the board
of directors (collectively, the “Selected Employees”) and
to give incentives to them for the continual operation and
development of the Group; and (ii) attract suitable personnel
for the growth and further development of the Group, the
Company adopted a share award scheme (the “Share Award
Scheme”) which became effective on 1 July 2017 (the
“Effective Date"”) and expired on 30 June 2022.

The board of directors or the trustee should not make any
further award of shares to the Selected Employees which
would result in the total number of shares awarded by the
board of directors under the Share Award Scheme exceeding
1% of the total ordinary shares in issue of the Company as at
the Effective Date.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, no ordinary share
of the Company was purchased by the trustee for the purpose
of the Share Award Scheme and no award of share was
granted to the Selected Employees under the Share Award
Scheme.

As at the date of expiry of the Share Award Scheme and as
at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the trustee was still holding
11,750,000 shares of the Company which were purchased for
the purpose of the Share Award Scheme. In the opinion of
the directors, such shares will be dealt with in due course.
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33 RESERVES

214

The Group

Details of changes in reserves accounts of the Group are set
out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

Capital reserve

It represents the difference between the consideration paid
for and the fair value of net assets acquired by a former
subsidiary of the Group from a company beneficially owned
by a substantial shareholder of the Company.

Statutory reserve

It represents the Group's share of statutory reserves of the
subsidiaries in the PRC, which is based on 10% profit for the
year of these subsidiaries until the reserve balance reaches
50% of the registered capital. Such statutory reserve is non-
distributable and shall be used to (i) make up prior years’
losses or (ii) expand production operations.

General risk reserve

Pursuant to (It M RMEREAREETEN X (BKE
BHR) ) issued byt Rt 5 € B EEEE Bon 29 I\/Iarch
2022, one of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC is required
to set aside a general risk reserve through profit appropriation
which should not be lower than 1% of the closing balances
of its gross risk-bearing assets (i.e., all assets excluding
bank balances and cash) on an annual basis. The general
risk reserve balance as at 31 December 2023 amounted to
HK$99,662,000 (2022: HK$91,899,000) which complies with
the requirement.

Shares held for share award scheme

Shares held for share award scheme comprises the
consideration paid for such shares.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

33 RESERVES (Continued)
The Group (Continued)
Employee share-based compensation reserve

It represents the cumulative expenses recognised on the

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRI

33 @& (%)
KEE (&)
R HESHS S
EREBSHEAESE T ARG XM

granting of share-based compensation to the employees over Bl < B TSR B REH RS ©
the vesting period.
Revaluation reserve BE#E
It represents the revaluation surplus upon transfer of owner- EERAMEESERREMER 2 EGR
occupied properties to investment properties. BRo
Exchange reserve & 5 &%
It comprises all foreign exchange differences arising on BREATEZNE S ETINETE M
translations foreign operations with different reporting EERMBINEZHE -
currencies.
The Company ¥ANVAN]|
Shares held Employee
for share share-based
award  compensation Exchange Retained
scheme reserve reserve profits Total
AR RE
stEBEZ PN e
] EEMEfHE EHfE RERF st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BEFIT BEFTT BT BB TFT
At 1 January 2022 RZE-=%—F—8 (6,494) 702 (104,701) 172,378 61,885
Dividend paid BENRE - - - (32,209) (32,209)
Profit and total comprehensive FREMERFRNZARSBE
income for the year - - - 38,824 38,824
At 31 December 2022 and RZE-—F+-A=+—8K
1 January 2023 —Z-=f—f—H (6,494) 702 (104,701) 178,993 68,500
Dividend paid BRBRE - - - (23,262) (23,262)
Loss and total comprehensive FRNEBREFANZERSZ AR
expense for the year - - = (14,580) (14,580)
At 31 December 2023 R-Z-=F+-A=+-8 (6.494) 702 (104,701) 141,151 30,658
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34 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 3 BELRS
(a) Transactions and balances with related parties (a) B ER Z2X B R4E6
Save as disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, during R EREREMBORABEEEN F
the year, the Group had also entered into the following N AEETETHEERTETUAT
significant transactions and balances with the following BEAR G REERR:

related parties:

2023 2022
—_E-=H —E-F
Nature of transactions/
Name of related party balances HK$°000 HK3$'000
BELEW X5/ EHEE BETT BET T
The ultimate holding company:
BARZERAR:
China Chengtong Holdings Group Limited Guarantee fee 5,258 19,664
HEFAREREEAR AR ERE
The wholly-owned subsidiaries of the ultimate
holding company:
BRERDARZ2ENELE:
China Huandao Group Limited" Interest income 2,248 2,626
FREESEEERAA" RN ON
Hainan Huandao Industrial Development Limited" Interest income - 396
BEEREXERERAA" BN ON
China Chengtong Hong Kong Company Limited Interest expense 1,549 38
FERBEEEFRAA MBRX
Chengtong International Limited Management expense - 1,381
HEERESERAA EEEX L
Rental expense 1,122 -
He X%
China Chengtong Investment Company Limited Interest expense - 2,898
FERBREFR AR M BFX
Chengtong (Shenzhen) Investment Co., Limited" Interest expense 7,840 4,830
@ ORIDNIRERR DA F BRI X
Chengtong Mixed Reform Private Fund
Management Co., Limited" Rental income 916 745
BEEMLEECERARAR" HaelA
Received in advance 253 179
FEWRIE
China Chengtong Development Group Limited FEIH B RSB HRA A



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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34 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

3 BERRS (&)

(a) Transactions and balances with related parties (a) BAEFERZXEZR4EER (&)
(Continued)
2023 2022
—_E-=HE —E--F
Nature of transactions/
Name of related party balances HK$°000 HK$°000
BEFER X5/ ®EHiEE BT T BT T
Associate of the ultimate holding company of
the Company:
FRBRRRERAAZHEDNT:
Ningxia MCC Meili Cloud New Energy Co., Limited" Loan receivables 12,108 21,478
BEEFREMNEFRIRERLA" FEH &
Interest income from
loan receivables 823 1,953
e E T2 M B A
China Railway Financial Leasing Co., Limited" Loan receivables 17,685 86,464
hEBEREARAA" FEH &
Interest income from
loan receivables 2,035 8,159
e E T2 MBI A
Xinjiang Guotong Pipeline Co., Limited" Loan receivables 12,812 29,663
MEESEERNEBRAR" FEH &
Interest income from
loan receivables 1,156 601
W E T2 M B A
Luoyang Zhongzhong Transportation Co., Limited" Loan receivables 18,560 -
BEPEBERARAEMERAAR" FEH &
Interest income from
loan receivables
e E T2 M B A 501 -
Heilongjiang Haohua Chemical Corporation Limited" Loan receivables - 313,809
RETIZRELIBRAR" FEH &
Interest income from
loan receivables 3,437 4,970

The English names are for identification only.

FEARE SR F B A

Save as disclosed above, other balances and transactions with
related parties at the end of the respective reporting dates
or during the respective years are set out in the consolidated
statement of financial position and notes 19, 21 and 25.
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34 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

218

(b) Transactions and balances with other
government-related entities

The Group itself is part of a larger group of companies
controlled by CCHG (CCHG and its subsidiaries are referred
to as the "CCHG Group”) which is a stated-owned enterprise
under the direct supervision of the State Council of the PRC.
The management consider that the Company is ultimately
controlled by the government of the PRC and the Group
operates in an economic environment currently dominated by
entities controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced
by the PRC government (“government-related entities”).

Apart from transactions with CCHG Group, the Group has
transactions including but not limited to the leasing business
and bulk commodity trade with other relevant government-
related entities.

3 BERRS (&)

(b) EBEEMEFFEEER X5 K
AR

AEEEFATHEBEBREEZEEE 2
B A 1 50 m AR (3 im 1 IR Re LY
BRARAGHE HBEREE])ET —
BEBAHAREE sz —HHn -BEEER
NNl R E G S 2 I 17N
EHBEREENMENEERREITH
BEFEs BeEslsiBERTEY
ER(IRNBEER)) X8

RENBTEREEZRHIN AEH
EEHEMBABRNEEERETRS
FjﬁfElTKEEATH %%&KT%DD
5o

Details of the transactions with relevant government-related HEERSEEER RS2 EEH
entities are set out below: FIgAR -
2023 2022
—E-=f —E-HF
HK$°000 HK$'000
B F T BT
Interest income from loan receivables EUWE 2 F B WA 432,348 317,691
Consultancy service income from MEZH 2 HBARBYEA
leasing arrangements 25,640 54,763
Rental income under operating lease EHRBBERMEEZEZ
in respect of owned machineries EREETHS WA
and equipment 119,385 31,896
Purchase for bulk commodity trade ArREmE S ZRE - 243,874

In addition, the Group has entered into various transactions,
including other purchases and operating expenses with
other government-related entities. In the opinion of the
management, except for the transactions disclosed above,
other transactions are considered as individually and
collectively insignificant to the operation of the Group for
both years.

China Chengtong Development Group Limited FEIFE# R EB AR AT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

34 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

35

(b) Transactions and balances with other
government-related entities (Continued)

The Group also has bank deposits, loan receivables,
financial assets investments, trade and other receivables,
trade and other payables, lease liabilities and other general
financing facilities with certain entities and banks which are
government-related entities in its ordinary course of business.
The management are of the opinion that those government-
related entities do not have the power to govern or
participate in the financial and operating policies of the Group
and the transactions with these entities are conducted in the
ordinary course of the Group's business. The Group believes
that it has provided, at the best of its knowledge, adequate
and appropriate disclosure of related party transactions as
summarised above.

e MBRRIE

3 BERRS (&)

HAMKTEEER X5 R
AR ()

AEBETFRABEF BT LEERA
REER A TERRRITETRA
FREREER cREERE BEH
K E W R IR - B 5 N E e A R
H-HEREREM-—RBELS E
BERS ZEBNHEERLER
NEHH2RRNEENT B EEER
R MEZFEBORZINAKE
MABERBBEPET AKERE
BN B3R LR PTR A AR E R H
ARRENBESIRGZEE-

(b)

(c) The remunerations of key management (c) FAFEEEAE (AIEER
personnel who are the directors and senior EREEE) ZFMUT :
management during the year were as follows:

2023 2022
—ECZ=4F —EFT-—
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Short-term employee benefits RHEB &R 2,587 2,738
Post-employment benefits B RN 18 18
2,605 2,756
CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 35 EXERER

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group's
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the total debts
to total assets ratio. This ratio is calculated as total debt
divided by total assets. Total debts are calculated as loans
from related parties, trade and other payables, lease liabilities,
bank borrowings and asset-backed securities disclosed in
notes 21(b), 25, 27, 28 and 29, respectively.

AEENEAEEREERRAKENR
MEBDAIRKELS RFEBENL
B RRAER R RRFEAR R -
BE—FE& AEEZEEBRR

AEBEFNBESBREEEEEZLE
EREER Y REREFLHER
NBREENE - BHBEED IR
F£21(b) 2527 2829 E R K B
BiEFNER B MEMEMNKE:
HEABRE RTEEREELRHES
iTE-
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35

36

220

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 35

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on
a continuous basis. As part of this review, the directors of the
Company consider the cost of capital and the risks associated
with each class of capital. Based on recommendations of the
directors of the Company, the Group will balance its overall
capital structure through the payment of dividends, new share
issues and share buy-backs as well as the issue of new debt.

The total debts to total assets ratio at the end of reporting
period was as follows:

EXEARER (&)
ANREERBEELEHERERE
TR R TEZ —BHD VAR A
BEEULSARARSEEAMEEE
BRETESE - BREARAESHEE
B3 AEBMEEBTFRE  BITH
BRBERDARBETHES FBE
BRI IRES T

RBEMRNETAERBREE L
= (N

2023 2022
—Z=-= — ==
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Bank borrowings RITEE 3,747,903 3,167,005
Asset-backed securities BEIRHHES 3,006,217 2,702,269
Unsecured other loan (included in IR E A E K
other payables) (sT AE B FRIE) 600 600
Lease liabilities HEBRE 6,994 8,273
Loans from related parties KEMEBERER 165,000 339,000
Total debts (EREGE 6,926,714 6,217,147
Total assets BB E 10,570,196 10,009,735
Total debts to total assets ratio BSQEHMEE 2R 65.5% 62.1%
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS ERITA
(a) Categories of financial instruments (a) T AEZHE
2023 2022
—=Z=:=-= —E-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Financial assets EMEE
Equity instruments at FVTOC| RAFEF AEM PR S
RfEz=m T A 32,342 69,183
At amortised costs big XiI I WN 9,627,850 8,827,227
9,660,192 8,896,410
Financial liabilities EWmasE
At amortised costs big: X 1IN 7,498,679 6,859,908

China Chengtong Development Group Limited FEIFE# R EB AR AT




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include other financial
assets, finance lease receivables and loan receivables, trade
and other receivables, loans to related parties, pledged bank
deposits, bank balances and cash, trade and other payables,
bank borrowings, asset-backed securities, loans from related
parties and lease liabilities. Details of the financial instruments
are disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated with
these financial instruments include market risk (currency risk,
price risk, interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The
policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below.
The management of the Group manages and monitors these
exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented
on a timely and effective manner.

Market risks

(i) Currency risk

As at 31 December 2023, except for the following, the Group
does not have significant financial assets or financial liabilities
denominated in currencies other than their functional
currencies at the end of the reporting period.

The carrying amounts of the Group's financial assets (including
loan receivables, trade and other receivables and bank
balances and cash) and financial liabilities (including trade
and other payables) denominated in currencies other than the
functional currencies of the respective group companies as at
31 December 2023 and 2022 are as follows:

36

e MBRRIE

E®MIE (8
(b) BIREREEEERKE

FEENTESRIARTEEMLER
BE BREHEREFAREBKRER -
EoREMEEFE BTHESE
FDHEBRTER RTEFERR
T BHREMEMNFE RITEE.
EEXKES REBMEZZERRK
HERGBE M ITAFBEREMEH
B-EzSZeR I ARBANRERBE
migRER (E%ER ERRR- FX
Rk) FERBRIRABESRER -
B EZEE R BRI N T
X-AGEEEEBEEREEZTRA
B LARER MBS A RO IR BUE B HE 1 o

™ 35 @ B
(i) EBE¥EAR

RZFZ=F+ZA=+—8 KK
TRAESN REERREHREEE
NEMBEEBE AN 2 BB EZEX
TREEXCHAMR-

RZEBE—=FER T -_—F+=A
Tt B AEBUSEBERQRRNKE
BEEDUIEETTEC SREE (B
FEWER BEZREMBRFEUR
RTEEERRS ) ReRaE(REE
SR EMEMFE) ZREES 0
T

2023 2022
:g:z —_=__
HK$°000 HK$°000
BEF T BT T
Assets BE
RMB AR 141,761 128
usD ETT 123,777 138,012
Liabilities aE
usD ETT 12,014 17,375
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36 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

222

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risks (Continued)
(i) Currency risk (Continued)

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy but the management monitors foreign exchange
exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign
currency exposure should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, financial assets
denominated in USD and RMB belongs to the group
companies of which their functional currency is HK$. As HK$
is pegged to USD, the Group considers that the currency risk
arising from transactions in USD is not significant.

The following table details the Group’'s sensitivity to a
5% increase and decrease in RMB against HK$. 5% is the
sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency risk
internally to key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change
in the exchange rate between RMB and HK$. The sensitivity
analysis includes only outstanding RMB denominated
monetary items and adjusts their translation at the reporting
date for a 5% change in exchange rates. The analysis
illustrates the impact for a 5% strengthening of RMB against
the HK$ and a positive number below indicates an increase in
profit for the year. For a 5% weakening of RMB against HK$,
there would be an equal and opposite impact on the profit
for the year.

36

E®MIE (8
(b)) BIEREEEEEERKE
(%)

miEEkE (E)
(i) EWmER(E)

AEEBR Y EINEHHPERK-BE
BESERINERAR UKNELE
Iy 2 8 S B R HME L

RZEZ=FRk=ZT=_=_F+=H
=t—HB UETRKRAREFEZS
MEEEREBERR MEDEEE
ABAB RNBBEEE THENE  A5H
RE UNETLTETRIMEEZER
BRI TEK-

TRHFLAEBARBELEEAER
B ES% MR E 5% BRATEEE
A B A EB & 3R SN B [ B8 B BT FR A9 SRR
Bhx NAEEEBYH ARKEBE
CHEERNAIEREE S TE ;K
REDIEBRFENDABRILIAARE
STEMEBIER WHNERAB BIKE
EHRS% EFHERETURAE -Z D
MEMTARBEBEFAES% B
.M NROESRATRRF LN
B MARBHEBEEES%  BFRA
B EXEEEARMNEE-

2023 2022
—s=-= —E=-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BMEF T
Impact to the profit for the year HENRNH 2 5,919 6

China Chengtong Development Group Limited FEIFE# R EB AR AT




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risks (Continued)
(ii)
Certain of the Group’s other financial assets are measured at
fair value at the end of each reporting date with reference to
the quoted prices. Therefore, the Group is exposed to equity
price risk and the management of the Group will monitor

the price movements and take appropriate actions when is
required.

Price risk

Sensitivity analysis is performed by management to assess the
exposure of the Group’s financial results to price risks of listed
other financial assets at the end of each of the reporting
period. If the prices of the respective instruments held by
the Group had been 5% (2022: 5%) higher/lower as at
31 December 2023, the other comprehensive income for the
year would have been approximately HK$1,384,000 (2022:
HK$3,035,000) higher/lower respectively.

(iii) Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation
to bank balances, pledged bank deposits, variable-rate finance
lease receivables and loan receivables, and variable-rate bank
borrowings. The Group is also exposed to fair value interest
rate risk in relation to fixed-rate finance lease receivables
and loan receivables, loans to/(from) related parties, lease
liabilities, fixed-rate bank borrowings and asset-backed
securities. The Group currently does not have an interest
rate hedging policy. However, the management of the Group
monitors interest rate exposure and will consider hedging
significant interest rate exposure should the need arise.

The Group has exposure to cash flow interest rate risk due to
the fluctuation of the prevailing market interest rate.

36

e MBRRIE
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(b) BIBEEEEHERHKE
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TiEEE (4)

(i) EREE

AEFEETEMEREEN2RRE
VTHEEREAHRZAFESE
g AEEERREERER MAE
BERERERERIBDYNTRR
BREUE & # ©

EEBETHREEDMAFER SR
EHRAEBMBEENERZ L™
Hih & MEENERRAR R_T==
F+_AZ+—HBH HMAEEBEEDH
EHEIEMEREM FI5% (ZF
T ZF:5%) AAFEEMEEYK
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=

(iii) R =@k

AEEmERRITET SEMRT
75k F B R E T E R UK IR & B IR
ERARFERTEEEANRER
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36 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

224

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risks (Continued)
(iii) Interest rate risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below have been determined based
on the exposure to interest rates at the end of the reporting
period. The analysis is prepared assuming the financial
instruments outstanding at the end of the reporting period
were outstanding for the whole year. A 50 basis points (2022:
50 basis points) increase or decrease is used which represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change
in interest rates.

If interest rates on the interest bearing instruments had been
50 basis points higher/lower and all of other variables were
held constant, the Group's post-tax profit for the year ended
31 December 2023 would increase/decrease by approximately
HK$18,764,000 (2022: HK$16,899,000).

Credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s counterparties
default on their contractual obligations resulting in financial
losses to the Group. The Group's credit risk exposures are
primarily attributable to trade and other receivables, finance
lease receivables and loan receivables, loans to related parties,
pledged bank deposit and bank balances. The Group does not
hold any collateral or other credit enhancements to cover its
credit risks associated with its financial assets, except that the
credit risks associated with finance lease receivables and loan
receivables are mitigated because they are secured over the
machineries and equipment and settlement of certain trade
receivables are backed by bills issued by reputable financial
institution.

In order to monitor the credit risk, the management of the
Group has reviewed the recoverable amount of each aforesaid
individual assets at the end of the reporting period to ensure
that adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable
amounts.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Impairment and provision policies

The Group’s policy requires the review of individual
outstanding amounts at least monthly or more regularly
depending on individual circumstances or market condition.

The Group’s impairment requirements are based on an ECL
model. The Group applies simplified approach to measure
ECL on trade and bills receivables; and general approach
to measure ECL on deposits and other receivables, finance
lease receivables and loan receivables, loans to related
parties, pledged bank deposits and bank balances. Under the
simplified approach, the Group measures the loss allowance at
an amount equal to lifetime ECL. Under the general approach,
financial assets migrate through the following three stages
based on the change in credit risk since initial recognition:
Stage 1: 12-month ECL, Stage 2: Lifetime ECL — not credit-
impaired and Stage 3: Lifetime ECL — credit-impaired.

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of default occurring on the financial
instrument assessed at the reporting date with that assessed
at the date of initial recognition. In making this reassessment,
the Group considers that a default event occurs when (i) the
borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Group
in full; or (i) the financial asset is 90 days past due unless
the Group has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more
appropriate. The Group considers both quantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or effort.
Information such as failure to make payments of principal
or interest on their contractually due dates, an actual or
expected significant deterioration in the operating results of
the debtor and an actual or expected significant deterioration
in a financial instrument’s external or internal credit rating (if
any) will be taken into account when assessing whether credit
risk has increased significantly since initial recognition.
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36 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

226

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Impairment and provision policies (Continued)

For other receivables and loan receivables, the number of days
past due ("DPD") and loan-to-collateral value (“LTV") will be
used to determine significant increase in credit risk.

Based on DPD, LTV and internally derived credit ratings,
deposits and other receivables, loan receivables, other
financial assets measured at amortised cost, loans to related
parties and bank balances are classified into 3 stages.

When estimating the ECL on loan and advances to
customers, the Group has incorporated forward-looking
economic information through the use of industry trend and
experienced credit judgement to reflect the qualitative factors.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, other than those financial
assets whose carrying amounts best represent the maximum
exposure to credit risk, the Group’s maximum exposure to
credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group
arising from the amount of financial guarantees provided by
the Group is disclosed in note 37.

The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements to cover its credit risks associated with its
financial assets, except for the credit risks associated with
finance lease receivables and loan receivables as disclosed
in note 20. The Group considers that the credit risk arising
from the finance lease receivables and loan receivables is
significantly mitigated by the leased equipment and facilities,
land from the related party of the lessee, unlisted equity
interest and account receivables from the lessees and the
related parties of the lessees and/or deposits received from
customers held as collaterals, with reference to the estimated
value of the collaterals at the end of each reporting period.

China Chengtong Development Group Limited FEIFE# R EB AR AT

36

E®MIE (8
(b) FEREE

(%)
=& Rk KRR ER G (8)
HERBERE ()
00 H B R IR e BB R A R
REafRa ((ABXE]) LEREER

MmEEL ( (EMREFREEL])
BEEERREEAEEN-

BEHERKF

REEBHRY EXEERREELL
EAREENEEFNR REREAM
FEMRIE - R E K - I B S AR E
MEMEMEE BTRETERR
RITEFD R =EARR-

R TEFEREBRNELE
BEEER  AEBEC M ARTEE&QE
BN ERFEATEBERENER
HEEHEB A RMRELEE-

RZEBEZ=ZFR=_ZT-_=_F+=A
=t+t— B BEEIREEREER
BRKTHMZEcHMEERABEN
FAEEERYSHEBENEASEE RS
EERBKFERENAIVAEEZS
AR EEIRENBERSRE-

AEEBVESEEMERBIEME
BEEREmUREELESREERBE
BERB - EH M 20 EE BME
HERKFEREREFRABEER
BRI REERE ARNFEHRER
RN R & ARBERN L
JEETTRR AR AR AREBAZE
EBHZEREFUR B REFTTF
FIERBERG ME2ERFLANS
WMEBMR A EAEREZ EpEHE
W REREREREEAZ EZERR
BERKRD -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Financial assets with credit risk exposure
Trade and bills receivables

The Group’'s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by
the individual characteristics of each customer rather than
the industry or country in which the customers operate and
therefore significant concentrations of credit risk primarily
arise when the Group has significant exposure to individual
customers.

Finance lease receivables and loan receivables

Before accepting any new lessee under leasing arrangement,
the Group assesses the credit quality of each potential lessee
and defined limits for each lessee. The Group also demands
certain lessees to provide corporate guarantees from their
respective shareholders or related parties or other assets as
collateral to the Group at the time the leasing arrangement
is entered into. In addition, the Group has reviewed the
repayment history of leasing payments from each lessee to
determine the recoverability of the loan receivables. Also,
the Group takes into account information specific to the
customers as well as pertaining to the economic environment
in which the customers operate.

Pledged bank deposits and bank balances

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group has pledged
bank deposits and bank balances in certain corporations and
banks in the PRC and Hong Kong. The credit risk on these
deposits is insignificant as the counterparties are financial
institutions with high credit-rating or with good reputation.

Loans to related parties

For the loans to related parties, the management considered
the related parties do not have significant credit risk due
to the past payment history and also taking into account
of the sound financial performance and position of its
holding company to meet contractual cash flow obligation.
No impairment had been provided under 12-month ECL
assessment.
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36 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
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(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Financial assets with credit risk exposure (Continued)
Loans to related parties (Continued)

The average expected loss rate applied is approximately
0.19% (2022: 0.21%). Movement in the loss allowance
account during the year is as follows:

36

E®MIE (8
(b) FEREE

(%)
=& Rk KRR ER G (8)
HEFERRNEREE (F)
BT@ELER (&)

FrERAMNERFEHEBEEXRAEL0.19%
(ZZEZZF:021%) - FRAREERE
BERPHEEINT

BEHERKF

2023 2022

—EBE-=HF —E- %

HK$’000 HK$°000

BT T BT T

At 1 January Hn—A—H 16,708 13,170
Impairment losses (reversed)/provided RER (BE) FHRZ

during the year: VERIEN SR

— Trade and bills receivables —BHRKFIEREREE (18) 18
— Finance lease receivables and loan —BMEHERWKFIAR
receivables and other receivables FERE A R E A

FE MR IE 48,602 4,586

Exchange adjustments PE 532 (435) (1,066)

At 31 December Rt+-_A=+—H 64,857 16,708

As at 31 December 2023, credit risk of the Group was
concentrated on (a) loans to related parties of HK$27,500,000;
and (b) 58 lessees from 118 leasing arrangements, with
aggregated amount of finance lease receivables and loan
receivables of HK$8,867,762,000.

As at 31 December 2022, credit risk of the Group was
concentrated on (a) two customers from bulk commodity
trading, with aggregated amount of trade and bills
receivables of HK$19,486,000; (b) loans to related parties
of HK$33,900,000; and (c) 49 lessees from 89 leasing
arrangements, with aggregated amount of finance lease
receivables and loan receivables of HK$8,217,574,000.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Financial assets with credit risk exposure (Continued)

To monitor the credit risk exposure, the management of
the Group has reviewed the recoverability of each debtor

periodically.

The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment comprises

the following categories:

mEe

36 TR T A (&)

B A SRR MY R

(b) AIBEEEEBERKE

(%)
FEERERRRENE (8)

HEFERBRNHEREE (B)

REREER

AEBEZEREED

E % u'J‘REﬁQ/\ﬁ)’TKEIEZTHﬂZ@

IR

AEBZABEERR

AT #R R

Trade and bills

AR R

Other financial assets/

Internal credit rating Description receivables other items
B RUHER HttemER/
A B 15 B AR B eSS HitE B
Performing The counterparty has a low risk of default and Lifetime ECL 12m ECL
does not have any past-due amounts - not credit-impaired
R #f HFAmENRRE BEEEMaHTE FHRBEERR REARREESR
- BERRE
Special Mention Debtor frequently repays after due dates Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
but usually settle in full - not credit-impaired - not credit-impaired
2pz3 EBARERIBARER EBEEHEN FHEHEEER FHEHEEER
—EEARE —EEARE
Sub-standard There have been significant increases in credit risk  Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

Doubtful

REE

Loss

E#

since initial recognition through information

developed from internal or external resources

REXREABHEXSNBERNER
BB AREERRBEE

There is evidence indicating the asset is
credit-impaired

ERXPEELRERAE

There is evidence indicating that the debtor is
in severe financial difficulty and the Group
has no realistic prospect of recovery

BRERAGBARRERENNBREE
&$%§I%AmmW@m”

- not credit-impaired

2HBRHEEER
- BERRE

Lifetime ECL
- credit-impaired
FHEHEERR
—(ERRE

Amount is written off

WEHEE

- not credit-impaired

2HBHEEER
—EERRE

Lifetime ECL
- credit-impaired
PHEREEER
—ERRE

Amount is written off

WHEE B
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(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Financial assets with credit risk exposure (Continued)

The table below details the credit risk exposures of the
Group's financial assets, including trade and bills receivables,
other receivables, finance lease receivables and loan

36

E®MIE (8

(b) HBERE
(%)

EEREREENL (F)
HEFERRNEREE (F)

TRAJNAEEAETRBEERR
HENEREE (BREE 5 ENKFKA
Ko FEM R U5 ~ Ho At 8 YRR wﬂéfﬂ

BEHERKF

receivables, loans to related parties, pledged bank deposits EWFERERER ETBEEL 2
and bank balances, which are subject to ECL assessment: B BEMIRITEREBITER) M
[ B Y15 & R by
External Internal
Notes  credit rating  credit rating 12m or lifetime ECL Gross carrying amount
Ma  HBEEFR ABEEFR 12EAI2HRACEFE EHAHE
2023 2022
—E-=fF —T__F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BYETT BETT
Financial assets at amortised cost
REHERATENEHEE
Trade and bills receivables 19  N/A Note (i) Lifetime ECL (collective assessment) 4,067 21,643
EHRETEREEREER TER =20 2HEBEEER (RETH)
Other receivables 19  N/A Performing 12m ECL 18,156 19,755
H it IR TER RAF NEREBEERE
Finance lease receivables 20 N/A Performing 12m ECL 44,612 90,492
BEMERKFE TER RAF NEARBEERFE
Loan receivables 20 N/A Performing 12m ECL 8,373,422 8,073,163
e E R TER RAF NEARBEERFE
Special Mention  Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired) 442,885 -
2P PHEREEEE-EERAA
Sub-standard Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired) - 70,422
R rHREBEEER-BERAE
Doubtful Lifetime ECL (credit- \mpalred) 53,236 -
A& PHEBEEER-FRAE
Loss Amount is written off 18,277 -
E#E mHEeR
Loans to related parties 21 N/A Performing 12m ECL 27,500 33,900
RTHERER TiER RiF NEARBEERSE
Pledged bank deposits 23 Aa3-A1 Performing 12m ECL 11,972 61,709
EERRITER Aa3 - Al RiF NEARBEERSE
Bank balances 23 Aa3-Baa3 Performing 12m ECL 698,579 472,852
BIRE Aa3-Baa3  RIF NEARREERR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Financial assets with credit risk exposure (Continued)

Note:

(i) For trade and bills receivables, the Group has applied the simplified
approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime
ECL. Except for debtors with significant outstanding balances or
credit-impaired, the Group determines the ECL on these items on a
collective basis, grouped by past due status.

As part of the Group’'s credit risk management, the Group
uses debtors’ aging to assess the impairment for its customers
which are grouped by different segments in relation to
its operations because these customers consist of a large
number of small customers with common risk characteristics
that are representative of the customers’ abilities to pay all
amounts due in accordance with the contractual terms. The
following table provides information about the exposure to
credit risk for trade and bills receivables which are assessed
on a collective basis by using provision matrix within lifetime
ECL (not credit-impaired). None of the debtors is classified as
doubtful or loss.
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E®MIE (8
(b)) BIEREEEEEERKE

(%)
EEREREENL (F)
HEFERRNEREE (F)
et -

() HEZELKERBUREERNS £&%
BEEEAEENBREENFEISRNE
ez BRBEEBRAEBER
w-BREBERAKRERGHI(EARE
MEB AN AREBRBHAR DA
NERBERBEFTZSRANEREESD

8o

ERASEEERRERN —F D
AEEFEREBANKRKIGETR
MEE ZFEFEEEEEARN
TRASEETHE REAZEREP
BREAEAFRARAREENNES
MZEFBRREPREANGRX
MAABERHRENE D - TRIEHEA
MEZRUFALBREENEER
RER ZEERNDEREZHEAENE
EEE(BEARE) ANBERRER
SREEETIE-MEBEHFADER

RRERER -

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-=
Trade Trade
Average and bills Average and bills
loss rate receivables loss rate  receivables
EZEY 2EHREK
RIER W RIA K e
FHERX RE THBEX E¥7 1
HK$°000 HK$'000
BETT BB T
Gross carrying amount AR5
Current (not past due) BIHE (R H3) 0.02% 4,067 0.01% 21,561
1-30 days past due BH1E30KR - 20.0% 82
4,067 21,643
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(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Financial assets with credit risk exposure (Continued)

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical
observed default rates over the expected life of the debtors
and are adjusted for forward-looking information that
is available without undue cost or effort. The grouping
is regularly reviewed by management to ensure relevant
information about specific trade and bills receivable is
updated.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
provided HK$1,000 (2022: HK$19,000) impairment allowance
for trade and bills receivables, based on collective assessment.

The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL that
has been recognised for trade and bills receivables under
simplified approach.
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E®MIE (8
(b)) BIEREEEEEERKE

(%)
=& Rk KRR ER G (8)
HEFERRNEREE (F)

BERIBREXNIREEFEARBHFH
MESLBRMBEHRMGE LB
BIEBBEXASLIE R A EFRA
BEERMFLEE-BEEE TSR
DM AERE B EE SRR
LREREENHEBERCSER-

REzEz—_FE-_=F+=-_A=+—H1
FE ALBREBEEETHALAEIE
W IE &k R ZEE AT 3R B #1,0000T
— = — 4B 19,0007t ) B E B

=

e

TRINTREBETEAERNE HE
H&%KIE&J%H&%‘%TJ%E’\J%Eﬁi‘ﬁ,ﬁﬂﬁfﬂ%

?E' “=%

Lifetime ECL
(not credit-
impaired)
HENEEESR
(BERRE)
HK$'000
BT T
As at 1 January 2022 R=B=-=%-A—H 1
New financial assets originated net of EEFemEE MBREZEmMKL
those derecognised due to settlement TR S5 18
As at 31 December 2022 and R-ZBZZH+=ZA=+—-HK
1 January 2023 —EB-=%-A-H 19
Changes due to financial instruments AR_—_ZT_=F—H - H®RAEHMIA
recognised as at 1 January 2023: MES 2 #8:
— Impairment losses reversed, net —EREREEIEFE (18)
As at 31 December 2023 R-B-=%+=-A=+-—8 1
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRI

36 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 36 €I A (&)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) BIBEEEEEERKE
policies (Continued) (4)

EEREREENL (F)
HEFERRNEREE (F)

TRINTEMEEFAE REHER
WHIELERER RTHRELZE
FOEERBITERRRITEFCHE

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Financial assets with credit risk exposure (Continued)

The following table shows reconciliation of loss allowances
that has been recognised for other receivables, finance lease
receivables and loan receivables, loans to related parties,

pledged bank deposits and bank balances. REE BB EHER-
Lifetime ECL  Lifetime ECL
(not credit- (credit-
12m ECL impaired) impaired) Total
2HES 2H%ES
12@AEH FEER FEER
FEFEE (ECRARE) (EARE) @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BEFT BEFT  BETrn
As at 1 January 2022 R-E--_%—-H-H 2,557 10,612 - 13,169
Changes due to financial instruments AR-_F__5—-F—-B#
recognised as at 1 January 2022: ReMIAMEECEE):
- Impairment losses (reversed)/ -B(ERE) /ERRE
recognised, net BETE (1,161) 3,947 - 2,786
New financial assets originated net of EETEREE NKRELHE
those derecognised due to settlement Mgt BERANEE 1,800 - - 1,800
Exchange adjustments (R (181) (885) - (1,066)
As at 31 December 2022 R-ZB-Z#+-A=t-H 3,015 13,674 - 16,689
Changes due to financial instruments AR-Z-=%—-A—H
recognised as at 1 January 2023: BREBIAMEL 2 2E:
— Transfer to lifetime ECL ~BEZXHREEERS
(credit-impaired) (EAmE) = (13,674) 13,674 =
— Transfer to lifetime ECL ~BEZXHREEERS
(not credit-impaired) (BERHE) (410) 410 = =
~ Impairment losses (reversed)/ -B(BR) /ERREEE
recognised, net FE (1,946) 16,510 31,861 46,425
New financial assets originated net of EENEREE Mk
those derecognised due to settlement REEMRERRANSE 2,177 - - 2,177
Exchange adjustments BEHAE (62) (11) (362) (435)
As at 31 December 2023 RZBZ=%+ZA=t-H 2,774 16,909 45,173 64,856
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234

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 36 TRT A (/)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) FHEREEBREEEHERKE
policies (Continued) (4)
Liquidity risk REBESREE
In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors EmBHEeRREEMS AXEEH
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed RekReSBENETERRERSE
adequate by the management of the Group to finance the AEBEEEEERREUNAREEEE
Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations RHESRBERSRER ISR
in cash flows. The management of the Group monitors the FERKF - REEEREERRIT
utilisation of bank loans and ensures compliance with loan BEXMER BREGERREY -
covenants.
The following tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual TRAMAESINAERANETELRE
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities based on ERBEZEEXHNBRTEOH-T
the agreed repayment terms. The tables have been drawn up EDORBAEBERAHEREENE
based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities PN eREBERMBARESRER
based on the earliest date on which the Group can be Ble-ZEXBREINEETEBEEME
demanded for repayment. The tables include both interest
and principal cash flows.
Liquidity table REBES R
At 31 December 2023 R-ZBZ=F+=ZA=+-—8H
Weighted After After
average Within 1 year 2 years Total
interest rate 1yearoron  but within  but within undiscounted Carrying
per annum demand 2 years 5 years cash flows amount
EFY —FRH —F#%E MEHRE REEH
FFR=E RER RPER REER ReRBMER REE
HKS$'000 ~ HKS$'000  HKS$'000 HK$'000  HKS$'000
BET T BET T BET T BETT BETT
Trade and other payables Z 5 R E B - 572,565 - - 572,565 572,565
Bank borrowings FATIEE 3.60% 2,139,433 1,186,248 601,922 3,927,603 3,747,903
Asset-backed securities EEXBKES 3.98% 1,549,542 1,262,482 371,139 3,183,163 3,006,217
Loans from related parties REBEHHER 4.30% 169,389 - - 169,389 165,000
Lease liabilities HEAE 4.92% 4,038 3,322 - 7,360 6,994
4,434,967 2,452,052 973,061 7,860,080 7,498,679
Financial guarantee contracts MBEREHD
Maximum amount guaranteed ~ BERE=SEHE 233,118 - - 233,118 -
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e M BRI

36 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued)
Liquidity table (Continued)
At 31 December 2022

36 @A (&)
HHEERBREERBERBEE

(%)

(b)

RBEERAR (8)

REESE (HB)
R=ZB=-Z=F+=-A=+—H

Weighted After After

average Within 1 year 2 years Total
interest rate 1 year or on but within but within  undiscounted Carrying
per annum demand 2 years 5 years cash flows amount

g5 —F R —F1%E MEERE RER
FRIR RER RRER REFHN RERSE REE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT B TFT BETFT
Trade and other payables B 5 R E A B RIE - 643,361 - - 643,361 643,361
Bank borrowings RITEE 3.91% 2,088,614 696,734 550,072 3,335,420 3,167,005
Asset-backed securities BEXHESR 3.38% 1,538,869 877,752 442,358 2,858,979 2,702,269
Loans from related parties REBERTHER 4.40% 116,887 258,642 - 375,529 339,000
Lease liabilities HEEE 2.87% 4,055 3,052 1,435 8,542 8,273
4,391,786 1,836,180 993,865 7,221,831 6,859,908

Financial guarantee contracts BBERED

Maximum amount guaranteed BERESEHE 245,852 - - 245,852 -
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36 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 36 TRT A (/)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) BIBEEEEEERKE
policies (Continued) (4)
Liquidity risk (Continued) nBESRR (&)
Liquidity table (Continued) RBESR(E)
Bank borrowings with a repayment on demand clause are REMB BT WHEZRERER
included in the “within 1 year or on demand” time band in BB ITEEFTA [ —FARIEERK]
the above maturity analysis. As at 31 December 2022, the RHEIR R_T__F+_A=+—
carrying amount of the bank borrowings which contained a H BERERKEERRZRITEE
repayable on demand clause amounted to HK$334,955,000 Z BRI {B B8 #334,955,0000C (=&
(2023: nil). Taking into account the Group’s financial position, TEFR) o KERERNEEMM BN
the directors of the Company considered it is unlikely that MR RREFRBBIT IR
the banks would exercise its discretion to demand immediate THEENEEERIANER - AR A
repayment. The directors of the Company considered that the EERR BERERKEEHRRZR
bank loans which contained a repayable on demand clause TEFRERBEERBEMEH 25 EIE
would be repaid in accordance with the scheduled payment EAHEERE AT R :
dates set out in the loan agreements which are summarised in
the table below:
At 31 December 2023 - N/A R-ZB-_=%+-A=+—-B-TEAR
At 31 December 2022 R-B-Z-5+=-A=+—H
Weighted After After
average Within 1 year 2 years Total
interest rate 1 year or on but within but within undiscounted Carrying
per annum demand 2 years 5 years cash flows amount
JiiE= B —FRH —F#%A RERCYE REH
FH & REX RRER RRAER BeREgc HREE
HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
BT T BT T BT T BT BT T
Bank borrowings BIEE 4.90% 125,475 143,458 85,320 354,253 334,955

236

(c) Fair value measurements of financial
instruments

Some of the Group’s financial instruments are measured at
fair value for financial reporting purposes.

In estimating the fair value, the Group uses market-
observable data to the extent it is available. For instruments
with significant unobservable inputs under Level 3, the Group
engages third party qualified valuers to perform the valuation.
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e M BRI

36 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 36 TRIT A (%)
(c) Fair value measurements of financial (c) THITEANLFHEIE (&)

instruments (Continued)

(i)  Fair value of the Group's financial assets that are (i) BREEFHEELAFEIFEZAR
measured at fair value on a recurring basis SEemEEZ LA TE
Some of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities rEEH > eMEERSRABERE
are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting MEBMABRAFEAEZ - TRIEHA
period. The following table gives information about how AnfETZSeRmEEATENE
the fair values of these financial assets are determined (in B(LERMEANMGEERMER A
particular, the valuation technique(s) and inputs used). Hg) -
Fair value hierarchy as at 31 December 2023 R-ZEB-Z=F+=-ZB=+—-HWLQ¥
BER
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
— & 4 =& Hat

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
EBETFT EBETFTT EETFT EBEETR

Financial assets: TRMEE:
Equity instruments at FVTOCI BRATFEF AHAM
PHRENERTA
— unlisted equity investments —JFEETRRERE - - 4,656 4,656
— shares listed in Hong Kong —REBELTHIRG 27,686 - - 27,686
27,686 - 4,656 32,342
Fair value hierarchy as at 31 December 2022 R-ZB--—F+=-HA=+—HWA¥
BER
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
— —# =& Bt
HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BEFrT BEFrT BEFT
Financial assets: tRMEE:
Equity instruments at FVTOCI BN ER A HA
PHKENESETA
— unlisted equity investments —FEEmRERE - - 8,477 8,477
— shares listed in Hong Kong —REBETHRG 60,706 - - 60,706

60,706

8,477 69,183
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e MR

36 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 36 TRIT A (%)
(c) Fair value measurements of financial (c) THITEANLFHEIE (&)

instruments (Continued)

(i)  Fair value of the Group's financial assets that (i) BREEFHEELAFEIFEZAR
are measured at fair value on a recurring basis SEemEE2LAFE (&)

(Continued)

Valuation techniques and inputs used in Level 3 fair value =RAFEFECANGEERTERRE
measurements: AU -
Significant
Valuation techniques  unobservable inputs Range
B A EXATAERBAHE gE

Financial assets:

Other financial assets:
HithomEE:
- Financial assets measured Discounted cash flow Discount rate and Discount rate:

at FVTOC!: unlisted equity BRRERE discount for lack of 17.33% - 17.70%

investments marketability (2022: 17.71% - 21.35%);
—BAFEFAEMEERE 2 BRERBEMS Discount for lack of marketability:

SREBE ELTRERE TEIEEAE 15.7% (2022: 10% - 20%)

BRR % :17.33% - 17.70%
(ZZEZZF:17.71% - 21.35%) :
BRE WS RBMERE
15.7% (ZE =% :10% - 20%)

An increase in the discount rate used in isolation would result ERFRAMNMREIENEERIELT
in a decrease in the fair value measurement of the unlisted BREKENAFEFERD R2T
equity investments, and vice versa. A 5% increase/decrease in SR o BRIR KIB N, W 5% M AT A H
the discount rate holding all other variables constant would PHBEETE FLTREREZER
decrease/increase the carrying amount of unlisted equity M 8 % 5 Bl 2,18 hn 4 #205,0007T
investments by HK$205,000 and HK$229,000 respectively K AE229000C (2= —F 9§l
(2022: HK$750,000 and HK$848,000 respectively). A HE750,0007T M B #848,0007T ) °
There were no transfers amongst Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3 RRBEFEANRFESZRN —HK =
in the fair value hierarchy during both years. BR= s HEEE -
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e MBRRIE

36 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 36 TRIT A (%)
(c) Fair value measurements of financial (c) £TATANLFEIEZE (&)
instruments (Continued)
(i) Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements (i) =2 FEFTENEHER
2023 2022
—E2-= —_==_—
HK$'000 HK$'000
B F T BT T
At 1 January R—HA—H 8,477 11,658
Fair value loss in other Emermkimda
comprehensive income NFEEEIE (3,596) (2,383)
Exchange adjustments ME A B (225) (798)
At 31 December ®R+=—A=+—H 4,656 8,477
(iii) Fair values of financial assets and liabilities carried at (iii) BAFEUNMIERNEHEER

37

other than fair value

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of the Group’s financial instruments not measured
at fair value are stated approximately to their fair values as at
31 December 2023 and 2022.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had contingent liabilities
in relation to guarantees of approximately HK$233,118,000
(2022: HK$245,852,000) given to banks in respect of
mortgage loans granted to purchasers of certain property
units of CCT-Champs-Elysses project.

Pursuant to the terms of the guarantees, upon default
in mortgage payments by these purchasers, the Group is
responsible for repaying the outstanding mortgage principals
together with any accrued interest and penalty owed by the
defaulted purchasers to the banks, and the Group is entitled
to take over the legal title and possession of the related
properties.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the financial
impact arising from providing the above financial guarantees
is insignificant and accordingly, they were not accounted for
in these financial statements.

37

BENLQFE

ARREERA RZE_=ZFK=
T —FE+ZA=+—HBAEBEINIE
EAFEAENSR T ANERESR
ERFEEE-

HZRER

NZEBE-_=F+-_A=+—H &®&
E#EEEEREENXABENE
#233,118,000c (Z B - —F : B
245,852,000 ) * AR Z FH IR 17 A
BEYEBEATYEBENERET
BRE R MR-

REBERGH EXFERBRIES
MR- AEEEEERRITEEEZD
BEFREENRBAS EREME
AAMEMEE MAKEAEEENR
PMERAE RN AE-

ARARIEFTRA RH LR M BHER
EENPBZEMTIRE VA KRAE
ZEFBRERT AR
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mEMBRRHE

37 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group was not
involved in any litigation or arbitration of material importance
and there was no litigation or claim of material importance
known to the directors of the Company to be pending or

37

RARE &)
R-ZB_=FR-_F=-__F+=A

=St -—HA AKEHESRENERXR
RABRFE NRABDEEFTIHNEAR
ERCNCE NS S E RN ik

threatened against the Group. HERFALRE-
38 COMMITMENTS 38 &IE
(a) Capital commitments (a) EAXRIE
2023 2022
—s=-= —E-
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T B F T
Contracted but not provided for: EHENEES TR
Purchase of property, plant and BEWMZE - WEREE
equipment 140 244

(b) Operating lease arrangement —where the
Group as a lessor

The Group has contracted with tenants for the following
future minimum lease receivables:

(b) AEEERLHHEAZEERL
=z

AEBEHBALPATLN  KARKEEK
Hemr:

2023 2022
—E=-= —E- =

HK$°000 HK$'000

B F T BT T

Within one year —F R 1,452 2,752
Later than one year and —FREMFR

not later than two years 275 1,231
Later than two years and MERBRE=FA

not later than three years - 282

1,727 4,265

Leases are negotiated for terms ranging from 3 to 10 years
(2022: 3 to 10 years).

39 COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform
to the current year's presentation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRI

40 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 40 Z T B AR R &K
COMPANY

2023 2022
—E-= — T
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
k=3 BT T B FT
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME BERER 3,659 5,841
Interests in subsidiaries N IEPNGIPA 3 20 20
Amounts due from subsidiaries JRE st B /88 A R] 3R B 1,072,274 1,072,274
1,075,953 1,078,135
Current assets RBEE
Other receivables, prepayments H A fEWGRIE - RN 5RIB
and deposits Kz & 1,797 3,956
Amounts due from subsidiaries JRE U BT 8 X ) SRR 1,654,620 1,656,687
Bank balances and cash WTHEFRRE 23,953 58,385
1,680,370 1,719,028
Current liabilities REBEE
Other payables H 508 2,266 2,504
Amount due to the immediate =R UNGIE
holding company - 764
Lease liabilities HEAE 2,095 1,868
Tax payables ERBE 5,242 5,385
Bank borrowings RITEE 500,000 500,000
509,603 510,521
Net current assets RBEEZEE 1,170,767 1,208,507
Total assets less current liabilities BEERABER 2,246,720 2,286,642
Non-current liabilities *kRBEE
Lease liabilities HEAE 1,423 3,518
Deferred tax liabilities ERERIEEE 15 -
1,438 3,518
Net assets BEEFE 2,245,282 2,283,124
Capital and reserves B R
Share capital [N 31 2,214,624 2,214,624
Reserves 1 33 30,658 68,500
Total equity MR 2,245,282 2,283,124
Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors HESEN_ZT_MF=ANAH#E
on 8 March 2024 and signed on its behalf by: REEHETIHRERREE:
Zhang Bin Gu Honglin
R R B8 HE AR
Director Director
o o
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PRINCIPAL PROPERTIES

A. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES A. REYZF
Group's Approximate
effective  Approximate gross
Location wE interest site area floor area  Usage Category of lease

31 B8 fheelE

EEER WEEE OE A BAER
(sq. m.) (sq. m.)
(FF5K) (FHAK)

Phase |, CCT-Champs-Elysees PEILREEAT 100% Note (3) 4,162 Commercial  Medium-term lease
No. 1 Mizhou West Road, Zhucheng City, EMER—% if10) A% ERD
Shandong Province, the PRC HAEHEE-F

Phase Ill, CCT-Champs-Elysees ELREEAT 100% Note (3) 2,716 Commercial  Medium-term lease
No. 1 Mizhou West Road, Zhucheng City, EMAR - it a) [ PERY
Shandong Province, the PRC HEEHEEZH

Hainan Building, No.5 Guoxing Avenue, FEGEEEOAT 100% 27,590 1339 Commercial  Medium-term lease
Haikou City, Hainan Province, the PRC BEAESRETAE B¥ HERY

Block 2 of Wan Liu Yi Cheng Building, PELRTERE 100% 18,000 316 Commercial  Medium-term lease
Haidian District, Beijing City, the PRC ENERARIRE Ax PERS

B. PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE B. [HEHEYWXE
Group's Approximate
effective  Approximate gross
Location i interest site area floor area  Usage Category of lease

rRE2 B4 BhEem

EZER WEER R A2 RHER
(sq.m.) (5. m.)
(FFx) (¥hx)

CCT-Champs-Elysees, REILREREAT 100% Note (3) 54,087  Residential and  Commercial -

No. 1 Mizhou West Road, BMEE % M) commercial  Medium-term lease

Zhucheng City, HREHE FEREE  Residential -

Shandong Province, the PRC Long lease
BE-RHEY
fFE- REEY

Note (a): The properties are part of a parcel of land designated as No. Mit@@) - WEDBHEILREZEWRSZM

01213003 and located on the northern side of Mizhou West
Road Eastern Section, Zhucheng City, Shandong Province, the
PRC, with a total site area of 146,006 sq.m.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
MBHRE

WNAAREERE T -_=F+-A=+—
AEFERBENMEGBRFEE 2B HIEZE
BEREERBBEZHME RS AZSLE
BRYBERERTBELEEZETHE H
BUWTNERZEESEZTBRERZ 2D -

A summary of the published results and of the assets and liabilities
of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 and the
last four financial years, as extracted from the audited financial
statements and reclassified as appropriate, is set out below. This
summary does not form part of the audited financial statements.

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—EC-= —T—Z 2% _ZT_TF _IZT-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETTT BT BEFT BEFT BEFT
Results 4
Revenue EEH 740,011 1,277,390 1,172,679 931,688 1,110,598
Profit attributable to owners of ARAVEERAEN
the Company ikl 68,003 76,066 104,222 121,372 47,539
Assets and liabilities EEREE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment EN Y E 577,482 702,054 307,371 344,673 241,834
Investment properties REME 80,993 85,096 99,255 89,143 93,939
Deposits paid EfEe - - 1,015 700 -
Finance lease receivables and REHERKZTER
loan receivables BB 5h 4,904,640 4,989,666 3,911,695 1,438,325 684,689
Other financial assets HttomEE 4,656 8,477 11,658 11,200 4,267
Loans to related parties RY@ERER 27,500 - 36,600 - -
Deferred tax assets BERBEE 16,136 3,958 - - -
Current assets REBEE
Properties held for sale BELENE 198,869 63,927 130,438 180,364 128,655
Properties held for development HIEERME - - - - 260,661
Properties under development BEAME - 182,767 143,793 90,325 205,688
Inventories FE 3,848 6,861 23,332 4,756 4,036
Trade and other receivables B 5 R EmERFIE 52,899 108,326 79,888 101,775 136,054
Finance lease receivables and REHERKZER
loan receivables BB 3R 3,963,122 3,227,908 1,953,411 634,378 442,135
Other financial assets HttomEE 27,686 60,706 69,850 107,736 544,816
Tax recoverable e IE 1,814 1,528 2,628 1,794 1,846
Pledged bank deposits EERBTER 11,972 61,709 4,413 5,556 4,462
Deposits in other financial REMEREEER
institution - - - - 2,157
Bank balances and cash BOEFERRS 698,579 472,852 1,380,259 859,618 732,356
Loans to related parties RTBERER - 33,900 12,200 36,404 34,431
Assets classified as held for sale DRARELEZEE - - - - 78,635
Total assets BEE 10,570,196 10,009,735 8,167,806 3,906,747 3,600,661
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MBHE

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables

Contract liabilities

Tax payables

Lease liabilities

Bank borrowings

Asset-backed securities

Loans from related parties

Liabilities associated with assets
classified as held for sale

Non-current liabilities
Asset-backed securities
Bank borrowings

Lease liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities
Other payables

Loans from related parties

Total liabilities

RBEME

B 5 REMENKE
aRARE

IR

ﬂh%

RITHEE
BEXRES
REBETHER
NEARELEEE
BHZER

k¥RBEE
BEIRESR
RITIEE
HEBE
EEHERE
HioEMFE
REBEFMER

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—E-= —E-- T —T-FTF —NF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BEFTT BEFT BEFT BEFT BEFTT
(239,374) (390,832) (373,865) (350,124) (174,248)
(136,065) (139,246) (136,724) (124,420) (134,637)
(31,589) (25,699) (35,622) (31,318) (25,877)
(3,767) (3,874) (3,098) (3,729) (3,528)
(2,018,666)  (1,969,931) (1,374,675) (338,420) (277,700)
(1,510,200)  (1,472,916) (1,267,068) - -
(165,000) (101,700) (47,556) (23,592) -
- - - - (20,049)
(1,496,017) (1,229,353) (1,665,539) - -
(1,729,237) (1,197,074) (67,100) - -
(3,227) (4,399) - (3,311) (7,353)
(43,760) (49,632) (54,857) (46,564) (43,053)
(333,191) (252,529) - - -
- (237,300) - - -
(7,710,093) (7,074,485) (5,026,104) (921,478) (686,445)
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